
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Summons  
and 

Agenda 
 

Monday 10 October 2022 

 
Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services 

Friday 30 September 2022 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 



 

 
 

Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
 

To: All Members of the Dartford Borough Council 
 

A meeting of the Council will be held on: 
 

Date:  Monday 10 October 2022 
Time:  7.00 pm 
Venue: Civic Centre, Dartford 

 
The Agenda is set out below: 

 
A G E N D A   

1. Prayers: Reverend Kenneth Clark   
  

2. Apologies for Absence  
 

 
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 
 
3. Declarations of Interest  
 

 
 

 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board 
or the Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services. 
 

 

 
4. Minutes  
 

(Pages 1 - 22) 
 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting of the General Assembly 
of the Council held on 25 July 2022 as an accurate record. 
 

 

 
5. Mayor's Announcements   

  
6. Leader's Announcements  
 

 
 

 To receive announcements from the Leader of the Council 
 

 
 
7. Questions from Political Group Leaders  
 

 
 

 To consider any questions (from the Political Group Leaders) to 
the Leader/Cabinet submitted in accordance with Standing Order 
14. 

 



  
8. Motions  
 

 
 

 To consider any Motions submitted in accordance with Standing 
Order 10. 
 

 

 
9. Urgent Items  
 

 
 

 The Mayor will announce his decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items. 
 

 

To consider any reports to the General Assembly of Council by other Committees, Boards, 
Panels and Officers. 
 
10. References from other Committees (if any)   

  
11. Living Wage Foundation and Cost of Living Mid-Year Pay 

Increase  
 

(Pages 23 - 26) 
 

 To consider measures to mitigate cost-of-living pressures. 
 

 
 
12. Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2021-22  
 

(Pages 27 - 68) 
 

 To consider the Scrutiny Committee Annual Report for 2021-22. 
 

 
 
13. Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee 

Annual Report 2021-22  
 

(Pages 69 - 
112) 

 

 To consider the Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) 
Committee Annual Report for 2021-22. 
 

 

 
14. Reserved Minutes  
 

(Pages 113 - 
120) 

 

 To consider any of the minutes of the following Cabinet meeting 
reserved in accordance with Standing Order 16: 
 
(a) for full debate by Political Groups on the Council; 
(b) by Ward Members.  
 
Cabinet 
 
21 July 2022 
 

 

 
  

 



 
 

Sarah Martin 
Chief Officer &  

Director of Corporate Services 



This page is intentionally left blank



1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES of the proceedings of the meeting of the General Assembly of the Council 
held on Monday 25 July 2022. 

 
PRESENT: 
 

 

 
The Mayor Councillor P Cutler 
   

 
 

Councillor A E D Barham 
Councillor E H Ben Moussa 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
Councillor L A Canham 
Councillor L H K Edie 
Councillor B Garden 
Councillor A Gaskin 
Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor D A Hammock 
Councillor P M Harman 
Councillor G R Holt 
Councillor D E Hunnisett 
Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
Councillor A R Lloyd 
 

Councillor D J Mote 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor V Oguntope 
Councillor T Oliver 
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog 
Councillor R S L Perfitt 
Councillor M I Peters 
Councillor D J Reynolds 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor C J Shippam 
Councillor Mrs R F Storey 
Councillor K Stealey 
Councillor D Swinerd 
Councillor R J Wells 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

 

Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor D Butler-Ruhle 
Councillor R M Currans 
Councillor M J Davis 
Councillor R Gosine 
Councillor S N Gosine 
Councillor R A S Jones 
Councillor M B Kelly 
Councillor T A Maddison 
Councillor A J Oakley-Dow 
Councillor E E Palmer 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
 

 
 

26. PRAYERS: REVEREND KENNETH CLARK  
 
The Mayor’s Chaplain, Reverend Kenneth Clark, led the Council in prayer. 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

27. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Burrell,  
Butler-Rhule, Currans, R Gosine, S Gosine, Kelly, Maddison and Mrs 
Thurlow.  
 

28. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 

29. MINUTES  
 
The General Assembly of the Council considered the minutes of the Annual 
Meeting which took place on 11 May 2022. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the Annual Council Meeting held on 11 May 2022 be 
confirmed as an accurate record. 
 

30. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Mayor said that he had been busy attending many local events and was 
enjoying meeting people from different communities and backgrounds. He 
reminded Members of his forthcoming Charity Bar-BQ which would take place 
at The Malt Shovel public house on Thursday 28th July and the outdoor bowls 
event on Friday 12th August at Stone Lodge. 
 
The Mayor advised Members that Councillor Swinerd had asked for 
permission to address the Council to pay tribute to the late former Councillor 
Derek Parsons. 
 
Councillor Swinerd spoke about Derek Parsons who he said he had known 
towards the latter part of his life, mainly at the pub. He said that there were 
those people who became Councillors for the politics and others that stood for 
office because of their desire to serve the community and that Derek Parsons 
fell into the second category. Although he had worked for Shell for 44 years in 
a very senior executive position, dealing with trademarks and intellectual 
property, he had still found the time to serve as a councillor. He was first 
elected to the Council in 1966 and formed an administration in 1968 when the 
conservatives first took power, becoming the first substantive leader of the 
council and during this time the Council became twinned with Hanau, began 
to refurbish council homes and started development work in the town centre. 
He remained on the Council when Labour regained power. He had been a 
great example to many people, and in particular had ‘mentored‘ Councillor Pat 
Coleman. Councillor Swinerd also mentioned Mr Parsons great friendship with 
Lawrence Buckingham and some of their adventures together. In addition to 
serving on the Council Mr Parsons served on many other community bodies 
including the Dartford Civic Society and Dartford Grammar School, and was 
also very cultured and a gifted artist. In short he had been a great citizen of 
the borough. 
 

Page 2Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 25 JULY 2022 
 

3

The Leader of the Council added his own personal tribute to Mr Parsons and 
also commented on his strong friendship with Lawrence Buckingham and said 
that they were both wonderful people, who had continued to take an interest 
in Dartford beyond their membership of the Council, regularly attending 
concerts at the bandstand in Central Park and had been very supportive. 
 

31. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Leader of the Council made the following announcements: 
 

 Queen’s PlatinumJubilee 
  
The Jubilee weekend had seen over 80 street parties and community events 
which had been supported by the Council. The Leader, Mayor and many 
Councillors had attended the vast majority of these and it had been a privilege 
to celebrate the Queen’s outstanding achievement. 
 

 Dartford Pride 
 
The Leader said that he had also attended the Dartford Pride celebrations at 
The Orchard Theatre which had been a wonderful day attended by a range of 
people across the whole community from diverse backgrounds. 
 
Councillor Stealey thanked the Leader of the Council, the Cabinet, Council 
colleagues, the artists and the Orchard Theatre for organising and supporting 
the event, which was a tribute to Dartford and that he looked forward to 
attending future events.  
 
The Leader of the Council said that the overwhelming feedback from the 
public had been highly complimentary but that he also felt that it had also 
been important to engage with the wider community. 
 

 Big Day Out 
 
The Leader paid tribute to the Director of Growth & Community, Caroline 
Hicks, and her team for their hard work on the Big Day Out. This had been 
another wonderful event which people had enjoyed, the more so in the current 
challenging economic situation as it was free of charge, which had enabled 
families to enjoy a fun day out together. The format of the day had worked 
well and might be used for future events rather than returning to a full-blown 
festival operation. Feedback would be sought from Members, delivery 
partners and the public. 
 

 Free School Meal Voucher Scheme 
 
The Leader of the Council informed Members that the Council had decided to 
fund a scheme to assist families whose children normally received ‘free’ 
school meals so that the children could continue to be fed during the school 
holidays. The scheme provided a £50 voucher for qualifying families. He 

Page 3 Agenda Item 4



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

recognised that this was not a Council responsibility, and could not become a 
regular scheme, however he felt that the current challenging economic 
situation was unprecedented and that people who were struggling to cope had 
not been able to adjust to this and it was right to provide some short term 
assistance in these circumstances. The Council had also made a financial 
contribution to every school to aid the provision of school uniform for those 
who would be otherwise unable to afford it. 
 
 

 Dartford Local Plan 
 
The Leader of the Council informed Members that the new iteration of the 
Dartford Local Plan had passed the first stage of its public examination which 
was a considerable achievement. He thanked the Chairman of the 
Development Control Board, Councillor Hunnisett, and the Planning Policy 
Manager, Mark Aplin, and the Planning Team for their outstanding work on 
this. 
 

 Recent Heath Fires 
 
The Leader of the Council thanked the Parks Department and other Council 
staff for their endeavours during the recent heatwave when record 
temperatures had resulted in a spate of fires, including a major fire on 
Dartford heath along the A2 slip road. He paid tribute to the bravery of the 
firefighters, who were assisted by Claire Russell and the team, in tackling the 
fires and the other emergency services and the members of the public who 
attended to help. 
 

 Charity ‘Zip wire’ Challenge 
 
Finally the Leader of the Council informed Members that he would be 
completing a charity ‘zip wire’ challenge at Bluewater in early August, despite 
being afraid of heights. The Deputy Leader of the Council had also agreed to 
join the challenge as had Councillor Wells. He hoped that Members would 
support this charity event. 
 

32. QUESTIONS FROM POLITICAL GROUP LEADERS  
 
The following questions were submitted by the Shadow Leader of the Council: 
Question 1 

‘The Grants Committee has been abolished yet has not met since 2018.  Can 
the leader please explain why this committee has ceased to meet?’ 

Question 2 
‘The census revealed that Dartford experienced the second highest growth in 
population with a rise of 20%.  This is higher than the overall increase for 
England (6.6%) and includes an increase of 14.7% in people aged over 65.  
Does the leader believe Dartford is coping with this increase?’ 
 
 
 

Page 4Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 25 JULY 2022 
 

5

Question 3 
 
‘Dartford’s population has become more diverse, both in terms of race, 
ethnicity and age and with an increasing number of residents with a disability.  
What steps have the council taken to ensure all staff have the skills and 
competencies to communicate and work with people with such diverse 
needs?’ 
 
In accordance with Standing Order 14 the questions and answers, including 
any supplementary questions and answers, are recorded in a book kept for 
this purpose in the Members’ Area. 
 

33. MOTIONS  
 
The Mayor informed Members that two motions had been submitted by the 
Shadow Leader of the Council in accordance with Standing Order 10: 
 
(1) Motion proposed by Councillor A Gaskin 
 
Councillor Gaskin introduced, and proposed the following motion:  
 
‘That this council notes that:  
 

 The term night-time economy is used to describe a wide range of 
activities from a trip to the theatre or a family meal to a night out at a 
club.  

 Night-time economies are an important part of our towns and cities and 
are estimated to bring in over £60 billion to the UK economy every 
year.  

 The vast majority of people enjoy a night out safely and sensibly. 
However, the night-time economy can be associated with issues, 
predominantly around alcohol fuelled violence and crime and anti-
social behaviour which often result in negative perceptions.  Latest 
statistics from 2016 showing that in over half of all violent incidents, the 
victim believed the perpetrator to be under the influence of alcohol. 

  Alcohol was identified as a major driver of crime in the Government’s 
Modern Crime Prevention Strategy (MCPS), published in 2016. As well 
as including a number of proposals for additional tools for councils to 
better manage problem areas at the local level, the strategy focused on 
partnership working.  

 Dartford town centre had experienced some issues with alcohol related 
anti-social behaviour, and suffered from negative perceptions in the 
past with the town having a narrow, alcohol-led offer.  Now, with many 
new restaurants in the town there is an opportunity for the town to 
become a place of choice for visitors from elsewhere. 

This council further notes that:  
 

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

 Drink spiking is when someone puts drugs or alcohol into a person’s 
drink without their knowledge or consent. It can include putting alcohol 
into a non-alcoholic drink, adding extra alcohol to an alcoholic drink or 
slipping prescription or illegal drugs (such as tranquillisers, 
amphetamines or GHB–also called liquid ecstasy) into an alcoholic or 
non-alcoholic drink. It can be difficult to tell whether a drink has been 
spiked, as substances used for spiking usually have no taste, odour or 
colour. 

 Needle spiking (sometimes referred to as injection spiking) is where 
someone surreptitiously injects, with a hypodermic needle, (or other 
form of administration e.g. combi-pen) a victim with a substance. 

 There was a sudden increase in the number of spiking incidents across 
the country in October 2021 and reports of a new form that involved 
individuals being spiked with a needle. 

 Police data show that 93% of needle spiking incidents where a venue 
was recorded occurred in the evening and night-time economy, most 
frequently in pubs and clubs. 

 Nightlife Crew is being offered to local authorities and BIDs, through a 
‘train the trainer’ course delivered by Drinkaware. Delegates who 
successfully complete the course are then accredited by Drinkaware to 
deliver the training in their areas, incorporating it into their existing 
night-time safety initiatives. 

 The Covid pandemic has resulted in around 850,000 18-year-olds 
coming of age without having experience of the night-time economy. 

This council resolves to:  
 

 Ensure that all staff working at licenced premises be given compulsory 
safeguarding training, and that this be a requirement that licensing 
authorities consider when approving licencing.  

 Call on the Home Office to increase education and awareness about 
spiking and welcome its considering whether a specific new offence of 
spiking is required.  

 Set up a Night Time Economy Task Force including an aim to achieve 
Purple Flag, an accreditation recognising a well-managed night-time 
economy. This prompted a greater focus on the town at night.  

 Set up a scheme awarding bars etc for safety’.  

 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Grehan who said that Dartford had 
changed for the better in recent years and that there were now many nice 
venues and she was proud to invite people to an evening out in town centre, 
which had not always been the case. However she was also the mother of a 
fifteen year old, part of a generation whose development had been impacted 
by lockdown and had not been able to build up experience of the night-time-
economy. Consequently they were more vulnerable when venturing out than 
previous generations and there was a greater responsibility to ensure that 
people could safely enjoy going out, which was the objective of the motion 
which she was supporting. 
 
The Mayor opened the motion for debate. 

Page 6Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 25 JULY 2022 
 

7

 
The Leader of the Council said that, once again, the Opposition had submitted 
a motion without checking facts and without consulting the relevant and hard 
working officers, which he regarded as a discourtesy. Had they done so they 
would have found out that most of the aspirations contained in the motion 
were already being addressed. The motion suggested setting up a Night Time 
Economy Task Force and a scheme awarding bars for safety but the Council 
already promoted the Best Bar None scheme via the Dartford Town Against 
Crime (DTAC) partnership, which regularly met at the ATIK venue. Officers 
had put a lot of effort into launching and promoting this on social media, Kent 
online and Radio Kent and it was insulting that the Opposition was suggesting 
creating a new group to do what was already being done by DTAC. Officers 
deserved and needed Members’ support for their efforts, as did the 
Community Safety Unit, the police, venue owners and responsible operators 
who were also looking to address safety and other issues in the night-time-
economy, rather than being told to start again by uninformed Opposition 
Members. He drew attention to the agenda of the Crime & Disorder (Overview 
& Scrutiny) Committee which had met on 27th February 2022 which had 
considered an item on the night-time-economy and had been attended by the 
local police commander, Chief Inspector Jenner. He noted that neither the 
Shadow Leader, nor the Deputy Shadow Leader, who were both members of 
that Committee, had attended the meeting which had been a pity as they 
would have been able to better understand the current issues and how these 
were being addressed, although he noted that Councillor Ben Moussa had 
been present. He said that he would not ‘go back to the beginning’ and that it 
would be welcome if the Opposition avoided ‘cut and paste’ motions. However 
he said that he would propose an amendment to the motion which he believed 
preserved the aspirations behind the motion to improve the safety of the night-
time-economy for local people and visitors. 
 
The Leader of the Councillor proposed the following amendment to the 
motion, deleting the proposed wording of the resolution in the original motion 
and replacing this with the wording below:    
 
‘This council resolves to: 
 
  
Aid that all staff working at licenced premises to be given compulsory 
safeguarding training, and this be a requirement that licensing authorities 
consider when approving licencing. 
 
Recognises the importance of maintaining a safe and vibrant Night Time 
Economy and commits to continue the many initiatives already underway 
within the Council, and in collaboration with partners, to deliver a safe 
environment for staff and customers during evening and night time trading. 
 
It will continue to insist upon high standards among licensees and continue to 
use all appropriate measures available to it including licensing powers, 
communication, enforcement and direct investment to support the creation of 
safe venues, spaces and events across the Borough. It will embed best 

Page 7 Agenda Item 4



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

practice and recognise investment in training and skills in the awards and 
programmes it sponsors for local venues.  
Call on the Home Office to increase education and awareness about spiking 
and welcome its considering whether a specific new offence of spiking is 
required. 

Welcomes the Government’s reclassification of GHB and associated drugs 
used in drink spiking and the increase in sentences for those in possession of 
up to five years in prison and up to fourteen years for those involved in 
distribution and supply.  It encourages the Government to press ahead with 
introducing a specific offence of spiking.   

Set up a Night Time Economy Task Force included an aim to achieve Purple 
Flag, an accreditation recognising a well-managed night-time economy. This 
prompted a greater focus on the town at night. 

Set up a scheme awarding bars etc for safety. 
Will continue to support the work of DTAC, the long standing and accredited 
forum bringing together essential town centre partners including operators in 
the Night Time Economy, police, local authority and local stakeholders.   
 
Welcomes the launch of the Best Bar None awards and accreditation scheme 
encouraging the highest standards for operators in the Night Time Economy’. 
 
  
 
The amendment was seconded by Councillor Shippam and opened for 
debate. 
 
The Leader of the Alliance Group said that her concern with the original 
motion was that there would be duplication of work by the Police and the 
Community Safety Unit and that she supported the revised proposal. 
 
The Leader of the Council asked for a recorded vote to be taken on the 
amendment and the request was supported by five members as required 
under Standing Orders. 
 
Members voted on the amendment as follows: 
 
FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN 
Councillor A E D Barham 
Councillor E H Ben Moussa 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
Councillor L A Canham 
Councillor L H K Edie 
Councillor B Garden 
Councillor A Gaskin 
Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor D A Hammock 
Councillor P M Harman 
Councillor G R Holt 
Councillor D E Hunnisett 

  

Page 8Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 25 JULY 2022 
 

9

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
Councillor A R Lloyd 
Councillor D J Mote 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor V Oguntope 
Councillor T Oliver 
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog 
Councillor R S L Perfitt 
Councillor M I Peters 
Councillor D J Reynolds 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor C J Shippam 
Councillor Mrs R F Storey 
Councillor K Stealey 
Councillor D Swinerd 
Councillor R J Wells 
The Mayor, Councillor P 
Cutler 
 
Total: 30 Total: 0 Total: 0 
 
The amendment was carried. 
 
The substantive motion was put to the vote and carried. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That this council: 
 
Recognises the importance of maintaining a safe and vibrant Night Time 
Economy and commits to continue the many initiatives already underway 
within the Council, and in collaboration with partners, to deliver a safe 
environment for staff and customers during evening and night time trading. 
 
It will continue to insist upon high standards among licensees and continue to 
use all appropriate measures available to it including licensing powers, 
communication, enforcement and direct investment to support the creation of 
safe venues, spaces and events across the Borough. It will embed best 
practice and recognise investment in training and skills in the awards and 
programmes it sponsors for local venues.  
Welcomes the Government’s reclassification of GHB and associated drugs 
used in drink spiking and the increase in sentences for those in possession of 
up to five years in prison and up to fourteen years for those involved in 
distribution and supply.  It encourages the Government to press ahead with 
introducing a specific offence of spiking.   
Will continue to support the work of Dartford Town Against Crime, the long 
standing and accredited forum bringing together essential town centre 
partners including operators in the Night Time Economy, police, local authority 

Page 9 Agenda Item 4



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

and local stakeholders.   
 
Welcomes the launch of the Best Bar None awards and accreditation scheme 
encouraging the highest standards for operators in the Night Time Economy.  
  
(2) Motion proposed by Councillor E H Ben Moussa 
 
‘That this Council Meeting notes:  

 The detrimental impact that violence against women and girls (VAWG) 
by men has on individual women, their dependents, their communities 
and society as a whole. 
 

 ONS figures show that almost one in three women aged 16-59 will 
experience domestic abuse in their lifetime, that two women a week in 
England and Wales are killed by a current or former partner, that over 
half a million women are raped or sexually assaulted each year. 
YouGov poll shows that a third of girls have experienced sexual 
harassment in schools; 80% of women of all ages have been sexually 
harassed in public. 
 

 According to the British Crime Survey and other government data, 
victims disproportionately come from those groups which already 
experience inequality and additional challenges in our society. Women 
from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic backgrounds, deaf and disabled 
women, and LGBT+ women are even more likely to experience 
harassment, discrimination and abuse. Women from diverse 
backgrounds experience abuse differently and male power is used 
against them differently. 

 Women living in poverty are particularly vulnerable to experiencing 
violence and face disproportionate challenges in accessing the 
necessary support to make them safe. Lack of access to secure 
housing, precarious employment, difficulty accessing social security 
and poverty work to keep women in abusive situations. 

This Council Meeting further notes that: 

 That male violence against women and girls is part of a broader culture 
of misogyny in society. 

 Perpetrators of serious violence usually have a history of inflicting 
abuse and harassment against other women and girls. Tackling 
violence against women and girls means dismantling this culture. 

 The seeds of violent behaviour are often sown at a young age and if 
the right interventions are not made in time then the problem continues 
to perpetuate. 

 The current conviction rate for rape is 1.3% and the average time for 
those that make it to Court take an average of 1000 days from the 

Page 10Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 25 JULY 2022 
 

11

report being made and the verdict.  A justice system that allows one of 
the most heinous crimes to be effectively decriminalised is not fit for 
purpose. Sustained cuts to all elements of the justice system, as well 
as institutional misogyny, mean that crimes against women and girls 
that are reported are not effectively investigated by the police. The 
decision to fail to resource this work is a political choice. 

 Women from all communities have specific needs.  Agencies that serve 
diverse communities have a responsibility to educate their service 
providers about the people they are designated to protect and not rely 
on standard White-British customs as the norm. Sistah Space is a 
community-based non-profit initiative created to bridge the gap in 
domestic abuse services for African heritage women and girls have 
identified that many relevant agencies have a severe knowledge gap 
when it comes to the black community and its domestic violence 
victims and it is important that the professionals designated to deliver 
assistance and aid all areas of our community who may be in crisis are 
required to be fully trained in cultural competency, so 
misunderstandings do not lead to life threatening situations. 

 White Ribbon UK is the leading charity with a mission to end male 
violence against women and part of the global White Ribbon movement 
which arose from a campaign started by men in Canada in 2004. 

 White Ribbon Day is marked annually on 25th November, the 
International Day for the Eradication of Violence Against Women, by 
encouraging men and boys to pledge never to take part in, condone or 
stay silent about violence against women and to mark this by wearing a 
white ribbon on the day. 

 White Ribbon UK operate a system of male Ambassadors, female 
Champions and Youth Advocates, as well as having specific materials 
to support primary and secondary schools, all with the aim of 
encouraging men to take the pledge and help to eradicate male 
violence against women. 

This Council Meeting believes male violence against women can never be 
condoned and Dartford Borough Council should do everything in its power to 
ensure all women are safe.  As part of this, the council should facilitate and 
encourage participation by councillors, staff and schools in the White Ribbon 
Campaign. 

This Council Meeting therefore resolves to: 

 encourage all male Councillors to take the White Ribbon pledge, never 
to take part in, condone or stay silent about violence against women. 

 
 undertake the steps necessary to achieve White Ribbon accreditation, 

joining the large number of public sector bodies which have already 
done so; and 

Page 11 Agenda Item 4



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

 
 as part of this, appoint a male Councillor as an Ambassador; mark 

White Ribbon Day on 25th November each year and encourage 
participation among council staff and local primary and secondary 
schools. 

 
 For mandatory Cultural Competency training that accounts for the 

cultural nuances and barriers, colloquialisms, languages and customs 
that make up the diverse black community for all Dartford Borough 
Council staff and councillors. 
 

 Call for increased investment in the whole justice system when it 
comes to VAWG 
 

 To promote the Our Streets Now campaign to make street harassment 
a crime, and encourage all elected members, and residents to sign 
their petition. 
 

 Call on the government to ratify the Istanbul Convention on preventing 
and combatting VAWG, to ratify the International Labour Organisation’s 
No.190, recognising the right of everyone to work free from gender-
based violence and harassment and to make street harassment a 
criminal offence’. 
 

 
The motion was seconded by Councillor Grehan and opened for debate. 
 
The Leader of the Council said that he was proud that the Council had a Lead 
Member for Women & Girls, which reflected the importance that the Council 
gave to the issues referred to in the motion, but that he could not accept the 
motion in its current form but hoped that the amendment that he would 
propose would be more acceptable. He said that the Council already had a 
programme of events throughout the year, including proposals for a White 
Ribbon Day and the International Women’s Day. He had no problem with 
seeking White Ribbon accreditation but the accreditation itself obviated the 
need to appoint an ‘ambassador’. He recognised that there were attitudes that 
did need to be addressed among some men and boys and that it was 
important that there should be a united stand against discrimination in all its 
forms and thanked the opposition for raising the issue. He also pointed to the 
recently created Leaders Advisory Group on Equalities which would be an 
important forum for addressing such matters.  
 
The Leader of the Councillor proposed the following amendment to the 
motion, deleting the proposed wording of the resolution in the original motion 
and replacing this with the wording below: 
 
‘That 
 
This Council Meeting therefore resolves to: 
 
This Council welcomes the leadership’s commitment to participate in White 
Ribbon Day in November and encourages residents to support the aims of the 

Page 12Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 25 JULY 2022 
 

13

global White Ribbon movement to end men’s violence against women. The 
Council commits to raise awareness of the need to change the cultures that 
lead to violence against women and girls and to promote the responsibility to 
never use, excuse or remain silent about violence against women.  
 
The Council welcomes the opportunity of this General Assembly to make a 
commitment to be among the many women and men, supporters, local 
authorities, organisations, ambassadors, champions and policy makers 
raising awareness and campaigning to bring about change. It will seek to gain 
White Ribbon Accreditation. 

encourage all male Councillors to take the White Ribbon pledge, never to take 
part in, condone or stay silent about violence against women. 

undertake the steps necessary to achieve White Ribbon accreditation, joining 
the large number of public sector bodies which have already done so; and 
 
as part of this, appoint a male Councillor as an Ambassador; mark White 
Ribbon Day on 25th November each year and encourage participation among 
council staff and local primary and secondary schools. 

For mandatory Cultural Competency training that accounts for the cultural 
nuances and barriers, colloquialisms, languages and customs that make up 
the diverse black community for all Dartford Borough Council staff and 
councillors. 
 
In the run-up to White Ribbon day and beyond, this Council commits to 
engage especially with men and boys with the clear message that they should 
not only take responsibility for their own actions, but call out harassing, sexist 
and violent behaviour when they see it in others. It will continue to develop 
staff awareness and skills to ensure we meet the needs of our diverse 
community 

Call for increased investment in the whole justice system when it comes to 
VAWG 

To promote the Our Streets Now campaign to make street harassment a 
crime, and encourage all elected members, and residents to sign their 
petition. 

Call on the government to ratify the Istanbul Convention on preventing and 
combatting VAWG, to ratify the International Labour Organisation’s No.190, 
recognising the right of everyone to work free from gender-based violence 
and harassment and to make street harassment a criminal offence.’ 

 

The amendment was seconded by Councillor Ben Moussa who said that the 
key point was to seek White Ribbon accreditation. 

Page 13 Agenda Item 4



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

The Leader of the Alliance Group said that women should be able to go about 
their lives without fear or the need to carry alarms. She welcomed the creation 
of the Leader’s Advisory Group and for more localized and focused action to 
be taken.  

A Member said that equality should be intrinsic, that violence against women 
in any form was unacceptable and supported seeking White Ribbon 
accreditation. Another Member explained that he had attended a White 
Ribbon event previously and had signed up to the White Ribbon pledge, 
however he was pleased that the compulsory sign-up element of the motion 
had been removed as he felt that this was wrong. He cited the good work 
already being carried out by youth groups and via Salute to Youth to promote 
equality on a co-educational basis. 

The Lead Member for Equalities, Cohesion & Society said that he was happy 
to support the amendment and to work closely with the Lead Member for 
Women & Girls. He also reminded members that violence was not only limited 
to women and that violence against members of the LGBT+ community was 
also widely under-reported and that there was a need to make Dartford a 
safer and more welcoming place for everyone.  

The amendment was put to the vote and carried. 

The substantive motion was put to the vote and carried. 

 RESOLVED: 
This Council welcomes the leadership’s commitment to participate in White 
Ribbon Day in November and encourages residents to support the aims of the 
global White Ribbon movement to end men’s violence against women. The 
Council commits to raise awareness of the need to change the cultures that 
lead to violence against women and girls and to promote the responsibility to 
never use, excuse or remain silent about violence against women.  
 
The Council welcomes the opportunity of this General Assembly to make a 
commitment to be among the many women and men, supporters, local 
authorities, organisations, ambassadors, champions and policy makers 
raising awareness and campaigning to bring about change. It will seek to gain 
White Ribbon Accreditation. 

In the run-up to White Ribbon day and beyond, this Council commits to 
engage especially with men and boys with the clear message that they should 
not only take responsibility for their own actions, but call out harassing, sexist 
and violent behaviour when they see it in others. It will continue to develop 
staff awareness and skills to ensure we meet the needs of our diverse 
community. 
 

34. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

35. COUNCIL IN COMMITTEE  
 
It was moved by Councillor P Cutler, seconded by Councillor J A Kite and 

Page 14Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 25 JULY 2022 
 

15

 
RESOLVED: 
 

That in accordance with Standing Order 11(13) the General Assembly of the 
Council go into Committee and the rules of Procedures for Committees do 
apply. 
 
THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL, COUNCILLOR J A KITE MBE, IN THE 
CHAIR 
 

36. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY)  
 
There were no references from other committees. 
 

37. WORK PLAN FOR THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 2022/23  
 
The General Assembly of the Council considered its proposed Work Plan for 
2022-23. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the Work Plan, attached at Appendix A to the report, be approved as the 
General Assembly of the Council’s Work Plan for the 2022-23 Municipal Year. 
 

38. INTERIM REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES 2022  
 
The General Assembly of the Council considered a report which detailed the 
outcome of the interim review of polling districts and polling places which was 
conducted between 7 March and 30 May 2022. The responses and proposals 
were reported to the Electoral Provisions Sub-committee on 30th June 2022 
including comments from the (Acting) Returning Officer both prior to the 
review and following its conclusion. In conducting the review consideration 
had not only been given to the accessibility, lighting and location of the polling 
places but also to the additional requirements of the Elections Act 2022, 
including the need for electors to present ID when voting at polling stations 
from May 2023 and the desirability for there to be a suitable area where staff 
would be able to check documents and hold confidential conversations with 
electors. If adopted by the General Assembly of the Council the revised 
arrangements would take effect following the republication of the register of 
electors in December 2022 and would be used at the next local elections in 
May 2023. The General Assembly of the Council was also asked to grant 
delegated authority to the Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services to 
amend a polling place if the designated polling place was unavailable and to 
adjust the relevant polling districts, detailed in Appendix B to the report, 
following a Community Governance Review. 
 
The Deputy Leader of the Council explained that he had Chaired the meeting 
of the Electoral Provisions Sub-committee which had considered the review of 
polling districts and polling places in some detail, including responses 

Page 15 Agenda Item 4



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

received from Members. He commended the report and the recommendations 
to the Council. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the recommendations following the review of polling districts and 

polling places for the borough, as detailed in Appendix A to the report, be 
approved; and 

 
2. That the Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services be granted 

delegated authority to: 
 
 (a) amend a polling place, if the appointed place becomes unavailable; and 
 

(b) if required, adjust the relevant polling districts, detailed in Appendix B to 
the report, following the outcome of the Community Governance 
Review. 

 
39. COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW - SWANSCOMBE TOWN WARD  

 
The General Assembly of the Council considered a report which asked 
Members to consider whether a Community Governance Review (CGR) 
should be carried out for the Swanscombe Ward area of Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe Town Council and whether the boundaries of Swanscombe and 
Ebbsfleet borough wards should be amended so that they were coterminous. 
Considerable development was taking place across Swanscombe and 
Ebbsfleet which would change the character and area of local communities 
and would result in electoral anomalies. The CGR was a process which 
allowed the Borough Council to consider whether existing parish 
arrangements were robust, representative and proving efficient delivery of 
local services. This process would include consulting electors, the 
Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council and interested parties before 
completing a Reorganisation of Community Governance Order. As a CGR of 
all parish arrangements across the borough had been carried out within the 
last five years, to coincide with the review of Borough wards conducted by the 
Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE), consent to 
any changes to the parish ward would also require the consent of the Chief 
Executive of the LGBCE.  
 
The Electoral Provisions Sub-committee considered the proposals, at its 
meeting held on the 30 June 2022, and endorsed the commencement of a 
CGR and that relevant parties should be consulted. Subject to the outcome 
of the CGR, the Sub-committee also supported the recommendation that the 
boundaries of Swanscombe and Ebbsfleet borough wards should be 
amended so they are coterminous which would require the General 
Assembly of the Council to ask the LGBCE to make an order to confirm the 
amendment to the borough ward boundaries. This would need to be done 
by 1 October 2022 in order to stand a chance of an Order being made in 
time for implementation in the May 2023 local elections. 

Councillor Harman said that Swanscombe & Greenhithe Town Council 
wished to suggest a change to the proposed boundaries so that Alkerden 
Barn, a historic building, remained in the parished area given that it had 

Page 16Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 25 JULY 2022 
 

17

strong connections with the Heritage Centre which was run by the Town 
Council. The Leader of the Council suggested that this should be submitted, 
along with any other comments that Members wished to submit, as part of 
the consultation which would run until 8th August 2022.  

 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That, to ensure the governance arrangements continue to reflect the 

identities and interests of the community and are effective and 
convenient, the commencement of the Community Governance Review 
for the Swanscombe Ward of Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town 
Council, in accordance with the Terms of Reference, at Appendix C to the 
report, be noted. 

 
2.  That it be noted that the Community Governance Review cannot make 

any changes to the Swanscombe Town Ward or Swanscombe and 
Ebbsfleet borough ward boundaries, without the consent of the Local 
Government Boundary Commission for England; and 

3.  That, to ensure the boundaries are coterminous, subject to the outcome 
of the Community Governance Review and consultation, the amendment 
to the boundaries of Swanscombe and Ebbsfleet borough wards, as 
shown in Appendix B to the report, be approved, and the Chief Officer & 
Director of Corporate Services be granted delegated authority to ask the 
Local Government Boundary Commission for England to make an Order, 
confirming the amendment. 

 
40. FILLING PARISH/TOWN COUNCILLOR VACANCIES AFTER ORDINARY 

ELECTIONS AND WHERE A PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL IS INQUORATE  
 
The General Assembly of the Council considered proposed procedures to be 
applied by the Borough Council to fill Parish/Town Councillor vacancies after 
an ordinary election and where a Parish/Town Council becomes inquorate 
and is unable to fill vacancies by co-option or election. 
 
The Leader of the Council commented on the number of vacancies arising on 
parish council’s and the need to encourage public spirited people to put 
themselves forward to serve their communities, whether through election or  
co-option,  and that the current vacancies were a weakness which reflected 
badly on the parish councils.  
 
 RESOLVED:  
 
1. That the Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services, in consultation with 

Group Leaders, be authorised to nominate and make temporary 
appointments to a Parish/Town Council where it is unable to act because 
it is inquorate, in accordance with the terms of the Order, at Appendix A to 
the report; 

Page 17 Agenda Item 4



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

 
2. That the Procedure for Making Appointments to Inquorate Parish/Town 

Councils under Section 91(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended) and Section 39(4) of the Representation of the People Act 
1983 (as amended), at Appendix B to the report, be approved for 
consultation with the Parish/Town Councils and that the Chief Officer & 
Director of Corporate Services be granted delegated authority to finalise 
the Procedure; and  

 
 3.  That the Procedure for Filling Parish/Town Councillor Vacancies following 

an Ordinary Election, at Appendix C to the report, be approved for 
consultation with the Parish/Town Councils and that the Chief Officer and 
Director of Corporate Services be granted delegated authority to finalise 
the Procedure. 

 
41. DECLARATION OF CASUAL VACANCY - COUNCILLOR FAILURE TO 

ATTEND MEETINGS  
 
The General Assembly of the Council considered a report which proposed 
that delegated authority should be given to the Chief Officer & Director of 
Corporate Services to declare a casual vacancy on the Council where a 
Member failed to attend a meeting for six consecutive months without prior 
approval by the Council. Where a person ceased to attend for six months s86 
of the Local Government Act 1972 stated that their office should be declared 
vacant immediately, promptly and without delay. However the Council’s 
current practice was to report the vacancy to the next meeting of the General 
Assembly of the Council thereby causing a delay between the time when the 
person ceased to be a Member by virtue of non-attendance and the vacancy 
being declared. The delegation of authority to declare a vacancy would enable 
this to happen in the timely fashion envisaged in the law. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That, where a Member ceases to be a councillor by reason of their failure to 
attend a meeting throughout a period of six consecutive months from the date 
of their last attendance, unless the failure was due to some reason approved 
by the Council before the expiry of that period, the Chief Officer & Director of 
Corporate Services be granted delegated authority to immediately declare the 
office of councillor vacant, under notification to all Councillors. 
 

42. PLAYGROUND REFURBISHMENT PROGRAMME 2022/23  
 
The General Assembly of the Council considered a report which sought 
agreement to the draft playground refurbishment programme 2022/23 and an 
increase to the programme’s capital budget, to facilitate the programme’s 
implementation. The Council owns and maintains 27 playgrounds at various 
sites across the borough. The Council’s last playground refurbishment 
programme was carried out between 2009 and 2011.Since then equipment at 
some sites had degraded and deteriorated over time and was in need of 
replacement. In 2019 the Council made a commitment to improve the play 
experience of young people across the Borough and to refurbish existing 
playgrounds or deliver new facilities where appropriate. A capital budget of 
£1,000,000 was created in 2020/21 for a playground refurbishment 

Page 18Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 25 JULY 2022 
 

19

programme. Initial scoping and planning works were undertaken but the 
programme could not be progressed, as the playground industry effectively 
had to shut down for two years because of Covid-19 and playgrounds had to 
be closed during lockdowns to help prevent the spread of Covid-19.  
 
In late 2021, it became apparent that the programme would be able to restart 
in early 2022. It was agreed that trial works would be undertaken at two sites 
to develop a blueprint for the wider programme.  The Council’s existing 
playground at Queens Gardens was identified for refurbishment and The 
Bridge development was identified as needing an entirely new playground. 
The works at the two sites were successfully completed in April and May 2022 
and it was proposed to build upon this with a programme of works to other 
playgrounds. 
 
The next phase of the playground refurbishment programme, which was 
formulated following lead member site visits and discussions, and analysis of 
equipment condition appraisals would  include the following works: 

 Central Park – complete removal of existing play equipment (with 
refurbishment of the water play area) and replacement with an entirely 
new playground and related facilities – estimate £1,000,000 

 Jessamine Place - refurbishment of existing play equipment – estimate 
£100,000  

 Hesketh Park – refurbishment of existing play equipment – estimate 
£100,000  

 Worcester Park - refurbishment of existing play equipment – estimate 
£100,000  

 Central Park – new outdoor gym equipment – estimate £50,000 
 Worcester Park – new outdoor gym equipment – estimate £50,000 
 Darenth Country Park – removal of remaining play equipment and 

replacement with an entirely new wooden playground – estimate 
£100,000 

The total cost of the programme amounted to £1.5M. The Cabinet had 
approved the refurbishment programme at its meeting on 21 July 2022 
including a recommendation to the General Assembly of the Council to  
increase the original playground refurbishment capital budget (M5335) by 
£514K to facilitate the implementation of the programme. 

The Lead Member for Parks, Open Spaces & Heritage thanked the Waste & 
Parks Manager and his team for their hard work in developing a 
comprehensive programme of works which would transform the borough’s 
playgrounds, which formed a vital part of every child’s upbringing. 

The Lead Member for Business supported these comments and said that the 
refurbished playground at Queens Gardens had been very well received by 
local residents, along with the new playground at The Bridge. A Member also 
commented on the quality of The Bridge playground but felt that there should 
be signage to make it clear that it was a Council playground. He was advised 
that signage was already being arranged. Another Member enquired as to 

Page 19 Agenda Item 4



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

whether the Council should consider installing CCTV to try and deter potential 
vandalism, and a Member voiced concerns for the playgrounds in Darenth 
which had been vandalised in the past. A Member also asked whether the 
playgrounds would be fully accessible for wheelchair users.  

The Lead Member for Finance observed that although spending £1M on the 
playground at Central Park might seem expensive this would be 
transformational and in character for a Council accustomed to delivering great 
things for the local community.  

The Leader of the Council said that the catalyst for the programme arose 
when the Council and its partners had to restore the playground at Eagles 
Road following works on the cliff face, which had proved to be very 
successful. This resulted in the Council committing to improving the play 
experience of young people across the borough following the 2019 local 
elections, at which it had been a Conservative manifesto commitment, and to 
make the playgrounds fully accessible and inclusive. Implementation had 
been delayed by Covid restrictions and later difficulties in sourcing materials. 
Once restrictions were lifted the Council had moved quickly and carried out 
trials which resulted in the refurbishment of the existing playground at 
Queen’s Gardens and the building of a new playground at The Bridge which 
were delivered on time and within budget. These had given the Council the 
confidence to move forward with a more ambitious programme, including a 
centrepiece development in Central Park which would deliver a whole play 
experience and would be an exemplar for the region. He confirmed that the 
playgrounds would be fully accessible, free from zones and family friendly. He 
felt that it would not be appropriate to install CCTV as the Council would not 
have the capacity to monitor the cameras but that it could be possible to 
install ‘passive’ CCTV if particular hot-spots for vandalism were identified. It 
might also be necessary to revise some closing and locking arrangements to 
try to protect the playgrounds but he hoped that the quality of the facilities 
would encourage the community to respect and look after the playgrounds. 
He explained that it was hoped that the playgrounds at Central Park and 
Hesketh Park would be completed by February/March 2023 and that the 
programme outlined in the report was the beginning and not the end, with 
further works taking place once the initial programme had been completed.  

 RESOLVED: 

That the playground refurbishment capital budget (M5335) be increased from 
£986,000 to £1,500,000 to facilitate the implementation of the programme. 

 
43. CAPITAL PROGRAMME INCLUDING PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 

OUTTURN 2021/22  
 
The General Assembly of the Council considered a report which detailed the 
final pre-audit figures for the 2021/22 Capital Programme, the capital 
resources that were used to fund it and those that remain available to fund 
future investment, along with a recommendation from the Cabinet on the 
carrying forward of the capital budget into 2022/23 as set out in Appendix C to 
the report. 
 
 

Page 20Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MONDAY 25 JULY 2022 
 

21

RESOLVED: 
 

That the capital budget be carried forward into 2022/23, as set out in 
Appendix C to the report, thereby increasing the total capital budget by 
£3.015M. 
 

44. CAPITAL MONITORING 2022/23  
 
The General Assembly of the Council considered a report which detailed 
progress to date on the schemes in the approved Capital Programme and the 
latest position on capital resources. Members were also asked to agree an 
additional £2.2M budget for the Westgate and former Co-Op site following the 
Cabinet’s recommendation at its meeting on 26 May 2022 [Min No. 9]. 
 
A Member asked whether there was any update on the Green Homes 
Delivery Scheme, how this was working and how many applications there had 
been. The Leader of the Council said that the Council had added a further 
£638K to match the grant funding under the second scheme to keep it moving 
forward. Whilst he didn’t have the figures on the number of applications so far 
he was sure that this information could be provided. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That an additional £2.2M budget for the Westgate and former Co-Op site be 
approved, in accordance with the Cabinet’s recommendation at its meeting on 26 
May 2022 [Min. No.9] 
 

45. APPOINTMENT OF NON-VOTING INDEPENDENT MEMBER TO THE 
AUDIT BOARD  
 
The General Assembly of the Council considered a report which explained the 
background to the recruitment of a non-voting  ‘Independent Member’ to serve 
on the Audit Board. CIPFA guidance and best practice supported the 
appointment of such members to provide additional independent expertise 
and specialist knowledge to audit boards and the Audit Board had approved a 
recruitment exercise for up to two non-voting independent members at its 
meeting on 26 January 2022 [Min 35]. Whilst current guidance required the 
appointment of non-voting Independent Members to be considered as good 
practice, it was announced in June 2022, that the Government proposes to 
make such roles mandatory as part of the new system for regulating audit, 
following the Redman Review recommendations. 

The role of Independent Member was advertised jointly with Sevenoaks 
District Council and interviews were held with a joint Panel consisting of 
Members and officers from each Council.  

The Panel recommended one applicant, Mo Chunghtai, for appointment as a 
non-voting Independent Member to the Dartford Audit Board. Mo Chunghtai’s 
experience and interest in the Dartford area should serve the Board well. In 
addition, he is also serving as an Independent Member for Sevenoaks District 

Page 21 Agenda Item 4



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

Council, which should provide added synergy. Mo Chunghtai has provisionally 
accepted the role. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That Mo Chunghtai be appointed as a non-voting Independent Member of the 
Audit Board. 
 

46. PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2022-23 - AMENDMENT - SHARED COST AVC  
 
Members considered a report which explained that the Council would be 
introducing a Shared Cost Additional Voluntary Contributions arrangement for 
employees in August 2022, which would allow them to build up extra savings 
for retirement.  In order to do this it would be necessary to amend the Pay 
Policy Statement approved at the General Assembly of the Council (Budget) 
meeting in February 2022 to reflect the new scheme and to ensure the 
transparency requirements under the Localism Act 2011 are met. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the Pay Policy Statement amendment, as highlighted in red script at 
Appendix A to the report, be approved. 
 

47. RE-CONVENING OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL  
 
It was moved by Councillor J A Kite, seconded by Councillor C J Shippam and 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That in accordance with Standing Order 11(14) the General Assembly of the 
Council now re-convene. 
 
THE MAYOR, COUNCILLOR P CUTLER, IN THE CHAIR 
 

48. RESERVED MINUTES  
 
No Cabinet minutes were reserved for debate. 
 
 
 
The meeting closed at 9.03 pm 

 

 

  
 
 
 

 MAYOR 

Page 22Agenda Item 4



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
10 October 2022 

LIVING WAGE FOUNDATION AND COST OF LIVING MID-YEAR PAY 
INCREASE 

 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 According to the Office of National Statistics, the current cost of living crisis and 

increasing rate of inflation has caused the real value of workers’ pay packets to 
drop by 3% – the fastest decline since comparable records began in 2001.  
 

1.2 On 22 September 2022, The Living Wage Foundation announced an increase of 
10% on the Living Wage Foundation’s Living Wage, directly impacting the Council’s 
current pay grades. 

 
1.3 On 25 July 2022, The National Employers, who negotiate pay on behalf of 350 local 

authorities in England, Wales and Northern Ireland offered a pay increase to the 
unions representing the main local government NJC workforce, as from April 2022 
of £1,925 per employee. 

 
1.4 The Council is aware that 2022 will be difficult for many, especially those on the 

lowest incomes. Supporting those on the lowest pay is not only fair but improves 
the motivation, loyalty, productivity, and retention of hard-working staff. 

 
1.5 Having assessed the options available to the Council, to help mitigate the rising 

cost of living for staff, a number of recommendations are put forward, with a view 
to avoiding an erosion of the lower end of the grading structure and minimise the 
impact on pay differentials.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
  

2.1 That, to mitigate the impact of the rise in cost of living and improve the motivation, 
loyalty, productivity and retention of hard-working staff: 

 
(a) Grade B Starter be deleted from the Council’s pay structure and replaced by 

Grade B Market, as the Council’s lowest grade in its pay structure; 
(b) That the Living Wage Foundation’s Living Wage be implemented with effect 

from 22 September 2022, bringing Grade B Market salary to £21,034; 
 (c) an increase of £1,000 for all other salary bands, including Specified Posts and 

Chief Officers, be made with effect from 22 September 2022.  
 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1 The cost of living has been increasing across the UK since early 2021. The 

annual rate of inflation reached 9.9% in August 2022, with further increases 
expected, affecting the affordability of goods and services for households. 

 

Page 23 Agenda Item 11



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
10 October 2022 

3.2 The Living Wage Foundation is committed to tackling low pay by 
encouraging the organisations (including local authorities) it supports, to 
pay the Living Wage, which it sets annually. 

 
3.3 The Council is fully committed to improving the financial wellbeing of its 

staff and has already implemented various areas of support for staff, 
including free financial health checks, financial planning, access to financial 
wellbeing educational content, an employee benefits scheme offering 
discounts on purchases and salary sacrifice schemes (cycle to work and 
AVCs). 

 
3.4 The Council is also committed to paying no less than the Living Wage set 

annually by the Living Wage Foundation, to staff on Grade B (starter level 
– currently the lowest grade on the Council’s local pay framework) and to 
cleaners and one seasonal part time worker. 

 
3.5 The Council operates a local pay framework and each grade comprises an 

entry level and a market level.  Other than entry and market level, pay 
grades do not have any increments. Grades are determined by job 
evaluation using the Hay Job Evaluation Scheme, with the grade for each 
role being determined by a consistent job evaluation process, or an 
extension thereto for Specified Posts (the most senior staff below Directors 
that have high level and wide-ranging responsibilities, who report to the 
Directors). 

 
3.6 The salary of grades and Specified Posts is based on the Hay Job 

Evaluation Scheme, or on comparables and/or external advice, and agreed 
by the Head of Paid Service.  

 
3.7 Salaries for Chief Officers (Directors and Statutory Officers) are determined 

by the General Assembly of the Council in accordance with the Council’s 
local pay framework. 

 
3.8 The annual pay award for 2022 -23, was approved by the General 

Assembly of the Council at the budget meeting in February 2022 and set at 
2% [Min.No.10(6)].  

 
3.9 On 25 July 2022, in the light of the cost of living crisis, the National 

Employers, who negotiate pay on behalf of 350 local authorities in England, 
Wales and Northern Ireland, offered a pay increase of £1,925 to the unions 
representing the main local government NJC workforce, as from April 2022. 

 
3.10 The Council sets pay locally and is not part of national negotiations. To 

match the National Employer’s offer of a pay increase of £1,925 would have 
required a pay rise of around 5.3% on all salaries, from 1 April 2022. 

 
3.11 Additionally, on 22 September 2022, in response to the cost of living crisis, 

the Living Wage Foundation announced an early increase in its Living 
Wage, bringing it to £10.90 per hour from £9.90 per hour.  This represents 
an increase of just over 10%, the equivalent of £1,932 per annum for a full 
time member of staff, bringing the hourly rate to above that of Grade C 

Page 24Agenda Item 11



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
10 October 2022 

Starter, eroding the lower end of the Council’s grading structure and 
causing a knock-on effect to the pay differentials of middle and higher 
grades.   

 
3.12 The Council is aware that 2022 will be difficult for many, especially those 

on the lowest incomes. Supporting those staff on the lowest pay is not only 
fair but improves the motivation, loyalty, productivity, and retention of hard-
working staff. 

 
3.13 Having assessed the options available to the Council, to help mitigate the 

rising cost of living, a number of recommendations are put forward, with a 
view to avoiding an erosion of staff at the lower end of the grading structure 
and minimise the impact on pay differentials. 

 
3.14 It is therefore proposed that Grade B Starter is deleted and Grade B Market 

becomes the Council’s lowest grade.  To mitigate against the impact of the 
increase on Grade C Starter and to minimise the impact on pay differentials 
between grades, whilst also helping to address the cost of living challenge 
faced by all staff, it is proposed that all other salary bands, including 
Specified Posts and Chief Officers, are raised by £1,000 with effect from 22 
September 2022. 

 
3.14 The application of an additional mid-year set amount pay increase, as 

opposed to a percentage increase, will ensure that the increase benefits 
lower paid staff the most to try and help mitigate the rising cost of living, 
whilst keeping costs below that of a 3.3% increase across the board.  

 
3.15 It is intended that the Council return to a percentage increase in April 2023, 

to ensure that pay differentials between grades are not adversely affected 
in the long term. 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Not Applicable 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments 
 
Financial Implications The cost of the proposed increases in the 

remaining half of the financial year are expected 
to be £145,000 for the General Fund and 
£43,000 for the Housing Revenue Account. The 
general fund cost can be funded by reducing the 
planned contribution to reserve and the HRA 
costs can be funded through the use of HRA 
reserve balances. The increased salary costs will 
be built into a revised Medium Term Financial 
Plan and HRA Business Plan taking account of 
the full year impact of these increases. 

Page 25 Agenda Item 11



GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 
10 October 2022 

Legal Implications 
  

The Council is not legally obligated to pay the 
Living Wage, set annually, by the Living Wage 
Foundation. 

Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

A set amount pay increase rather than a 
percentage increase, will ensure that all staff are 
treated equally, regardless of any protected 
characteristics. 

Climate Impact 
Assessment 

N/A 

Staffing Implications Failure to implement could affect staff retention 
and have a negative effect on public perception 
for no longer committing to the Living Wage 
Foundation’s Living Wage. 

Administrative 
Implications 

None, other than a limited amount of additional 
time in October 2002 pay run to affect the 
changes.  

Risk Assessment An erosion of staff at the lower end of the grading 
structure and impact on pay differentials will be 
minimised by the implementation of the 
recommendations. 

  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

None  
 
 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents consulted Date / 

File Ref 
Report Author Section and 

Directorate 
Exempt 

Information 
Category 

 
  Philippa Curtis 

(01322) 343054 
Human 
Resources 
Corporate 
Services 

N/A 

Page 26Agenda Item 11



 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 

10 October 2022 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22 
 

1. Summary 
 
1.1 To consider the work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee during the last 

municipal year. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2021-22 be noted. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. In accordance with the Terms of Reference of the Committee, the 
Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2021-22 is attached at Appendix A 
for consideration. 

 
3.2. The Committee considered the report at its meeting held on 12 July 

2022 and recommended that it be submitted to the General Assembly 
of the Council for consideration.  

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Not applicable. 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 
Legal Implications None  
Staffing Implications None 
Administrative Implications None  
Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

No implications 

Crime and Disorder Duty No implications 
Climate Impact 
Assessment 

No impact 

 
  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7. Appendices 
 

A – Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2021-22. 
 

Page 27 Agenda Item 12



 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 

10 October 2022 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents consulted Date / 

File Ref 
Report Author Section and 

Directorate 
Exempt 
Information 
Category 
 

Scrutiny Committee Agendas 
and Minutes (2021-22) 

 Alan Twyman 
(01322) 343430 

Democratic 
Services/ 
Corporate 
Services  
 

N/A 

Page 28Agenda Item 12



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
12 July 2021 

                                              
 

Appendix A 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22 
 
 
1. Summary 
 

To consider the work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee during the previous 
2021-22 municipal year. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

That, subject to any amendments proposed by Members, the draft Scrutiny 
Committee Annual Report 2021–22 (attached as Appendix A to this report), be 
agreed and submitted to the General Assembly of the Council.  

 
 

3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1. The Committee’s Protocol states that Members will receive an annual report 

on the Committee’s work undertaken in the preceding municipal year. 

3.2. A draft annual report detailing the work undertaken by the Committee 
during the 2021-22 municipal year is attached at Appendix A for 
Members’ consideration prior to submission to the General Assembly 
of the Council. 

3.3. The easing of Government lockdown measures and the ending of 
emergency legislation in July 2021 governing the conduct of local 
authority business during the Pandemic, enabled the Committee to 
meet in person on three occasions in the municipal year under review. 

3.4. A forth scheduled meeting on 18 January 2022 was subsequently 
cancelled due to a lack of substantive business.   

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
Not applicable. 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 
Legal Implications None  
Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

None 

Crime & Disorder Duty None 
Climate Impact 
Assessment 

None 

Page 29 Agenda Item 12



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
12 July 2021 

                                              
Staffing Implications None 
Administrative Implications None  
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 
 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category: Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 

 
Appendix A: draft Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2021-22 
Appendix B: Committee Protocol  
Appendix C: Committee ToRs  
 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
Scrutiny Committee Annual 
Report 2020-21, Annual Council 
Agenda and Minutes May 2022 
Scrutiny Committee Minutes 
(July 2021– April 2022) 
Scrutiny Protocol and ToRs 

June 2022 David Hook 
Committee Coordinator 

Democratic Services  
(01322 343276) 

Democratic  
Services/ 
Corporate 
Services 

N/A 

Page 30Agenda Item 12



   APPENDIX A 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 
 
 
 
  Draft Annual Report 2021-22 
 
 

Page 31 Agenda Item 12



   APPENDIX A 

Introduction and Background 
 
The Council appointed the Scrutiny Committee in response to the Local 
Government Act 2000 in order to introduce greater democracy into the 
decision making process, and to ensure that those who made decisions were 
held accountable. The Committee performs the scrutiny function on behalf of 
the Council, in accordance with the guidelines contained in its Protocol and 
Terms of Reference (ToRs) as last confirmed at Annual Council in May 2022.  
 
The Committee’s remit is to contribute to improving Council services by 
holding decision makers to account to the ultimate benefit of the residents of 
the Borough. To achieve this aim the Committee may: 
 

 Review and question Cabinet Members and Officers about decisions 
and performance; 

 Scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy, 
objectives, performance targets and /or particular service areas; 

 Make recommendations to the Cabinet and the General Assembly of 
the Council arising from the outcome of the scrutiny process.  

 
Work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee complements the work 
undertaken by the Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee and 
the Policy Overview Committee, who’s specific and separate remits are set 
out in detail in their respective Protocols. In compiling its work programme for 
the ensuing municipal year the Scrutiny Committee aims to avoid duplicating 
work being undertaken by those Committees.  
 
The Committee’s Protocol requires it to report to the Council annually on the 
work it has undertaken in the preceding municipal year. This annual report 
provides a summary of the Committee’s work undertaken during the 2020-21 
municipal cycle. Comprehensive details of the Committee’s discussions in the 
period under review are contained in the minutes of its meetings published on 
the Council’s public website. 
 
 

WORK PROGRAMME REVIEW 2021-22 
 
 
The Committee is responsible for compiling its own Work Programme for the 
ensuing municipal year and agreeing an initial Work Plan (WP) with proposed 
timings for each topic, to be reviewed at subsequent meetings in the cycle. 
New topics may be added to the WP in Committee, or on an ad-hoc basis by 
individual Political Groups, via the draw-down process set-out in the 
Committee’s Protocol [attached as Appendix B to this report].  
 
At its first meeting in the cycle on 13 July 2021 the Committee agreed an 
initial rolling Work Plan (WP) for the ensuing 2021-22 municipal year, to be 
reviewed and updated at subsequent meetings in the cycle.   
 
Members also considered the extant Regulation 9 Notice (formerly the 
Forward Plan) at each meeting in the cycle to consider whether any should be 
drawn-down for scrutiny either prior to or after implementation In the event, no 

Page 32Agenda Item 12



   APPENDIX A 

Cabinet decisions were draw-down by the Committee in the period under 
review. 
 

 
Work Plan (WP) items and Draw-Down (DD) topics considered by  

Members in the 2021-22 Municipal Year 
 

 
A summary of WP items and DD topics considered by the Committee during 
the preceding 2021-22 municipal year is set out below in chronological order, 
with comprehensive details of Members’ discussion contained in the 
published minutes on the Council website. 
 
 
Committee Meeting held on 13 July 2021 
 
Item 1: Draw-Down – Council Appointment to Ebbsfleet Garden City 
Board  
 
The Chairman had drawn-down on behalf of the Labour and Co-operative 
Group for discussion by the Committee, Cabinet Min. No. 4 of 27 May 2021 
for discussion, which, advised inter-alia of the appointment by Cabinet of 
Councillor D T Nicklen to the Board of the Ebbsfleet Garden City Trust 
(EGCT) to represent the Council on that external body. Prior to the 
commencement of debate, it was confirmed that neither Cllr. Nicklen nor any 
Cabinet Member present were conflicted. 
 
Members were advised by the Leader of the Council that he had been 
approached informally by the Chief Executive of the Trust, together with the 
Leader of Gravesham Council, to nominate a Councillor to represent each 
District on the Board of the EGCT. The nomination had fallen to Cabinet to 
make as the Council’s executive body, and Cllr. Nicklen had been chosen as 
an Ebbsfleet Ward Member and resident who had previously been proactive 
in monitoring the development of the Ebbsfleet Garden City project on behalf 
of local residents. His role as Council representative on the EGCT Board was 
to ensure strong management and efficient service delivery on behalf of 
Dartford residents. 
 
Members resolved to note the appointment [Min. No. 8 refers]. 
 
Item 2: Draw-Down – Remote Council Meetings 
 
 
The Committee resolved to note the contents of Cabinet Min. No. 10 of 27 
May 2021, implement the Leader’s proposal to establish a cross-party 
Members’ Group to consider whether Council meetings could be held 
remotely in the future [as a local arrangement], and to receive a report back 
from the Group to that effect in due course [Min. No. 9 refers]. 
 
 
Item 3: Key Urgent Cabinet Decision under Standing Order 54(7) – 
Purchase of Land for Council Housing 

Page 33 Agenda Item 12



   APPENDIX A 

 
Members considered a report and appendices from the Democratic Services 
Manager which informed the Committee of a key decision taken by Cabinet 
on 27 May 2021 under Standing Order 54(7) ‘Grounds of Urgency’, to enable 
the Council to submit a timely bid for the purchase of land in Dartford Town 
Centre for Council Housing. That urgency had precluded inclusion of the 
decision in the Regulation 9 Notice [Forward Plan] being considered by the 
Committee that evening. In the event the Council’s bid was unsuccessful, but 
the details were required to be submitted to the next meeting of the 
Committee to comply with the provisions of SO 54(7).  
 
Members resolved to note the report [Min. No. 10 refers]. 
 
 
Item 4: Work Plan - Orchard Theatre Annual Report & Accounts 2019-20 
 
Under cover of a report from the Leisure & Communities Officer, the 
Committee considered the 2019-20 Annual Report & Accounts for The 
Orchard Theatre, submitted by the management company Orchard Theatre 
Dartford Limited. Members were advised that closure of The Orchard during 
the Pandemic had enabled significant planned refurbishment works to be 
undertaken including: an increase to capacity, new auditorium seating, new 
lighting and sound systems and improved access for wheelchair users.  
 
The Committee resolved to note the report and accounts for the period under 
review, and congratulated the Theatre Director for the new expanded and 
creative format of the annual report, which successfully conveyed the ‘magic 
of the theatre’ [Min. No. 11 refers]. 
 
 
Item 5: Work Plan – Committee Annual Report for 2020-21 
 
Members thanked the Committee Co-ordinator for his draft report which 
summarised the work undertaken by the Committee in the preceding 2020-21 
municipal year, and resolved to forward it to the General Assembly of the 
Council for their information as submitted [Min. No. 12 refers].   
 
Item 6: Committee Work Programme for 2021-22 
 
Members agreed an initial Work Plan (WP) for the ensuing 2021-22 municipal 
year to be reviewed at subsequent meetings in the cycle, and were reminded 
by the Chairman of the importance of utilising the draw-down facility to 
scrutinise Cabinet decisions, in addition to receiving the standard annual 
reports from DFC for Princes Park, The Orchard Theatre Management 
Company and Dartford Cricket Club for their rental of the Cricket Pavilion in 
Darenth Park. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 34Agenda Item 12



   APPENDIX A 

 
Committee Meeting held on 19 October 2021 
 
Item 1: Princes Park Annual Update 2020-21 (WP) 
 
Members considered the 2020-21 Annual Report on the use of facilities at 
Princes Park under the terms of the Service Level Agreement (SLA) between 
the Council and Dartford Football Club (DFC). The Leader of the Council 
attended proceedings in his capacity as a Director of DFC, not as a Councillor 
Member. 
 
The Vice-Chairman commended the report from the Club to Members for 
approval as a comprehensive record of the activities being managed by DFC 
on behalf of the Council in the period under review. In particular, he noted the 
improvements that had been made to the golf facilities in the Park under the 
management of Mr Paul Page a golf professional. However, he proposed that 
future annual reports from the Club should include comparative year on year 
data, and a forecast of aims and objectives for the ensuing year.   
 
The Leader of the Council addressed Members in his capacity as a Club 
Director, to highlight several notable footballing achievements by DFC in the 
period under review including: 
 

 Dartford’s flourishing Ladies team which was supported on an equal 
basis as the Men’s team; 

 The Club’s special relationship with the Leigh Academy helped by 
close proximity and inter-linked sites which negated travel costs for 
pupils; 

 The eligibility of all Dartford schools to benefit from Club training in 
Princes Park, with Primary schools catered for on a Saturday morning 
prior to match day fixtures in the afternoon; 

 Under the auspices of SCL a full-time education and football 
development programme was provided for 50 students aged 16-18 
years old, in addition to the Club’s Academy and pre-Academy training 
for 7-16 year olds. 

 
Members were advised by Officers that the Council continued to pay the Club 
£90K p.a. to provide all sports facilities in the Park under the terms of the 
existing SLA until 31 March 2022, after which the agreement would be subject 
to annual review.  
 
The Vice-Chairman, supported by several Members, noted the vital role the 
facilities at Princes Park had played in the Council’s response to the 
Pandemic as both a COVID vaccination centre and regional base for the St. 
John’s ambulance service 
 
Members resolved to note the report and Appendix A [Min. No. 21 refers]. 
 
 
 
 

Page 35 Agenda Item 12



   APPENDIX A 

Item 2: Dartford Cricket Club in Hesketh Park – 2020-21 Update [WP] 
 
The Committee considered a report from the Leisure & Communities Officer 
(LCO) which updated Members on the rental of the Council’s Pavilion in 
Hesketh Park by Dartford Cricket Club Ltd, as set out in the Club’s 
Community Use Information leaflet dated October 2021 [Appendix A to the 
report]. Mr Harry Bright, Club Chairman, attended the proceedings to respond 
to Members’ questions. 
 
The LCO confirmed that the Club paid the Council rent for its use of the 
Pavilion building in Hesketh Park under a 25 year lease rental agreement, 
which was not subject to a Service Level Agreement (SLA) and as a 
consequence, the Club was not obliged to specify specific aims or objectives 
during its tenancy of the property. But as the tenant of a property that had 
benefited from significant Council investment, the Club were invited to submit 
a short annual review of its activities and links with the Dartford community for 
the Committee’s information. 
 
The Club Chairman, Mr Bright, informed the Committee that due to the 
Pandemic, Dartford Cricket Club had been in almost continuous lock-down in 
the period under review. The Government’s Furlough Scheme had enabled 
the Club to retain some staff and more games had been played in 2021 than 
during the entirety of the Pandemic. The Club’s Junior team had flourished 
and the Senior team promoted, coaching had been retained for the 5-8 and 8-
11 age groups and the Club had hosted the local Quantum Games in the 
Park. However, the Club’s requirement to maintain the Outfield playing 
surface in Hesketh Park [under the terms of the rental agreement], had been 
a major financial burden during the Pandemic. The Outfield in particular had 
been subjected to vastly increased levels of foot-fall as the public sought a 
respite from lock-down, and the Park as a whole had suffered from an 
infestation of Leather Jacket beetles and increased dog and fox activity, all of 
which had severely impacted on the condition of the Outfield at the Club’s 
expense.  The Club was aiming to establish a fiscal reserve in the coming 
months to finance much needed repairs including to the Pavilion façade. 
 
Members resolved to note the report and Appendix A [Min. No. 22 refers]. 
 
Item 3: 2021-22 Work Plan Review 
 
Members resolved to add a report from Darent Valley Rugby Club to the 
2022-23 Work Plan following completion of the extant 2021-22 playing 
season. An update from the Head of Planning Services was also agreed, 
once her Local Impact Report (LIR) on the London Resort Development 
Consent Order had been received by Cabinet [postponed to March 2022].  
 
Members resolved to note the report [Min. No. 23 refers]. 
 
 
Committee Meeting scheduled for 18 January 2022 
 
In the event, this meeting was cancelled due to a lack of substantive business 
for Members to consider. 

Page 36Agenda Item 12



   APPENDIX A 

 
 
 
Committee Meeting held on 12 April 2022 
 
Item 1 Draw-Down – Urbaser Update 
 
The Committee received a verbal update from the Waste & Parks Manager 
(WPM), in response to a draw-down request submitted by the Labour & Co-
operative Group, which had expressed concern over the performance of the 
Council’s waste and recycling contractor Urbaser. 
 
Members were informed by the WPM that the Council’s contract with Urbaser 
was in its third year. The initial year of operation (in pre-COVID times), had 
achieved satisfactory outcomes across the range of contracted services. The 
latter two years (during the Pandemic and Government lock-down), had 
presented Urbaser with significant challenges which, on the whole, the 
company had met including; a sector wide shortage of HGV drivers and fuel 
shortages, exacerbated by a concerted campaign by Climate Change 
protesters to block the M25 including exits and access roads around the 
Borough.  
 
From February 2020 Urbaser had increased its use of agency staff to cover 
collection crew absences due to COVID, instituted an HGV driver recruitment 
and training scheme, and introduced pay awards to help retain staff. These 
additional measures had enabled Urbaser to complete 95% of its scheduled 
collections on time and 99.9% of its contracted workload across all services, 
and represented a good performance set against the background of the 
Pandemic. 
 
In response to subsequent questions and expressions of concern from 
Swanscombe and Greenhithe Ward Members, the WPM confirmed the 
following key points for the Committee: 
 

 Waste and recycling collections were not undertaken on a Ward basis, 
but by specified routes on designated days; 

 No collections were ‘missed’ as such, but were subject to delay and 
could be rescheduled to the next available day; 

 Collection of garden waste had been subject to delays, but the backlog 
was being actively addressed with a new vehicle purchase; 

 Glass was recycled separately by Urbaser, at site if necessary in the 
event of a malfunctioning vehicle, Urbaser staff were also responsible 
for cleaning-up any spillage in the street environment during collection; 

 Where Urbaser vehicles were denied access due to poor parking of 
other vehicles [Swanscombe in particular suffered from this], Urbaser 
were obliged to return on the next available day; 

 A planned update to the Council’s ‘Whitespace’ software system would 
enable Urbaser crews to analyse the frequency of such incidents in the 
future and take appropriate action; 

 All Members and residents should email the Council with their 
complaints rather than take to Facebook or other social media outlets. 

Page 37 Agenda Item 12



   APPENDIX A 

All complaints received by the Council were acknowledged by the 
WPM and his team daily, and fed into the ‘Whitespace’ software 
system for analysis and action as appropriate. 

 
The Leader of the Council in attendance as the Chairman of Cabinet 
supported the WPM in his positive appraisal of Urbaser’s performance 
throughout the 2 year period of the Pandemic. 
 
Members thanked the Waste & Parks Manager for updating the Committee 
and responding to Members’ questions [Min. No. 30 refers]. 
 
Item 2 Draw-Down – Update on Council’s Equality Report 
 
Members received an initial verbal update from the Community Manager in 
response to the draw-down from the Labour & Co-operative Group. He 
advised the Committee that the Council’s initial efforts to gauge the level and 
depth of inequality amongst Borough residents had been conducted via a 
series of health questionnaires posted out via the Dartford Healthy Living 
Centre. That exercise had been repeated on three separate occasions with no 
meaningful response. The restrictions imposed by the Pandemic allied to 
Government lockdown measures had made it impossible to obtain the 
necessary face-to-face contact with residents to effectively gauge their 
responses (including via body language), and identify need amongst groups 
with protected characteristics such as the elderly and those from a black or 
minority ethnic background (BAME). Unfortunately, these were the same 
groups most impacted by COVID and consequently the hardest to reach on a 
one-to-one basis.  
 
In an effort to progress matters the Council had contacted Greenwich 
University to discuss an alternative approach to identify those in most need. 
The University had proposed an in-depth study to assess the universally 
identified 9 (nine) groups in society with protected characteristics and had 
submitted bids to undertake that work ranging from £30K-£70K which Officers 
continued to assess. 
 
The Leader of the Council advised the Committee that he had appointed Cllr. 
Oliver as Lead Member for Equalities, Cohesion and Society to take matters 
forward as his representative on a cross-party Leader’s Focus Group, with 
input from the recently appointed Director of Growth & Community who had 
extensive experience in the field.  
 
His view was that further work was required by Officers and Members in 
consultation with residents and their focus groups, to identify specific need in 
the Borough as a whole, not just those groups with protected characteristics, 
which a costly academic study alone could not wholly address. 
 
The Lead Member confirmed the Council’s direction of travel as outlined by 
the Leader and senior Officers, and emphasised the importance of a review of 
current service delivery based on an informed re-assessment of resident need 
across the whole Dartford demographic, not solely of groups with protected 
characteristics. Matters would be progressed initially via the Leader’s Focus 
Group with a cross-party membership, with in-depth consultations undertaken 

Page 38Agenda Item 12



   APPENDIX A 

by sub-groups of Members and Officers to identify and address specific areas 
of need and inequality. 
 
Members thanked the Community Manager and the Director of Growth & 
Development for their verbal updates, the Leader of the Council for his 
proposals, and the Lead Member for taking those proposals forward via the 
cross-party Leader’s Focus Group, which would report back to the Committee 
on progress in due course [Min. No. 31 refers].  
 
 
David Hook 
Committees Coordinator 
Democratic Services Section 
 
June 2022

Page 39 Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

1 

 
 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE PROTOCOL  

Appendix B 
 

A ‘local government matter’ is defined as a matter which relates to the discharge of any function of the 
authority, affects all or part of the electoral area for which the Member is elected or any person who 
lives or works in that area and is not an ‘excluded matter’ 
 
  
Introduction This Protocol recognises the division of executive and non-executive roles 

and responsibilities, the scrutiny role performed by non-executive 
Councillors and the part played by all Councillors in representing local 
communities. 

 
  
Terms of Reference To contribute to improving Council services by holding decision makers to 

account which ultimately benefits residents of the Borough of Dartford. 
 

  
Guidelines (a) Terms of Reference agreed by the General Assembly of the  Council 

(the GAC); 
 (b) Standing Orders and Financial Regulations; 
 (c) Codes of Conduct; 
 (d) Secretary of State guidance issued from time to time. 

 
   
Committee 
accountability 

To the Council as the ultimate decision making body from which all of the 
other elements in the decision-making process derive their authority. 
 

  
Elected Member 
accountability 

Individual elected Members have a collective responsibility for the Council's 
functions.  This collective responsibility extends to a duty to ensure that the 
Council complies with the law and does not knowingly act unlawfully. 

 
  
Compliance 
principles 

The Committee will: 
 Scrutinise and monitor the performance of the Cabinet, Officers and 

partner authorities in implementing decisions in line with the Council’s 
Strategic and Policy Framework; 

  Recognise the legitimate right of the Cabinet to provide political and 
operational leadership to the Council and will not attempt to usurp the 
power vested in the Cabinet by the GAC; 

  Recognise that Officers continue to owe a duty to all Members of the 
Council; 

  Guarantee the right of Officers to express their advice on matters 
within their areas of responsibility, particularly (but not exclusively) on 
technical professional issues.  Officers must not be pressurised to 
change their advice to suit political aspirations.  Questions to Officers 
must be within Officers' remit and will as far as possible be confined 
to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions 
within Officers' remit; 

  Will not criticise or adversely comment on any individual Officer by 
name; 

Page 41 Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

2 

  Not attempt to thwart the Cabinet by engaging in vexatious or 
unnecessarily repetitive overview and scrutiny activities. 

 
  
Membership Committee membership cannot include any Cabinet member. 
  

The Scrutiny Process  
To perform the scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council within the guidelines detailed in the 
Committee's Terms of Reference and this Protocol and specifically, the following overarching 
principles: 
 
The scrutiny of any matter: 
 
(a) relating to the provision of and/or delivery of  Council services to the local community; 
(b) in which the Council has an interest, subject to the Council being in a position to reasonably 

influence the outcome for the benefit of the local community; 
(c) which has an adverse impact on the delivery of Council services. 

 
  
1.What may be 
scrutinised 

 

1.1 decisions made and/or actions taken in connection with the discharge of 
any of the Council’s and/or Cabinet’s functions; 
 

1.2 performance of the Cabinet, Officers, Committees, Boards and Panels 
whether generally or in relation to service plans and targets, or in relation 
to particular decisions, initiatives or projects; 
 
NB: scrutiny will not focus on day to day management and operational 
decisions, which are the proper concerns of Council managers and Officers. 
 

1.3 performance of the Council in relation to policy and budgetary objectives, 
performance targets and/or particular service areas; 
 

1.4 the planning, provision, operation and performance of public 
bodies/organisations  including local health services, subject to the Council 
being in a position to reasonably influence the outcome for the benefit of 
the local community; 

  
1.5 Councillor Calls for Action (CCfAs); 

 
1.6 local improvement targets.  

 
  

Page 42Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

3 

A.Draw downs Draw downs for the purposes of scrutinising decisions/actions of the 
Council, Cabinet etc. and/or the scrutiny/of the effects/outcomes of a 
decision post implementation 

 
A.1 For each meeting of the Committee: 

 
 through the Shadow Chairman of the Committee, up to two items in total 

for the Political Group on the Council forming the administration on the 
Council; 

 
  through the Chairman of the Committee, up to two items in total for the 

Political Group on the Council forming the largest party in opposition on 
the Council; 

 
  through the Chairman of the Committee, one item only for any other 

Political Groups on the Council, dealt with on a ‘first come first served 
basis’. 

 
A.2 Subject to section A.6 of this Protocol, each Committee meeting may draw 

down for scrutiny purposes, no more than five items in total.  These five items 
may comprise a combination of items relating respectively, to a Call-in, CCfA, 
the scrutiny of decision(s)/actions of the Cabinet/Officers, local improvement 
targets, local health service body etc.  Whatever combination is applied, the 
Committee is restricted to the scrutiny of five items in total, per Committee 
meeting. 

 
A.3 (a) A draw down(s) must be on written notice to Member Services by no 

later than noon on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear 
days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from 
midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on 
which the meeting is held). 

 
 (b) The need (if any) for participant representatives to appear before the 

Committee will be notified to Member Services by no later than noon on 
the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen 
weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight 
excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is 
held). 

 
A.4 Where the Committee wish to scrutinise an item for the purposes of 

examining the effect and outcomes of a decision/action etc. post 
implementation, drawing down the item may need to be delayed to a future 
date.  

 
 NB: The focus of the scrutiny in such circumstances will be concerned with 

the effects and outcomes of the decision whether or not reference was 
made to effects or outcomes (potential or perceived) in any background 
document before the Committee. 

 

Page 43 Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

4 

  
A.5 When more than one Political Group on the Council notifies a draw down of 

the same item, the Political Group which first gave notice in accordance with 
section A.1 of this Protocol, will lead at the meeting, on the discussion of the 
item and the Chairman will exercise his/her discretion about the right of the 
Political Groups to sum up. 

 
A.6 
 

 

 

 

A.7 

 

Although Scrutiny Committee and the Policy Overview Committee have 
different roles and responsibilities, the remit of the Committees may on 
occasions overlap.  Whilst draw downs and work programmes will need to 
have flexibility and their own broader topics and focus, the Scrutiny 
Committee will avoid any duplication in work programme activities and draw 
downs. 
 
The relevant Director will make the final decision on the rejection of a draw 
down, with reasons recorded in writing.  In the absence of the relevant 
Director, the other Director will make the final decision. 

  

B. Requests for 
information 

 

B.1 Any Committee member may make requests for information, on written 
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before the 
Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and the following will 
apply.  The request for information will: 
 

  detail the item(s) to be drawn down, supported by reasons for the draw 
down(s); 

 
  the nature of the information requested e.g. a full report, background 

information, research, data, statistics, etc.; 
 

  if applicable, identify the need for participants (Members, Officers and/or 
other external participants) to appear before the Committee (refer to the 
general principles on participation detailed in section D of this Protocol); 

 
  provide an indication if at all possible, of the questions and the likely topics 

to be raised on the item(s); 
 

  provide an indication if at all possible, of whether the request for 
information is for the purposes of informing the debate or for the purposes 
of putting questions to participants. 

 
B.2 On receipt of a request for information, Member Services will notify the 

relevant Director and link officer of the partner organisation.  Where the 
request for information relates to a Cabinet decision/action, the relevant 
Director and the Cabinet Chairman will be notified accordingly.  
 

  

Page 44Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

5 

  
B.3 Where information requested is readily available and routinely collected, it 

will be provided within 14 days of receipt of the request, save that if some or 
all the information cannot reasonable be provided within the 14 day period, 
the information will be provided as soon as reasonably possible and in any 
event, no later than 7 clear days’ (seven weekdays i.e. 7 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and 
the day on which the meeting is held).   
 

B.4 Information will be depersonalised, unless the identification of an individual 
is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the Committee to properly 
exercise its powers or disclosure is permitted by or under the Data Protection 
Act 2018.   

 
B.5 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to prejudice legal 

proceedings or current or future operations of the Council, Cabinet etc. 
 

B.6 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to constitute a breach 
of confidence actionable by any person. 
 

B.7 Schedule 12A, Parts 1-3 of the Local Government Act 1972 as regards the 
categories of exempt information, reg.5 of the Local Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees) (England) Regulations 2012, reg.26 of the Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013) and Standing Order 46(2) as regards confidential 
information, will apply to the proceedings of the Committee. 

 
B.8 The scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the receipt of 

information, particularly where requests for additional information are made 
or where the information requested is voluminous and/or where there are 
costs implications associated with providing the information.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly. 
 

B.9 To facilitate the scrutiny process, a partner authority (as defined in Chapter 
1 of Part 5 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 (as amended) is under a duty to pro-actively provide information to the 
Committee on request (reg.4 of the Local Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees) (England) (Regulations 2012). 

C. Call-in of Cabinet 
decisions 

 

C.1 This Call-in procedure will be operated in such a way as not to have a 
concomitant negative effect on the efficiency of Cabinet decision-making. 
 
This Call-in procedure will only apply to Cabinet decisions/actions, subject 
to the restrictions/limitations detailed in sections C.8, C.9, C.11, C.13, C15 
and C.16 of this Protocol. 
 

C.2 (a) Call-in will be by five Members of the Committee (involving 
representation of at least two political groups), in writing, to Member Services 
by no later than noon on the day before the Cabinet meeting.  Member 
Services will notify the Cabinet Chairman of the Call-in. 
 

  

Page 45 Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

6 

 (b) Once a member of the Committee has signed a Call-in, he/she may not 
do so again until a period of six months has expired. 

 
C.3 A special meeting of the Committee may be called in accordance with the 

rules detailed in Standing Order 27 (Special Meetings of the Cabinet, 
Committees and Boards) and will be held before the next meeting of the 
Cabinet (Cabinet meetings are scheduled on a four weekly basis), with a 
view to reporting to the next Cabinet meeting. Where it is not possible for the 
Committee to report to the next Cabinet meeting, the Committee Chairman 
will consult with the Cabinet Chairman and agree a date for referring the Call-
in back to the Cabinet for consideration/reconsideration. 
 
Referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet will not be delayed by more than 4 
weeks from the date of the notice of Call-in. 

 
C.4 Once a Call-in has been effected, the Cabinet may at its discretion, either: 

 
 (a) defer consideration of the proposed decision and/or action (the Deferred 

Decision) to its next scheduled meeting or where it is not possible for 
the Committee to report to the next scheduled meeting of the Cabinet, 
defer consideration until receipt of the Committee's report; or 

 (b) take the decision and/or action which decision/action will stand as 
suspended (the Suspended Decision) until the next scheduled meeting 
of the Cabinet or where the Call-in is referred to the GAC by the 
Committee, until referred back to the Cabinet by the GAC for 
reconsideration. 

 
C.5 Following consideration of the Call-in, the Committee will, on a report (setting 

out the Committee's concerns, recommendations, conclusions, suggestions 
and/or comments), either refer the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision 
back to the Cabinet for consideration/reconsideration, or request a debate 
on the Call-in at the next ordinary meeting of the GAC, or if necessary, at an 
extraordinary meeting of the GAC, but subject to the rules detailed in 
Standing Order 1.(3) on the convening of extraordinary meetings. 

 
C.6 On receipt of the Committee's report; 

 
 (a) the Cabinet will consider/reconsider the Deferred Decision/ Suspended 

Decision and the contents of the Committee's report before coming to a 
final decision. Providing the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision is 
not contrary to the budget or policy framework, the Cabinet may or may 
not amend the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision before reaching 
a final decision and implementing it; or 

 (b) the GAC will consider the Call-in and may object to the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision in which case the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision will be referred back to the Cabinet (with 
the GAC's views) for consideration/reconsideration.  Unless the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision is contrary to the budget or 
policy framework, the Cabinet may choose whether to amend the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision or not before reaching a final 
decision and implementing it. 

 
 NB:  The GAC has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet 

decision unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly 
consistent with the budget or policy framework agreed/adopted by the 
Council. 

 
  
C.7 Following the Cabinet's consideration of a Deferred Decision or 

reconsideration of a Suspended Decision, the decisions(s) will take effect i.e. 

Page 46Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

7 

be implemented immediately. In addition, a Suspended Decision will become 
effective: 

 
 (a) on the date of the GAC meeting where the Call-in has been referred to 

the GAC and the GAC does not object to the Suspended Decision 
and/or does not refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet. 

 
 (b) on the date of the Committee meeting, where the Committee does not 

refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet or to the GAC.  
 

C.8 A Call-in (i.e. the decision itself) cannot be the subject of further scrutiny after 
implementation, pursuant to the draw down mechanism detailed in section A 
of this Protocol. 

 
 NB: This restriction does not preclude a subsequent draw-down of the 

subject matter of the decision for purposes related for example, to topic 
scrutiny or reporting on matters of local concern. 

 
C.9 This Call-in procedure will not apply to urgent Cabinet decisions and/or 

action to be taken by the Cabinet which need to be implemented urgently.  
The definition of 'urgency' means any matter of immediate urgency (i.e. 
where any delay likely to be caused by the Call-in would prejudice the 
Council's or the public's interest), making the prompt exercise of the powers 
of the Cabinet, in consultation with the relevant Director desirable and/or 
necessary and which cannot await the next meeting of the Cabinet, or the 
next ordinary meeting of the GAC. 

 
 NB: The definition of 'urgency' as detailed above, excludes urgent key 

decisions under Standing Order 54(8) (Special Urgency) and urgent 
departure decisions under Standing Order 55(3) (Decisions outside the 
Budget or Policy Framework). 

 
C.10 Cabinet decisions and/or actions to be taken which are not subject to Call-in 

will take effect, i.e. be implemented immediately. 
 

C.11 Subject to the draw down rules in section A.2 of this Protocol, the Committee 
may only Call-in two decisions per three-month period.   

 
C.12 Key decisions of Officers, area committees/joint arrangements (referred to in 

the Cabinet's Forward Plan) may be subject to individual Call-in in 
accordance with the procedure detailed in this Protocol. 

 
C.13 Call-in will not apply to urgent departure decisions (refer to Standing Order 

55(3)) and urgent key decisions (refer to Standing Order 54(8)). 
 

C.14 The rules detailed in sections B and D of this Protocol will apply to an 
individual Call-in. 

 
C.15 A CCfA does not provide an additional opportunity for a Cabinet decision to 

be challenged.  A previous Call-in will only be relevant, if the circumstances 
of the Call-in and the CCfA are clearly different.  
 

C.16 The operation of this Call-in procedure will be monitored annually by the 
Monitoring Officer and if necessary, a report submitted to the GAC with 
proposals for review. 

 
  

Page 47 Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

8 

D.Participants  
D.1 The nature of a Call-in, the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic 

under scrutiny will generally determine who participates in the proceedings 
of the Committee. 
 

D.2 Persons required to attend if summoned  
 
Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, the giving 
of 14 clear days’ notice, (fourteen weekdays i.e. 14 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and 
the day on which the meeting is held) and information being provided as to 
the nature and scope of the scrutiny: 
 

 Cabinet members and Council Officers 
 
Cabinet members and Council Officers may be required to attend Committee 
meetings, to give evidence, make representations and/or answer questions 
((Section 21(13) Local Government Act 2000). 
 

  
 Health Service scrutiny 

 
The Committee may require the attendance of any member or employee of 
a Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to answer questions 
(reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 

D.3 
 

 

 

 

 

D.3A 
 

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc.  
 

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. may 
be invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend the Committee, to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence.  
 
Where the Committee seeks to engage with the third sector (voluntary and 
community groups), it will respect the principles of the Council’s Compact. 
 
Lead Members  
 
Subject to the rules detailed in section D.7(a) to (c) of this Protocol, Lead 
Members who are members of the Committee may be requested (but cannot 
be compelled) to make representations, answer questions or give evidence 
on their respective portfolios.  
 
 

D.4 Expert advisors and assessors  
 
The Committee may consider the available options for future direction in the 
development of policies and may appoint experts, advisors and assessors to 
assist the Committee in the process. 
 

D.5 Councillors who are not members of the Committee 
 

The rules detailed in Standing Order 36, will apply to the attendance at 
Committee meetings, of Councillors who are not members of the Committee. 

 
D.6 The scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the availability of 

a participant to attend, when summoned or invited.  In these circumstances, 
Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman accordingly. 
 

D.7 Participation Rules 

Page 48Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

9 

 
(a) The nomination of specific Cabinet members and Lead Members as 

participants and any necessary substitutions, will be within the discretion 
of the Cabinet Chairman and, in relation to Officer participants, within 
the discretion of the relevant  Director. 

 
(b) Subject to paras. (a) and (c) of this section D.7 and section V.6 of this 

Protocol, any Lead Member(s) may attend meetings of the Committee 
and with the consent of the Chairman, make representations, answer 
questions or give evidence on the subject matter of their relevant 
portfolio.  

 
(c) Lead Members who are members of the Committee cannot be involved 

in the scrutiny process of their relevant portfolio unless they are 
substituted on the Committee and in doing so, the Lead Member’s role 
is limited to making representations, answering questions or giving 
evidence on the subject matter. Once substituted, the Lead Member, as 
an ordinary member of the Committee, cannot vote at the meeting even 
if he/she is able to attend at a later stage of the meeting and can only 
speak with the permission of the Chairman. 

 
(d) The relevant Director may restrict the attendance of Council Officers to 

above a certain grade or in accordance with other criteria to ensure that 
junior Officers are not put under undue pressure.  This restriction is 
consistent with the European Convention on Human Rights. 

 
(e) The Chairman and Shadow Chairman (collectively), reserve the right 

(supported by detailed reasoning to the Cabinet Chairman or relevant 
Director (as appropriate)), to strongly request the attendance of a 
named Cabinet member(s), Lead Members, Council Officer(s), and 
representative of the Responsible Person or relevant body, as 
participants in the proceedings of the Committee, subject to written 
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before 
the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank 
and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held). 

 
(f) Council Officers who are subject to disciplinary proceedings and/or 

investigation will not be called as participants. 
 
(g) When questioning participants, due regard will be had to the 

Compliance Principles referred to in this Protocol and to paras.(f) and 
(g) below.  Participants may leave the meeting on the conclusion of their 
particular issues. 

 
(h) Participants may decline to answer questions in open session of the 

Committee on the grounds that the answer might disclose information 
that would be exempt or confidential under the access to information 
provisions.  In that event, the Committee may resolve to exclude the 
public and the press in accordance with Standing Orders in order that 
the question may be answered in private session. 

 
(i) Participants are not obliged to answer any question which they would 

be entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law for example any question 
relating to a participant’s past conduct/actions which could not be 
answered without acknowledging or referring to possible inappropriate 
conduct/actions/inactions. 

 

Page 49 Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

10 

(j) To better inform the Committee, participants may be required to provide 
their evidence in writing and may be questioned by the Committee on 
that evidence. 

  
  
 (k) The substance (rather than the detail) of oral evidence and participants' 

responses will be documented by the Committee Co - ordinator and 
circulated to them for comment, before the next meeting of the 
Committee. 

 
 (l) Participants may be asked to explain: 

 
 (i) what the policies are; 

 
 (ii) the justification and objectives of those policies; 

 
 (iii) the extent to which those objectives may have been met; 

 
  (iv) how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of the 

policy measures and the manner of their implementation. 
 

(m) Participants may be asked explain and justify; 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• advice they have given prior to decisions being taken; 
• decisions they themselves have taken under delegations from the 

Cabinet etc. 
 
NB: far as possible, Council Officers should avoid being drawn into 

discussions on the merits of alternative policies where this is politically 
contentious.  Any comment by Council Officers on the Cabinet's 
policies and actions should always be consistent with the requirement 
for Officers to be politically neutral. 

  

Page 50Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

11 

  

E. Councillor Calls for 
Action (CCfA) 

 

E.1 Subject to the ‘excluded matters’ rule detailed in section E.2 and the 
restrictions detailed in sections E4, E5, E7 and E10 of this Protocol, any ward 
Member may refer to the Committee for scrutiny, any local government 
matter. 
 
The flowchart at Annex 1 describes the CCfA procedure. 

 
E.2 Excluded matters 

A CCfA cannot be championed in relation to matters associated with crime 
and disorder, licensing, planning, or a matter where there is already a 
statutory right of review or appeal (other than the right to complain to the 
Local Government Ombudsman), or a matter which is vexatious, 
discriminatory or not reasonable to be included on the agenda for, or to be 
discussed at, a meeting of the Committee (reg. 3. of the Overview and 
Scrutiny (Reference by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) Order 
2012).  
 

E.3 A matter does not fall within a description of an ‘excluded matter’ if it consists 
of an allegation that a function for which the Council is responsible has not 
been discharged at all or that its discharge has failed or is failing on a 
systematic basis, notwithstanding the fact that the allegation specifies or 
refers to an excluded matter. 

 
E.4 Referral of a genuine, significant and persistent local community concern by 

the local ward Member as a CCfA for scrutiny is a measure of last resort, 
once other approaches for informal resolution have been exhausted.  Local 
ward Members are advised to seek advice from the relevant Director before 
agreeing to champion a CCfA. 
 

E.5 The CCfA may be referred for scrutiny on behalf of a constituent, or on the 
local ward Member’s own initiative, providing the local ward Member has the 
support of the local community and the Member does not have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in the matter.   
 

Page 51 Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

12 

E.6 The Committee may receive a CCfA via the Cabinet in circumstances where 
the local ward Member has declined to champion the CCfA and the 
constituent has then referred the issue to the Cabinet.  
 

E.7 Subject to the draw down rules at section A.2 of this Protocol, the referral of 
a CCfA to the Committee will be limited to one CCfA per meeting.   

 
E.8 The referral of a CCfA to the Committee by a local ward Member will be on 

written notification to Member Services, by no later than noon on the 16th day 
before a Committee meeting, i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and 
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held). 

 
E.9 The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 

attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol will apply.  
 

E.10 The acceptance of a CCfA will be at the discretion of the Committee.  In 
considering whether or not to accept a CCfA, the Committee may have 
regard to any representations made by the local ward Member as to why it 
would be appropriate for the Committee to accept the CCfA. 

 
E.11 If the Committee decides not to accept the CCfA, Member Services will within 

5 days’ of the meeting, formally notify the ward Member of the Committee’s 
decision and the reasons for it.  The Committee’s decision is final.  There is 
no right of appeal. 

 
E.12 The local ward Member may address the Committee (but not vote) on the 

matter raised.   
 

E.13 Following consideration of a CCfA, the Committee may report or recommend 
accordingly to the GAC and/or the Cabinet, the Responsible Person, Kent 
County Council etc.  The rules detailed in sections H and M of this Protocol, 
will apply.   
 

E.14 The Committee may submit a copy of its report or recommendations to the 
local ward Member or await the GAC’s/Cabinet’s and/or other relevant 
body’s response before doing so.   
 

  

F. Committee member 
business 

Subject to the rules on draw down detailed in section A.2 of this Protocol, 
any Committee or (sub-committee) member has the legal right [Section 
21A(1) Local Government Act 2000] to place any matter relevant to the 
Committee’s functions on the agenda.  This right will be exercised by giving 
written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day 
before a Committee meeting i.e.16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and 
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).   
 
The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol, will apply.  
 

  

Page 52Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

13 

G. The duty to have 
regard to reports/ 
recommendations 

 
 

G.1 
When reviewing a decision made but not implemented, the Committee may 
recommend that the decision be reconsidered by the body that made it.  

 

G.2 
The Committee may by notice require the Responsible Person to respond to 
its Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations within 28 days (or as soon as 
reasonably possible) of the date of the Scrutiny Report, indicating what (if 
any) action the body proposes to take (reg. 22(7) of the Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013.  The same principles shall be applied to Cabinet and the 
GAC. 
 

  

G.3 
Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations have 
been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be re-
addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

  

H. Health Service 
Scrutiny 

 ‘Local Healthwatch organisation and ‘Local Healthwatch contractor have 
the meaning in sections 222 and 223 of the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as amended); 

 ‘Referrer’ means a Local Healthwatch organisation or ‘Local 
Healthwatch contractor; 

 ‘Responsible Person’ means a NHS body or a relevant health service 
provider as defined in the National Health Service Act 2006. 

 
H.1 The Committee may scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision 

and operation of the health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.21(1) 
Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 

Page 53 Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

14 

H.2 When scrutinising the planning, provision and operation of the health 
service, the Committee must: 
 
 invite interested parties to comment (reg.21(2)(a) Local Authority (Public 

Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013); and 

 take account of relevant information available to it and in particular, relevant 
information provided by a Referrer (reg.21(2)(b) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 

 
H.3 Where a matter is referred to the Committee by a Referrer, the Committee 

must acknowledge receipt of the referral within 20 working days beginning 
with the date on which the referral was made and keep the Referrer informed 
of any action taken in relation to the matter (reg.21(3) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 

H.4 The Responsible Person must provide the Committee with such information 
as the Committee may reasonably require (reg.26 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 

H.5 Subject to reasonable notice in accordance with section D.2 of this Protocol 
of this Protocol, the Committee may require the attendance of any member 
or employee of a Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to 
answer questions (reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 

H.6 The Committee may make reports and recommendations to a Responsible 
Person on any matter it has reviewed (reg.22(1) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 
Reports and recommendations must under reg.22(6) of the Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013 include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed; 
(b) a list of participants involved in the review; and 
(c) an explanation of any recommendations on the matter reviewed. 
 

H.7 Where the Committee requests a response from the Responsible Person, 
the Responsible Person must respond in writing within 28 days of the request 
(reg.22(7) Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 

H.8 Other than in circumstances where there is a risk to the safety or welfare of 
patients or staff, a Responsible Person is required to consult with the 
Committee on any proposal for a substantial development or variation to the 
health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.23 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 

 

Page 54Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

15 

  
H.9 The Committee may comment on the Responsible Person’s proposal by the 

date specified by the Responsible Person (reg.23(4) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 

H.10 In addition to commenting, the Committee may recommend accordingly to 
the Responsible Person in accordance with section J.6 of this Protocol.  
Where the Responsible Person disagrees with the Committee’s 
recommendation, the Responsible Person must notify the Committee and 
the Committee and the Responsible Person must take such reasonable 
steps to try to reach agreement on the recommendation (reg.23(5) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 
 

H11 Where the Committee is not satisfied that the Responsible Person has 
adequately consulted or the reasons given by it are not adequate, subject to 
complying with regs. 23(7), (8), (10) & (11) of the Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013, the Committee may report to the Secretary of State, who may direct 
accordingly (regs.23(9) and 25 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.   
 

J. Work programme 
 

J.1 
The Committee will be responsible for setting its own work programme and 
in doing so, will take into account wishes of Committee members who are 
not members of the largest political group on the Council. 
 

J.2 
Duplication of activities or major additions to the Committee’s work 
programme will be avoided. 
 

J.3 The Committee will receive an annual report on its workings and may make 
recommendations for future work programmes. 
 

  

K. Appointment of 
independent experts, 
advisers/assessors 

 

K.1 
Subject to available resources and GAC authority, the Committee may invite 
independent experts, advisers and assessors to contribute to the overview 
and scrutiny process undertaken by it, its sub-committees or task groups.  
Independent experts, advisers and assessors will have no voting rights and 
will not count for the purposes of establishing a quorum. 
 

K.2 The criteria for selection will be; 
 
(a) candidates must be able to demonstrate to the Chairman an expert 

knowledge of the subject in question; 
(b) candidates will have no contact with the Borough Council, which could 

be seen as prejudicial to their independence; 
(c) (c) candidates will not be employees of the Council, a person/organisation 

contracted to provide services on behalf of the Council or an employee, 
officer or member of the Kent County Council or the Responsible 
Person. 

 

Page 55 Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

16 

  
K.3  Independent experts, advisers and assessors will be expected to comply with 

the principles in the [Member] Code of Conduct, including the requirement to 
declare interests and respecting confidentiality. 
 

K.4 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will receive payment in 
accordance with a standard scale of fees, to be agreed by the Cabinet, plus 
travel and other reasonable/legitimate expenses. 
 

K.5 Independent experts, advisers and assessors may at the Committee’s 
discretion, remain in the meeting room when confidential and/or exempt 
information is being discussed. 
 

K.6 In considering independent experts’, advisers’ and assessors’ 
recommendations, the Committee will have regard to the advice of the 
Council's Statutory Officers (Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) who are legally bound respectively, to report to the GAC 
on inter alia: 

  the corporate approach of the Council; 
 contravention of law and/or Standing Orders, Financial Regulations; 
 unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice; 
 vires and propriety of expenditure; 
 overall integrity of the budget, capital and revenue and the fiduciary duty 

and responsibility of all Members (Section 112 and 114 Reports). 
 
NB: The GAC retains the ultimate responsibility of censure. 
 

  
L. Scrutiny reports  
and//or 
recommendations 

 

L.1 All comments, conclusions and recommendations to the Responsible 
Person, GAC and/or Cabinet (referred to in this part of the Protocol as the 
‘relevant body’ will be accompanied by a Scrutiny Report prepared by the 
Committee Co-ordinator, in consultation with the appropriate Officer and the 
Committee Chairman under the existing rules for the preparation of 
committee reports. 
 

L.2 The Scrutiny Report will include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter scrutinised; 
(b) a summary of the evidence considered; 
(c) a list of the participants involved in the scrutiny exercise; 
(d) any recommendations on the matter scrutinised, including where 

applicable, an indication of the costs associated with implementing the 
recommendations; 

(e) a summary of the views of Members dissenting from the majority 
recommendation(s); 

(f)  the mechanism for monitoring progress in implementing the 
recommendation(s). 

 

Page 56Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

17 

  
L.3 All motions (whether passed, rejected, opposed etc.) by the Committee will 

be detailed in the Scrutiny Report. 
 

L.4 The Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations will be published and sent to 
the link officer of the relevant body. 
 

L.5 Where requested by the Committee, a ‘relevant body’ is under an  obligation 
in accordance with section H of this Protocol to consider the Scrutiny Report 
and/or recommendations and respond to the Committee within 28 days (or 
as soon as reasonably possible) of the date of the Scrutiny Report, indicating 
what (if any) action the body proposes to take.  
 

L.6 The Committee Chairman, may at the request of the ‘relevant body’, attend 
its meeting and present the Scrutiny Report and answer questions. 
 

L.7 If in disagreement with the decision of the Committee, any Councillor(s) who 
expresses a minority view, may through the Committee Chairman, refer a 
'minority view' report to the ‘relevant body’ for consideration and provided 
they do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in the 
matter under discussion, the Councillor may be requested to attend the 
body’s meeting and present their views and answer questions.   
 

L.8 If at all possible, Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations should be 
included on the agenda of the next available meeting of the ‘relevant body’ 
unless the matter which is the subject of the Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations is scheduled to be considered by the ‘relevant body’ within 
a period of four weeks from the date the Committee issues the Scrutiny 
Report and/or recommendations.  In such circumstances, the Committee's 
Scrutiny Report/recommendations will be considered by the ‘relevant body’ 
in the context of their deliberations on the substantive item on the body’s 
agenda. 
 

L.9 Only one Scrutiny Report per meeting of the ‘relevant body’ may be 
submitted by the Committee for consideration. 
 

L.10 Following receipt of the ‘relevant body’s’ response, the Committee may, by 
motion, move 'that the matter be referred back to the [named] ‘relevant body' 
either 'for further information' or 'for further consideration' or as the case may 
be, with an instruction that some specified action be taken or that the 
Committee considers that no further action is necessary. 
 

  
L.11 Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations to the GAC will be copied to the 

Cabinet Chairman.  The GAC will not consider a Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations until the Cabinet has had the opportunity to comment. 
 

L.12 Local ward Members and other non - executive Councillors will have the 
opportunity at GAC meetings, to raise issues either through questions, 
motions or through policy and other debates.  
 

  

Page 57 Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

18 

M. Cabinet Key  
Decisions 

Where the Cabinet has decided not to include a particular decision in a 
Regulation 9 Notice, but the Committee believes that it should have been 
included, the Committee may require the Cabinet to make a report on the 
decision to the GAC in accordance with Standing Order 54(9).  The 
Committee's consideration of any such matter will be in public, but subject to 
the rules on confidential and exempt information. 
 

  

N. Monitoring Officer 
reports  

The Committee may consider whether it would be appropriate, following 
receipt of a Monitoring Officer report to the Cabinet (and copied to all 
Members of the Council), to hold a short enquiry into the matter which is the 
subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it and to 
recommend accordingly to the Cabinet. 
 

  

P. Consideration of  
items at meetings 

 

P.1 Without prejudice to the rules detailed in Standing Orders on the 
consideration of urgent items, items will not be considered at a meeting of 
the Committee unless included on the agenda for the meeting.  The order 
of business will be as set out in Standing Order 58(10)(a)(i) to and including 
(iii) and the business as otherwise set out in the agenda in accordance with 
Standing Order 58(10)(a)(iv) will be in the order of: 
 

  Call – in; 
 

  decisions and/or actions of the Council, Cabinet and Officers; local 
health service body, Kent County Council; 

 
  local improvement targets; 

 
  MAA economic strategy action plans; 

 
  Draw downs; 

 
  CCfA; 

 
  Key Decisions; 

 
  any other local government matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s 

functions; 
 

  Officer decisions pursuant to Standing Order 38 (Delegation of Urgent 
and Routine Matters); 

 
  Minority member business; 

 
  Scrutiny Committee member business; 

 
  Monitoring progress of agreed actions; 

 
  Members’ Information Bulletin.  

 

Page 58Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

19 

Q.2 The order of business may be altered by the Committee in accordance with 
the rules detailed in Standing Order 58(10)(b). 
 

Q.3 Cabinet decisions and Officer decisions under Standing Order 38 
(Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters) and under the Scheme of 
Delegations to Officers, cannot be reversed or amended. 
 

Q.4 Voting Committee members have a right of access to exempt or confidential 
information considered by the Cabinet, but only if it is relevant to an issue(s) 
before the Committee (Standing Order 51(4)). 
 

Q.5 In exercising its powers, the Committee must respect, support and not 
compromise the duties and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards and 
Panels of the Council. If a scrutiny investigation reveals potential disciplinary 
and probity issues, the Committee will refer the matter to the relevant 
Director. 
 

Q.6 Litigation proceedings by or against the Council must not be prejudiced by 
any scrutiny investigation.  In the circumstances, it may be necessary to 
defer further consideration of the matter until the proceedings have been 
dispensed with. 
 

Q.7 Consultation undertaken by the Committee will not compromise/prejudice 
consultations undertaken by any other Committee/Board of the Council.  
 

  

R. Conduct of  
meetings 

  
 

R.1 Meetings will be open to the public and the press unless confidential and/or 
exempt information is being considered.  The Access to Information 
Procedure Rules detailed in Standing Orders will apply. 
 

R.2 The access to information provisions relating to access to and inspection of 
agenda and connected reports and minutes as detailed in Standing Orders 
will apply. 
 

R.3 Minutes will be drawn up and recorded in accordance with the rules detailed 
in Standing Order 15. 
 

S. Task groups/ 
informal Member  
working group 

 

S.1 Task groups (or informal Member working groups) may be appointed at any 
time by the Committee to examine specific issues in detail.  Task groups will 
be time limited and will tend to work more flexibly and informally. 
 

S.2 The Committee may appoint any of its Members to work informally with other 
bodies or authorities etc., particularly in relation to external or cross-authority 
scrutiny matters, where this will contribute to the Committee’s functions. 
 

Page 59 Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

20 

S.3 Whilst a task group cannot substitute for the Committee or exercise the 
formal powers associated respectively with overview and scrutiny (which is 
the preserve of the Committee and its sub-committees), the task group may 
contribute to or inform the overview or scrutiny process. 
 

S.4 Task groups will be made up of no less than 3 Committee members. The 
political balance rules need not apply. 
 

S.5 Because of the relative informality of task group meetings, and the evidence 
gathering nature of much of the discussion, chairing the meetings will involve 
different skills from those required by traditional committee meetings.  The 
task group Chairman will need to be sure that all task group members are 
clear about the purpose of the meeting and are given the opportunity to 
pursue a line of questioning – via a number of supplementary questions if 
necessary. 
 

S.6 The task group may obtain information through different media, including 
face-to-face interviews; questionnaires; focus groups; site visits; reports; 
and written submissions from participants. 

 
S.7 Participants will be offered the opportunity to comment on the accuracy of 

the record of their attendance.  
 

S.8 Once the evidence is taken, the Committee Co-ordinator will draft a report 
and recommendations to reflect the preliminary views of the task group.  The 
draft report and recommendations will be agreed by the task group 
Chairman before it is circulated to the Cabinet Chairman and the relevant 
Director for comment. 
 

S.9 The Committee will consider the task group’s report and/or 
recommendations and any comments from the Cabinet Chairman and/or 
relevant Director. 
 

S.10 The Committee will refer the task group’s report and/or recommendations to 
the relevant body i.e. Kent County Council, Responsible Person, GAC 
and/or Cabinet with a note of the debate and any changes arising from the 
debate. 
 

S.11 The Committee may refer the issue back to the task group for further 
consideration. 
 

T. Sub-committees  
T.1 The Committee may appoint sub-committees in accordance with the rules 

detailed in Standing Order 58(1)(4) and may delegate any of its functions to 
its sub-committees. 

 
T.2 Sub-committees may exercise the formal powers associated respectively 

with the scrutiny function. 
 

  
 

Page 60Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

21 

U. Monitoring agreed 
actions 

 

U.1 Agreed actions will form the basis against which performance of the Council, 
Cabinet etc. will be measured.  Progress against action plans will be 
monitored through Covalent [the Council’s performance management 
system] and reported to the Committee annually. 
 

U.2 Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations have 
been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be re-
addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

  
V. Declarations of  
interest 

 

V.1 Elected Councillors and voting co-optees are subject to the [Member] Code 
of Conduct. 
 

V.2 Representatives from the responsible authorities, co-operating body and 
other partner organisations are subject to their respective professional codes 
of conduct.  
 

V.3 Participants who are not bound by codes of conduct will be subject to the 
Nolan principles of transparency and accountability. 
 

V.4 All participants (including Council Officers) summoned or invited to attend 
Committee meetings, will declare any interests and the nature of the 
interests at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interests become 
apparent to them.  
 

V.5 No Committee members may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which 
they have been directly involved. 

 
V.6 With the exception of Cabinet members who are required to attend the 

Committee to give evidence in accordance with section D of this Protocol, 
any Member at the meeting (not restricted to members of the Committee) 
with a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in a matter, may 
not take part in the discussion or remain in the meeting room or public gallery 
to observe the vote on the matter. 
 

  

Page 61 Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

22 

W. Regulatory bodies  
W.1 The Council discharges a number of regulatory functions such as 

development control, licensing and other quasi-judicial functions, which 
cannot be the responsibility of the Cabinet. 
 

W.2 The Committee will not scrutinise individual decisions made by the 
Committees, Boards and Panels entrusted to discharge the Council’s 
regulatory functions (the Regulatory Bodies).  Scrutiny of decisions of 
Regulatory Bodies is clearly not an alternative to normal appeals 
procedures.  However, the Committee may make reports and/or 
recommendations to the GAC relating to the discharge of any Regulatory 
Body’s functions. 
 

W.3 Scrutiny of the discharge of a Regulatory Body’s functions will be restricted 
to one per Committee meeting on notice by the Committee Chairman and 
the Shadow Chairman.  The rules detailed in section A. of this Protocol will 
apply.  
 

  

X. Review of this 
Protocol 

This Protocol will be reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, if 
experience, circumstances and legislation highlight that amendments are 
required. 
 

  
 
 

Page 62Agenda Item 12



13 April 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

23 

           ANNEX 1 
 
COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (CCfA) FLOWCHART 
 
CCfA request – local residents have concerns about significant and persistent problems in their area – they approach the local ward 
Member - local ward Member may also on their initiative, initiate a CCfA and gather support from their local community 
 
 
First level response 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
Second level response 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Third level response 
 
 
 
  
 
 
Fourth level response 
 
  
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
Fifth level response 
 
 
  
 

In consultation with relevant Director, local ward Member considers 
whether to agree to champion or reject the CCfA - Log request

Concern not resolved – as last resort, concern referred to 
Scrutiny Committee  

Scrutiny Committee rejects CCFA (see Committee’s 
Protocol for procedure) Scrutiny Committee accepts CCfA and considers 

issue in accordance with Committee’s Protocol

Scrutiny Committee compiles report and 
recommendations to Cabinet/GAC, local health 
service body, KCC etc. (refer to Committee’s 
Protocol)

Local ward Member notified 
with written reasons

Cabinet/GAC, NHS body and KCC etc. consider 
recommendations and respond within 2 months, 
setting out reasons for any inaction

Scrutiny Committee considers and publishes 
responses to scrutiny recommendations Feedback to local ward Member 

Before agreeing, Director to 
undertake screening/filter 
checks (section 6 of Guide)

Refuse to champion  and 
provide constituent/local ward 
Member with written reasons for 
refusal

Agree to champion

First attempt to resolve the concerns informally in consultation 
with relevant parties e.g. Lead Member, CDRP etc. (section 11 
of Guide) – Log attempt to resolve Concern resolved 

Page 63 Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64



APPENDIX C 
D A R T F O R D   B O R O U G H   C O U N C I L 

ANNUAL MEETING 
11 May 2022 

 
STANDING COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS 

OF THE COUNCIL 
 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of 
Reference] 
 
Chairman: To be elected by the Committee at its first meeting drawn 

from non-Administration Councillors on the Committee 
 
Vice-Chairman: Councillor D T Nicklen 
Membership:  Councillors A E D Barham, E H Ben Moussa, J Burrell,  

S P Butterfill, R M Currans, P Cutler, L H K Edie, A Gaskin, 
B Garden, G R Holt , V Oguntope, M B Kelly,  
A J Oakley-Dow, E E Palmer, D J Reynolds, A S Sandhu 
MBE and Mrs R F Storey.  

 
 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE: 
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS: 
 
1. To perform the scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council within the guidelines detailed in 

the Committee's Protocol and specifically, the following overarching principles: 
 

The scrutiny of any matter: 
 

(a) relating to the provision of and/or delivery of  services to the local community; 
(b) in which the Council has an interest, subject to the Council being in a position to 

reasonably influence the outcome for the benefit of the local community; 
(c) which has an adverse impact on the delivery of Council services. 

 
2. To submit reports to the Council on the following; 
 

(a) any Cabinet decision which is likely to give rise to expenditure or savings above such 
thresholds as agreed by the Council; 

 
(b)  a Cabinet decision which is likely to have a significant impact on two or more Wards; 
 
(c) a non-urgent departure decision(s) which is; 

 
(i) a Cabinet decision(s) (not yet implemented) which is contrary to the policy 

framework/budget; 
 
 (ii) a Cabinet decision(s) (which has been implemented) and which is considered to 

be contrary to the policy framework/budget). 

Page 65 Agenda Item 12



NB: The Council has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet decision 
unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly consistent with the budget 
or policy framework approved/adopted by the Council.  

3. To appoint in accordance with Standing Order 58(4) such sub-committee(s) as the 
Committee considers appropriate to fulfil the scrutiny functions of the Committee. 

 
4. To hold the Cabinet to account for the discharge of its executive functions by scrutinising 

decisions proposed and/or action to be taken in accordance with the Call-in mechanism 
detailed in the Committee's Protocol. 

 
5. To hold the Cabinet to account for the discharge of its executive functions by scrutinising 

decisions after implementation i.e. post decision scrutiny, in accordance with the 
Committee's Protocol for the following purposes only: 

 
(a) to seek more understanding of the decision and its implications; 

 
(b) to question the soundness of the decision; 

 
(c) to identify the need for Council policies to guide delegated decisions; 

 
(d) to examine the effect and outcomes of the decision e.g. enquire into grants awarded 

by the Cabinet to voluntary organisations in the Borough to see how effectively 
expenditure has been targeted; 

 
(e) to make recommendations, including proposals for changes to policies or practices, 

to the Cabinet. 
 

NB: A decision(s) may only be scrutinised once. 
 
6. To scrutinise the discharge of any other functions of the Council in accordance with the 

mechanism(s) detailed in the Committee's Protocol. 
 
7. To seek comments from other Committees/Boards in order to obtain a balanced view of 

the effects of Council policy and Cabinet decisions. 
 
8. Where appropriate, and as part of the community consultation process, to seek input from 

Councillors (including Members of the Cabinet), Officers, other interested stakeholders 
and organisations and by drawing on the knowledge of constituents’ views. 

 
9. To receive finalised documents relating to a key decision(s) in the Cabinet's forward plan. 
 
10. To scrutinise Cabinet forward plans with a view to deciding which, if any, of the forthcoming 

Cabinet decisions the Committee wishes to enquire into. 
 
11. To report annually to the Council on the work of the Committee. 
 
12. To consider Monitoring Officer reports about lawfulness or maladministration, which relate 

to Cabinet functions and consider whether to hold a short enquiry into the matter the 
subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it. 

 
13. To approve an annual scrutiny work programme in accordance with Standing Order 58(8) 

including the programme of any sub-committee appointed by the Committee to ensure that 
there is efficient use of the Committee's (sub-committee's) time and that the potential for 
duplication of effort is minimised. 

Page 66Agenda Item 12



14. Health Scrutiny Functions 
 

To scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the health 
service in the Borough of Dartford, in accordance with the Local Authority (Public Health, 
Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. 

 
15. Discussion/Consultation Papers 
 

To respond to discussion/consultation papers relating to matters connected/associated 
with the functions of the Committee (i.e. scrutiny) in accordance with the procedure set out 
in Consultation/Discussion Papers Protocol. 

 
16. Councillor Calls for Action 

 
Subject to the ‘excluded matters’ rule referred to in the Committee’s Protocol, to consider 
any local government matter referred to the Committee by a local ward Member, under the 
Councillor Call for Action provisions in the Committee’s Protocol.  
 
NB: the matter must be a genuine, significant and persistent community concern referred 
to the Committee as a last resort, because the usual channels for raising the concern e.g. 
Council Officers, Cabinet, partner organisations etc. have been unsuccessful.   
 

 

Page 67 Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 68



 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 

10 October 2022 

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22 

 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 To note the work carried out by the Crime and Disorder (Overview and 

Scrutiny) Committee during the last municipal year. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the Annual Report of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee 2021-22 be noted. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. In accordance with the Terms of Reference of the Committee, the 
Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee Annual Report 
2021-22 is attached as Appendix A for consideration. 

 
3.2. The Committee considered the report at its meeting held on 27 July 

2022 and recommended that it be submitted to the next meeting of the 
GAC for consideration.   

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Not applicable. 
 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 
Legal Implications None  
Staffing Implications None 
Administrative Implications None  
Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

No implications 

Crime and Disorder Duty No implications 
Climate Impact 
Assessment 

No impact 

 
  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable. 
 

Page 69 Agenda Item 13



 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 

10 October 2022 

7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee 
Annual Report 2021-22 and its appendices. 

 

Page 70Agenda Item 13



 
GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE COUNCIL 

10 October 2022 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents consulted Date / 

File Ref 
Report Author Section and 

Directorate 
Exempt 
Information 
Category 
 

Crime and Disorder 
(Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee Agenda and 
Minutes (2021-22) 

 Alan Twyman 
Democratic Services 
Manager 
 

Democratic 
Services 
 

N/A 

Page 71 Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 72



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW and SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE 

27 July 2022
Appendix A 

 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22 

 
 
1. Summary 
 

To consider a report on the work carried out by the Crime and Disorder (Overview 
and Scrutiny) Committee during the preceding 2021-22 municipal year. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

That, subject to any amendments proposed by Members, the draft annual report 
on the Committee’s work in the period under review (attached as Appendix A to 
this report), be approved and submitted to the General Assembly of the Council. 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1. In accordance with its Protocol, the Committee is required to report annually 

to the General Assembly of the Council (GAC) on the work it has undertaken 
during the preceding municipal cycle.  

3.2. A draft annual report detailing the work of the Committee during the 2021-22 
municipal cycle is attached at Appendix A to this report for Members’ 
consideration, prior to submission to the GAC 

3.3. The Committee was appointed by the GAC in October 2009 to hold the 
Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (D&G CSP) to 
account for its performance, together with those of its statutory partner 
organisations. 

3.4. In October 2020, the D&G CSP was dissolved and each Council formed 
separate CSPs, which retained the same statutory partners as the previous 
joint body.  

3.5. Revised Terms of Reference (ToRs) for the new single Dartford CSP were 
submitted to the Committee in February 2021 [Min. No.52 refers], and most 
recently confirmed at Annual Council on 11 May 2022 [Appendix B attached 
refers]. 

3.6. The Committee’s Protocol and Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) 
documents were also updated to reflect the formation of the new single 
Dartford CSP in January 2021 and the appointment of a new Director of 
Housing & Public Protection in May 2021 [Min. No.11 refers], and are 
attached as Appendices C and D respectively to this report.  
 

4.  Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
The work of the Committee supports the aim of creating safer communities 
and a safer Borough in which to live, work and socialise. 

Page 73 Agenda Item 13



CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW and SCRUTINY) 
COMMITTEE 

27 July 2022
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 
Public Sector Equality Duty None  
Climate Impact Assessment None 
Legal Implications None  
Staffing Implications None 
Administrative Implications None  
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 
 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
Not applicable. 
 

7. Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Crime and Disorder (O&S) Committee draft Annual Report for the 
2021-22 municipal year 
Appendix B: Committee Terms of Reference (May 2022) 
Appendix C: Terms of Reference for the Dartford Community Safety 
Partnership (January 2021) 
Appendix D: Committee Protocol (July 2021) 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
Crime and Disorder (O&S) 
Protocol, MoU with Dartford 
CSP, Committee ToRs, 
Committee Annual Report 
2020/21, Committee Agendas 
and Minutes dated July 2021 
and February 2022  

July 2022 David Hook 
  
 

Democratic 
Services/ 
Corporate 
Services 

 

N/A 

 
 

Page 74Agenda Item 13



         APPENDIX A

          
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

          
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

CRIME & DISORDER (O & S)        
COMMITTEE 

 
 
 

Draft Annual Report 2021-22 Municipal Year 
 
      

Page 75 Agenda Item 13



         APPENDIX A

Introduction and Background 
 
 
The Council has a legal duty under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to carry out all of its 
various functions with regard to the need to prevent crime and disorder and reduce re-
offending in its area. ‘Crime and Disorder’ is defined as including forms of crime and disorder 
that involve anti-social behaviour (ASB) or other behaviour adversely affecting the local 
environment or the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances. 
 

  The Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee was appointed by the General 
Assembly of the Council (GAC) in October 2009 under the provisions of the Police and Justice 
Act 2006 and the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, and in direct 
response to the provisions of the subsequent Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2009. The 2006 and 2007 Acts and the 2009 Regulations granted the Council 
the power to scrutinise both crime and disorder matters and hold the Dartford and Gravesham 
Community Safety Partnership (D&G CSP) together with its statutory partner organisations 
to account for their performances. 
 
In October 2020 the D&G  CSP was dissolved and two separate district specific CSPs formed 
by Dartford and Gravesham Councils, which retained the same statutory partnership bodies 
as the previous joint CSP. Terms of Reference (ToRs) for the new single DCSP were 
submitted to Members in February 2021 [Min. No.52 refers] and are attached at Appendix B 
to this report. Revised Committee Protocol and Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) 
documents reflecting the new directorate structure of Housing and Public Protection were 
submitted to Members in July 2021 [Min. No. 11 refers] and subsequently approved by the 
GAC, and are submitted at Appendices C and D respectively to this report.   
 
Committee Work Programme (WP) 
 
The Committee’s Work Programme for the 2021-22 municipal cycle and beyond is set out in 
the rolling Work Plan (WP) detailed below, which incorporates amendments agreed by 
Members during the period under review, including the dissolution of the joint D & G CSP in 
October 2020 and the formation of the new single DCSP from January 2021.   
 
The WP also reflects the increasing impact of the Coronavirus pandemic in the period under 
review, on the ability of the CSP and its partner agencies to effectively deliver its crime and 
disorder remit, and the measures taken by the Partnership collectively and on an individual 
agency basis, to combat the effects of COVID in terms of combating crime and disorder.   
 
In accordance with its Protocol, the Committee is required to report annually to the GAC, on 
the work it has undertaken in the preceding municipal year. This report provides a summary 
of the work undertaken by the Committee during the 2021-22 municipal year, with 
comprehensive details of the Committee’s work and discussions in the period under review, 
set out in the minutes of its meetings as published in full on the Council’s website.  
 
The work carried out by the Committee compliments the work undertaken by the Scrutiny and 
Policy Overview Committees, as defined in their respective Terms of Reference (ToRs) and 
Protocols, and detailed in their respective annual Work Plans, to avoid any duplication of effort 
and resources. 
 
 
 
 

Page 76Agenda Item 13



         APPENDIX A

CRIME & DISORDER (O&S) COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  
 
In accordance with its Protocol the Committee is required to consider on a statutory basis 
each year:  
 

 The Dartford [formally Dartford & Gravesham] Community Safety Partnership’s 
(CSP’s) Strategic Assessment document;  

 The CSP’s projected Community Safety Strategy or the annual Strategy Refresh 
document (as appropriate). 
 

The Committee also considers standard items as part of its annual published Work Plan (WP) 
including: 
 

 The Dartford [formally D&G] CSP’s mid-year Performance Report; 
 the Council’s Dartford Town against Crime (DTAC) annual update report; 
 Minutes of the Kent & Medway Police & Crime Panel meetings; 
 Regulation 9 Notice [Council’s Forward Plan]  

 
In addition, on a discretionary basis with the prior agreement of CSP partners, the 
Committee reviews on a rolling basis the contributions made by individual CSP partner 
organisations to the overall aims of the DCSP.  
 
The Committee met twice during the period under review on 28 July 2021 (Summer Meeting) 
and 9 February 2022 (Winter Meeting). Members agreed an initial rolling Work Plan in July 
2021 [see table below] to be reviewed at the next and subsequent meetings in the cycle. 
 

Rolling Work Plan 2021-22 and Beyond 
 
Meeting Work Plan Items 
Summer 
2021 
(July)   

DTAC Annual Update 
PCP Update 
Dartford CSP 
Performance report 
Dartford CSP 2021 
Refresh  

Dartford CSP ToRs & 
Protocol 
Committee A.R. 
2020-21 

2021-22 WP review 
 
Regulation 9 Notice 

Winter 2022 
(February) 
 

Dartford CSP 
Strategic Assessment 
& Strategy Update 

 PCP Update 
DCSP Performance & 
Progress Update 
(August-September 
2021) 

Draft WP for 2022-23  
 
Regulation 9 Notice 
DCSP Performance 
report [EXEMPT] 
 

Summer 
2023 (July) 

 
TO BE AGREED 

  

Winter 2024 
(February) 

 
TO BE AGREED 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 77 Agenda Item 13



         APPENDIX A

 
Draw-Downs 
 
In addition to the consideration of statutory and discretionary Work Plan reports under the 
terms of its Protocol, Members may also ‘draw-down’ topics on an ad-hoc basis with the 
agreement of the Chairman, for approval by the Director of Housing and Public Protection. 
No items were drawn-down in the 2021-22 municipal cycle. 
 
 

 
Work Plan Items considered during the 2021-22 Municipal Year 

 
Summer Meeting - 28 July 2021 
 
Item 1: Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP) – Update 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Safety [attending by standing invitation as 
Dartford’s PCP rep.], reminded Members that the PCP was the Kent-wide body administered 
by Kent County Council which held the Kent & Medway Police and Crime Commissioner 
(PCC) to account. The Panel comprised 1 Member from each Kent District [Cllr. Wells for 
DBC], 1 Member from KCC, 1 Member from Medway Council, and 2 Independent Members.  
 
The Panel’s terms of reference (ToRs) were to review all aspects of the PCC’s work and to 
report on the Commissioner’s actions and decisions including the approval of the police 
precept within the Council Tax -  i.e. the annual sum of money the Commissioner proposed 
be raised to spend on policing in Kent; to review the PCC’s proposals for the appointments of 
the Kent & Medway Chief Constable, Chief Executive and Chief Finance Officer; and to review 
the PCC’s Police and Crime Plan and Annual Report documents. 
 
In the absence of published minutes for the PCP meeting held on 17 June 2021, the Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder advised that the Panel had discussed the following principal points: 
 

 The Kent Police Service Complaints Process – the change in the recording process 
had resulted in an increased work load for Complaints Staff;  

 The Panel  had received an update from Mr Scott the Kent Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) on his new Plan for the ensuing cycle; 

 Various Crime Prevention Initiatives [EXEMPT]; 
 An update on the extension of the Police Cadet scheme in Kent, including a new 

mooted cadre in Dartford which it was hoped would lead to greater positive interaction 
between the KPS and youth of all ages; 

 Additional Police Resources were announced by the PCC including funding for 
additional Police Staff across Kent; 

 Diversity and Inclusiveness - the KPS had recognised that its staff profile needed to 
more fully represent the profile of the communities that it served, as highlighted by 
recent Census figures. 

 Violence against Women 
 Additional Court Facilities were to be provided for Kent at Maidstone; 
 Action to address increased mis-use of E–scooters. 

 
 

Page 78Agenda Item 13



         APPENDIX A

Item 2: Dartford Town against Crime (DTAC) Scheme Annual Report for the period 
July 2021 to July 2022 
 
Members considered the standard annual report from the DTAC Intelligence Manager (DIM), 
which set out the background to the existing DTAC Scheme operation and its key aims, listed 
the achievements in the period under review, and set out proposals for the Scheme in the 
ensuing 2021-22 cycle. 
 
Members were advised that following its re-launch in 2020 to comply with GDPR (Government 
Data Protection Regulations) legislation, DTAC membership was returning to pre-COVID 
levels following a recruitment campaign, and had now attained national accreditation under 
the Police Crime Initiative Scheme, a prodigious national qualification.  
 
The ‘Shop Safe Stay Safe’ scheme to safeguard registered elderly and vulnerable adults 
visiting the Town Centre with a safe place to go to in times of emergency, upset or illness, 
continued to operate effectively via the Orchard Centre Security team, the CSU team and the 
CCTV operators at the Civic Centre. Registered members of the Scheme received a personal 
ID card and key ring and the DTAC team recorded any existing medical conditions and a 
nominated contact in cases of emergency.   
 
The DIM confirmed in response to Member’s specific questions that she was in consultation 
with retailers across Dartford in an effort to expand DTAC membership further, despite 
encountering resistance in Temple Hill. The current DTAC radio system covered the whole 
Borough and it was hoped that control of the system for monitoring purposes would be 
returned to the Council’s CCTV system shortly once COVID measures had receded. The 
national accreditation of the current DTAC scheme would be re-assessed in two years’ time. 
 
Members expressed their thanks to the DIM for her report and detailed presentation, and 
resolved to note the achievements of the Scheme in Dartford for the period July 2021 to July 
2022. 
 
 
Item 3: Dartford CSP Community Safety Strategy (2019-22) 2021 Refresh 
 
Members considered a report from the Community Safety Manager (CSM) which enclosed at  
Appendix A, the Dartford CSP’s Community Safety Strategy (2019-22) 2021 Refresh report, 
which had been approved by the Dartford Community Safety Partnership (DCSP), at its  
meeting on 24 March 2021. The covering report reminded the Committee that legislation 
required each CSP to produce a crime and disorder Strategy which ran for 3 years, with an 
annual Refresh document produced in each intervening year, to help guide the work of all 
CSP partner agencies, to ensure that their collective focus remained on the CSP’s agreed 
Priorities. The report also confirmed that the priorities identified in the 2019-22 Strategy for 
the former joint D&G CSP remained unchanged for the new DCSP body, and that the 2021 
Refresh document reflected that reality in a Dartford-centric context. 
 
Members resolved to note that the priorities contained in the existing 2019-22 Strategy and 
2021 Refresh documents remained relevant to Dartford, and that a new 2022-25 Strategy 
Document for the DCSP would be prepared for presentation to the DCSP and noting by the 
Committee in July 2022. 
 
Item4: Revised Committee Protocol and Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with 
Dartford Community Safety Partnership (DCSP) 
 

Page 79 Agenda Item 13



         APPENDIX A

Members resolved to note the new documents which had been updated to reflect the 
formation of a new single Dartford Community Safety Partnership, and the appointment of a 
new Director of Housing and Public Protection earlier in the year. 
 
Item 5: Dartford CSP Quarterly Performance Report (July 2021)  
 
Members considered a report on the performance of the DCSP in the three month period 
ending 30 April 2021 in closed session, under an ‘obligation of confidentiality’ to protect the 
source material in the report that had been provided by individual DCSP partner agencies. 
The data recorded levels of crime and anti-social behaviour recorded by Kent Police in the 
period February-April 2021 and compared it to similar date for the corresponding period in 
2020. In addition to the statistical data presented by Kent Police and Partner DCSP agencies, 
the Performance report also detailed key work undertaken [or planned] to address the 
Strategic priorities within the DCSP’s existing 2019-22 Strategy. 
 
Members congratulated the DCSP as a whole in the reduction in comparative crime figures 
for the period under review, compared to the corresponding period in 2020 but expressed 
their concern on the disparity with other areas in Kent where crime was lower, and the fact 
that the confidential nature of the proceedings did not allow them to pass details of relative 
‘success stories’ in the period under review onto residents.  
 
The District Commander, Kent Police, advised Members that in recent months some policing 
initiatives had improved Dartford’s position as one of the most troubled areas in Kent. 
However, the Borough’s unique geographical location adjoining London and metropolitan 
Essex, enabled criminals to easily migrate into Dartford commit crimes and leave the area, 
which made detection and apprehension extremely difficult. This unique problem did not affect 
more rural areas of Kent. 
 
Members thanked the Community Safety Manager for his report and the Council’s CSU and 
Kent Police Officers for their efforts to reduce levels of crime and anti-social behaviour on 
behalf of Dartford residents in the period under review, and asked that Officers examine ways 
to place the data contained in the report in the public domain to encourage and re-assure 
residents.   
 
Item 6: Committee Annual Report for preceding 2020-21 Municipal Year 
 
Members resolved to note the annual report and appendices recording the work undertaken 
by the Committee in the previous 2020-21 municipal year as presented for presentation to 
the General Assembly of the Council.  
 
 
Winter Meeting – 9 February 2022 
 
Item 1: Chairman’s Update 
 
The Chairman noted the sad passing of Cllr. Ann Allen MBE, since the last meeting of the 
Committee and advised that her attendance as Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Youth would be 
subsumed by Cllr. Wells as Cabinet Member for Community Safety going forward.  
 
He also advised Members that he had accompanied Kent Police Officers recently to crime 
‘hot-spots’ in the Borough which he had found instructive and as a consequence, proposed 
regular meetings by PCSOs with residents in their patrol area, including Bexley Heath which 

Page 80Agenda Item 13



         APPENDIX A

had suffered from a number of arson attacks at a private allotment site. A presentation by 
PCSO’s to the Committee covering their duties was another proposal to be considered. 
 
  
 
Item 2: Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP) Update 
 
Members received a verbal update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Safety, 
Cllr. Wells, in his role as Dartford representative on the PCP since he last updated the 
Committee on 28 July 2021 [Min. No. 8 refers]. Principal points made by the Police and 
Crime Commissioner (PCC) had included his proposals and priorities for his 2022-25 Police 
and Crime Plan, including an increase of Police Officer numbers to 2010 levels, and an 
increase in Kent Police Service budget of 4.6% in the forthcoming 2022-23 fiscal cycle to 
finance a number of proposals. Cllr. Wells had supported the proposed increase in funding 
as Dartford PCP rep. given the need to increase Kent Police officer numbers and increase 
public confidence in the Service as a whole. 
 
Item 3: Dartford Community Safety Partnership (DCSP) Strategic Assessment & 
Strategy Update 
 
The report from the Community Safety Manager (CSM) informed Members of changes to 
the rationale for compiling and submitting the Strategic Assessment for the newly formed 
DCSP, and the subsequent integration of the aims and priorities identified in the 2021 SA 
document into the new DCSP Strategy for 2022-2025 by April 2022. 
 
In previous years the SA for the former D&G CSP had been presented to the Committee in 
January, for integration into the existing Strategy or annual Strategy Refresh document by 
April. However, because the Dartford CSP was a new body, Dartford residents had to be 
consulted [via an on-line survey], for their views on what the DCSP’s Strategic Assessment 
should contain, prior to informing the new DCSP Strategy 2022-25 document. A further 
delay to that traditional time-line was that due to unforeseen circumstances, access to the 
comprehensive partnership data required by the districts to complete their SAs has been 
delayed, or yet to be produced.  
 
As a consequence, it was hoped to present a completed 2021 SA to the next meeting of the 
Dartford CSP at its meeting on 23 March 2022, and new 2022-25 DCSP Strategy document 
[informed by the 2021 SA], to the DCSP for approval in July 2022 and the Committee for 
comment later that same month. 
 
Members noted the explanation and future proposals. 
Item 4: DCSP Performance and Progress Report January 2022 
 
Members considered a report from the Community Safety Manager (CSM) which addressed 
the performance of the new DCSP in the period August to December 2021 which considered 
levels of crime and anti-social behaviour recorded by Kent Police Service (KPS) in the period 
under review, and drew comparisons with the same period in 2020.  
 
In addition to the statistics provided by KPS and CPS partner agencies, the report also 
provided details of key work and initiatives undertaken [or planned] that addressed the 4 (four) 
strategic priorities of the DCSP’s Community Safety Strategy: 
 
Violent Crime Including Domestic Abuse: Night Time Economy, Violence against Women 
and Girls, and a Knife Crime Initiative; 

Page 81 Agenda Item 13



         APPENDIX A

 
Persistent ASB and Environmental Crime: Community Triggers and Environmental 
Enforcement; 
 
Preventing Offending and Reducing Re-Offending: Dartford Town against Crime (DTAC), 
Criminal Behaviour Orders, Catalytic Converter Thefts; 
 
Protecting Vulnerable People and Strengthening Communities: Dartford Vulnerability 
and Contextual Safeguarding (DVACS) Meetings, Police Community Engagement, and the 
Mini Cadet Programme 
 
Following consideration of the report, Members expressed their concern at the rising levels 
of crime in the Borough (across several categories as reflected in the statistics), in comparison 
to levels of crime in the remainder of Kent. Members also noted that the rise in total recorded 
crime in Dartford, compared to universally falling rates of crime across Kent. 
 
Whilst noting Dartford’s unique geographical position in Kent next to the Metropolis with good 
road and rail access, plus a major retail complex within the Borough, both significant factors 
which attracted a high level of cross-border crime within Dartford’s statistics, the Committee 
considered these factors as historical challenges which should be met and effectively 
addressed.  
 
Members resolved to note the performance and progress report for the final quarter of the 
2021 calendar year and asked that Officers invite the North Kent Divisional Commander to 
the next meeting of the Committee to address the rising levels of crime in the Dartford.  
 
Item 5: Committee Work Programme & Plan for 2022-23 Municipal Year and Beyond 
 
Members noted the 2022-23 Work Plan [Appendix A to the report] and resolved to add an 
additional report from Officers regarding ‘Violence against Women and Girls’ to be presented 
at a future meeting of the Committee.  
 
Item 6: EXEMPT Appendix to DCSP Performance Report 
 
Members considered this EXEMPT material in closed session following the exclusion of the 
Public and Press.

Page 82Agenda Item 13



APPENDIX B 
D A R T F O R D   B O R O U G H   C O U N C I L 

ANNUAL MEETING 
11 May 2022 

 
STANDING COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS 

OF THE COUNCIL 
 

 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE  
 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of 
Reference] 
 
Chairman:  Councillor A S Sandhu MBE 
Vice-Chairman: Councillor T Oliver   
Membership:  Councillors E H Ben Moussa, B Garden, K J Grehan, P 

Harman, M B Kelly, J A Ozog, E E Palmer and D J Reynolds 
 
 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE  
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference] 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE: 
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS: 
 
General Provisions 
 
‘Crime and disorder’ is defined as including forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-social 
behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment or the misuse of drugs, 
alcohol and other substances. 
 
1. To review and scrutinise the discharge of the crime and disorder functions of the 

responsible authorities (local authorities, fire and rescue authorities, police authorities, the 
police, primary care trusts) which comprise the Dartford Community Safety Partnership 
(the CSP).as set out in these Terms of Reference. 

 
2. To review and scrutinise the discharge of any other local crime and disorder matter related 

to the Council’s crime and disorder functions. 
 
3. To make reports or recommendations as appropriate, to the GAC, Cabinet, the CSP or 

any one or more responsible authority etc. 
 
4. To review responses from and monitor the action (if any), taken by the CSP, an individual 

responsible authority, Officers, GAC, Cabinet etc. 
 
Overview Functions 
 
5. No less than once in every twelve month period, to review strategies in connection with 

the discharge by the CSP of its crime and disorder functions and make reports or 
recommendations in accordance with para. 3 above. 

  

Page 83 Agenda Item 13



 
Scrutiny Functions 
 
6. No less than once in every twelve month period, to scrutinise decisions made, or action 

taken, by the CSP and the Council of its crime and disorder functions and make reports or 
recommendations in accordance with para. 3 above. 

 
7. To consider any local crime and disorder matter referred to the Committee by a local ward 

Member under the Councillor Call for Action provisions referred to in the Committee’s 
Protocol. 

 
 
 

Page 84Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 1

 
 
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE PROTOCOL  
 
‘Crime and disorder’ is defined as including forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-social 
behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment or the misuse of drugs, alcohol 
and other substances. 
 
  
Introduction This Protocol recognises the division of executive and non-executive roles 

and responsibilities, the overview and scrutiny role performed by non-
executive Councillors and the part played by all Councillors in representing 
local communities. 
 

  
Terms of Reference To review and scrutinise, and make reports or recommendations, regarding 

the functioning of the responsible authorities which comprise the Dartford 
Community Safety Partnership (the CSP): 
 
Dartford Borough Council [a responsible authority] 
Kent Police [a responsible authority] 
Kent County Council [a responsible authority] 
Kent Fire and Rescue Service [a responsible authority] 
Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company [a 
responsible body]  
Kent and Medway Clinical Commissioning Group [a responsible authority] 
 

  
Guidelines (a) Terms of Reference agreed by the General Assembly of the 

 Council (the GAC); 
 (b) Standing Orders and Financial Regulations; 
 (c) Codes of Conduct; 
 (d) Secretary of State/Home Office guidance issued from time to 

 time. 
 

  
Committee 
accountability 

To the Council as the ultimate decision making body from which all of the 
other elements in the decision-making process derive their authority. 
 

  
Elected Member 
accountability 

Individual elected Members have a collective responsibility for the Council's 
functions.  This collective responsibility extends to a duty to ensure that the 
Council complies with the law and does not act unlawfully. 
 

  
Compliance 
principles 

The Committee will: 
 Comply with the Council's crime and disorder aims as stated from time 

to time in the Council's Strategic and Policy Framework; 
  Recognise the legitimate right of the Cabinet to provide political and 

operational leadership to the Council and will not attempt to usurp the 
power vested in the Cabinet by the GAC; 

  Recognise that Officers continue to owe a duty to all Members of the 
Council; 

Appendix C
Page 85 Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 2

  Guarantee the right of Officers to express their advice on matters 
within their areas of responsibility, particularly (but not exclusively) on 
technical professional issues.  Officers must not be pressurised to 
change their advice to suit political aspirations.  Questions to Officers 
must be within Officers' remit and will as far as possible be confined 
to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions 
within Officers' remit; 

  Will not criticise or adversely comment on any individual Officer by 
name; 

  Not attempt to thwart the Cabinet by engaging in vexatious or 
unnecessarily repetitive overview and scrutiny activities. 

 
Frequency of 
meetings 

No less than once in every twelve month period, the Committee will meet to 
review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken by the CSP and the 
responsible authorities (acting collectively or individually), in connection with 
their crime and disorder functions, as the Committee considers appropriate. 
 

Membership Committee membership cannot include any member of the Council’s 
Cabinet. 

  
The Overview and Scrutiny Process  

In accordance with its Terms of Reference, the Committee can only discharge overview and scruti
ns functions relating to crime and disorder/community safety. 

 
  
1.What may be 
scrutinised 

 

1.1 decisions and/or actions of the CSP and the responsible authorities (either 
collectively or individually); 
 

1.2 the CSP’s annual strategic assessment to inform the Community Safety 
Plan; 
 

1.3 the CSP’s partnership plan; 
 

1.4 Councillor Calls for Action (CCfAs); 
 

1.5 crime and disorder/community safety related local improvement targets;  
 

1.6 subject to section U. of this Protocol, any other local crime and disorder 
matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s crime and disorder/community 
safety functions; 
 

1.7 items related to crime and disorder/community safety referred to in the 
Members' Information Bulletin; 
 

 NB: Overview and scrutiny of the CSP’s crime and disorder functions will 
not focus on day to day operational performance, which is the proper 
concerns of managers of the responsible authorities. 

1.8 matters related to the systemic failure in the discharge of crime and disorder 
functions irrespective of the fact that there is a right of recourse to a review 
or right of appeal conferred by or under any enactment (see section E.3). 

  
  

Page 86Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 3

2.What may be 
reviewed 

 

2.1 The matters referred to in sections 1.1 – 1.3 and 1.6 – 1.8 of this Protocol. 
  
A.Draw downs Draw downs for the purposes of scrutinising/reviewing 

decisions/actions of the CSP, responsible authorities, Cabinet etc. 
and/or the scrutiny/review of the effects/outcomes of a decision post 
implementation 

A.1 For each meeting of the Committee: 

� through the Chairman of the Committee, up to two items in total for the 
Political Group on the Council forming the administration on the Council; 

 
 � through the Chairman of the Committee, up to two items in total for the 

Political Group on the Council forming the largest party in opposition on 
the Council; 

 
 � through the Chairman of the Committee, one item only for any other 

Political Groups on the Council, dealt with on a ‘first come first served 
basis’. 

 
 � In cases of genuine urgency, the Chairman may authorise more than the 

allocated number of draw downs per Political Group on the Council, 
referred to this section A.1   

 
A.2 Each Committee meeting may draw down for overview and scrutiny 

purposes, no more than five items in total.  These five items may comprise a 
combination of items relating respectively, to a Call-in, CCfA, the overview 
and scrutiny of decision(s)/actions of the CSP and the responsible authorities 
(either collectively or individually), Cabinet/Officers, local improvement 
targets etc.  Whatever combination is applied, the Committee is restricted to 
the overview and scrutiny of five items in total, per Committee meeting. 

 
 A.3 (a) A draw down(s) must be on written notice to Member Services by no 

later than noon on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear 
days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from 
midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on 
which the meeting is held). 

 (b) The need (if any) for participants (CSP representatives, Members, 
Officers, and other external participants) to appear before the 
Committee will be notified to Member Services by no later than noon on 
the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen 
weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight 
excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is 
held). 

 
A.4 Where the Committee wish to review/scrutinise an item for the purposes of 

examining the effect and outcomes of the CSP and/or the responsible 
authority, Cabinet etc. decision post implementation, drawing down the item 
may need to be delayed to a future date.  

 
  
 NB: The focus of the review/scrutiny in such circumstances will be 

concerned with the effects and outcomes of the decision whether or not 
reference was made to effects or outcomes (potential or perceived) in 
any background document before the Committee. 

 
  

Page 87 Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 4

A.5 
 

 

 

A.6 

 

When more than one Political Group on the Council notifies a draw down of 
the same item, the Political Group which first gave notice in accordance with 
section A.1 of this Protocol, will lead at the meeting, on the discussion of the 
item and the Chairman will exercise his/her discretion about the right of the 
Political Groups to sum up. 

The Director of Housing and Public Protection will make the final decision on 
the rejection of a draw down, with reasons recorded in writing.  In the 
absence of the Director of Housing and Public Protection, the Director of 
Growth and Community will make the final decision. 

 
 

B. Requests for 
information 

 

B.1 Any Committee member may make requests for information, on written 
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before the 
Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and the following will 
apply.  The request for information will: 

  detail the item(s) to be drawn down, supported by reasons for the draw 
down(s); 

 
  the nature of the information requested e.g. a full report from the CSP, 

background information, research, data, statistics, etc.; 
 

  if applicable, identify the need for participants (CSP representatives, 
Members, Officers and/or other external participants) to appear before 
the Committee (refer to the general principles on participation detailed in 
section D of this Protocol); 

 
  provide an indication if at all possible, of the questions and the likely topics 

to be raised on the item(s); 
 

  provide an indication if at all possible, of whether the request for 
information is for the purposes of informing the debate or for the purposes 
of putting questions to participants. 

B.2 On receipt of a request for information, Member Services will notify the 
Director of Housing and Public Protection and link officers of the CSP and 
responsible authorities. Where the request for information relates to a 
Cabinet decision/action, the Director of Housing and Public Protection and 
the Cabinet Chairman will be notified accordingly.  
 

B.3 Where information requested is readily available and routinely collected, it 
will be provided within 14 days of receipt of the request, save that if some or 
all the information cannot reasonable be provided within the 14 day period, 
the information will be provided as soon as reasonably possible and in any 
event, no later than 7 clear days’ (seven weekdays i.e. 7 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and 
the day on which the meeting is held).   

B.4 Information will be depersonalised, unless the identification of an individual 
is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the Committee to properly 
exercise its powers or disclosure is permitted by or under the Data Protection 
Act 2018.   

Page 88Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 5

 
B.5 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to prejudice legal 

proceedings or current or future operations of the CSP and the responsible 
authorities, whether acting collectively or individually. 

B.6 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to constitute a breach 
of confidence actionable by any person. 

B.7 Schedule 12A, Parts 1-3 of the Local Government Act 1972 as regards the 
categories of exempt information and reg.5 of the Local Authorities 
(Overview and Scrutiny Committees) (England) Regulations 2012 and 
Standing Order 46(2) as regards confidential information, will apply to the 
proceedings of the Committee. 

B.8 The overview and scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the 
receipt of information, particularly where requests for additional information 
are made or where the information requested is voluminous and/or where 
there are costs implications associated with providing the information.  In 
these circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly. 

B.9 To facilitate the overview and scrutiny process, the CSP and responsible 
authorities are under a duty to pro-actively provide information to the 
Committee on request (reg.4 of the Local Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees) (England) (Regulations 2012). 

 

C. Call-in of Cabinet 
decisions 
C.1 This Call-in procedure will be operated in such a way as not to have a 

concomitant negative effect on the efficiency of Cabinet decision-making. 
 
This Call-in procedure will only apply to Cabinet decisions/actions, subject 
to the restrictions/limitations detailed in sections C.8, C.9, C.11, C.13, C.15 
and C.16 of this Protocol. 
 

C.2 (a) Call-in will be by three Members of the Committee (involving 
representation of at least two political groups), in writing, to Member 
Services by no later than noon on the day before the  Cabinet meeting.  
Member Services will notify the Cabinet Chairman of the Call-in. 

 (b) Once a member of the Committee has signed a Call-in, he/she may not 
do so again until a period of six months has expired. 

 
C.3 A special meeting of the Committee may be called in accordance with the 

rules detailed in Standing Order 27 (Special Meetings of the Cabinet, 
Committees and Boards) and will be held before the next meeting of the 
Cabinet (Cabinet meetings are scheduled on a four weekly basis), with a 
view to reporting to the next Cabinet meeting. Where it is not possible for the 
Committee to report to the next Cabinet meeting, the Committee Chairman 
will consult with the Cabinet Chairman and agree a date for referring the Call-
in back to the Cabinet for consideration/reconsideration. 

Referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet will not be delayed by more than 4 
weeks from the date of the notice of Call-in. 

Page 89 Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 6

  
C.4 Once a Call-in has been effected, the Cabinet may at its discretion, either: 

 
 (a) defer consideration of the proposed decision and/or action (the Deferred 

Decision) to its next scheduled meeting or where it is not possible for 
the Committee to report to the next scheduled meeting of the Cabinet, 
defer consideration until receipt of the Committee's report; or 

 (b) take the decision and/or action which decision/action will stand as 
suspended (the Suspended Decision) until the next scheduled meeting 
of the Cabinet or where the Call-in is referred to the GAC by the 
Committee, until referred back to the Cabinet by the GAC for 
reconsideration. 

 
C.5 Following consideration of the Call-in, the Committee will, on a report (setting 

out the Committee's concerns, recommendations, conclusions, suggestions 
and/or comments), either refer the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision 
back to the Cabinet for consideration/reconsideration, or request a debate 
on the Call-in at the next ordinary meeting of the GAC, or if necessary, at an 
extraordinary meeting of the GAC, but subject to the rules detailed in 
Standing Order 1.(3) on the convening of extraordinary meetings. 

 
C.6 On receipt of the Committee's report: 

 
 (a) the Cabinet will consider/reconsider the Deferred Decision/ Suspended 

Decision and the contents of the Committee's report before coming to a 
final decision. Providing the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision is 
not contrary to the budget or policy framework, the Cabinet may or may 
not amend the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision before reaching 
a final decision and implementing it; or 

 (b) the GAC will consider the Call-in and may object to the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision in which case the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision will be referred back to the Cabinet (with 
the GAC's views) for consideration/reconsideration.  Unless the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision is contrary to the budget or 
policy framework, the Cabinet may choose whether to amend the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision or not before reaching a final 
decision and implementing it. 

 
 NB:  The GAC has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet 

decision unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly 
consistent with the budget or policy framework agreed/adopted by the 
Council. 

 
C.7 Following the Cabinet's consideration of a Deferred Decision or 

reconsideration of a Suspended Decision, the decisions(s) will take effect i.e. 
be implemented immediately. In addition, a Suspended Decision will become 
effective: 

Page 90Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 7

  
 (a) on the date of the GAC meeting where the Call-in has been referred to 

the GAC and the GAC does not object to the Suspended Decision 
and/or does not refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet. 

 
 (b) on the date of the Committee meeting, where the Committee does not 

refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet or to the GAC.  
 

C.8 A Call-in (i.e. the decision itself) cannot be the subject of further scrutiny after 
implementation, pursuant to the draw down mechanism detailed in section A 
of this Protocol. 

 
 NB: This restriction does not preclude a subsequent draw-down of the 

subject matter of the decision for purposes related for example, to topic 
scrutiny or reporting on matters of local concern. 

 
C.9 This Call-in procedure will not apply to urgent Cabinet decisions and/or action 

to be taken by the Cabinet which need to be implemented urgently.  The 
definition of 'urgency' means any matter of immediate urgency (i.e. where 
any delay likely to be caused by the Call-in would prejudice the Council's or 
the public's interest), making the prompt exercise of the powers of the 
Cabinet, in consultation with the Director of Housing and Public Protection 
desirable and/or necessary and which cannot await the next meeting of the 
Cabinet, or the next ordinary meeting of the GAC. 

 
 NB: The definition of 'urgency' as detailed above, excludes urgent key 

decisions under Standing Order 54(8) (Special Urgency) and urgent 
departure decisions under Standing Order 55(3) (Decisions outside the 
Budget or Policy Framework). 

 
C.10 Cabinet decisions and/or actions to be taken which are not subject to Call-in 

will take effect, i.e. be implemented immediately. 
 

C.11 Subject to the draw down rules in section A.2 of this Protocol, the Committee 
may only Call-in two decisions per three-month period.   

 
C.12 Key decisions of Officers, area committees/joint arrangements (referred to in 

the Cabinet's Forward Plan) may be subject to individual Call-in in 
accordance with the procedure detailed in this Protocol. 

 
C.13 Call-in will not apply to urgent departure decisions (refer to Standing Order 

55(3)) and urgent key decisions (refer to Standing Order 54(8)). 
 

C.14 The rules detailed in sections B and D of this Protocol will apply to an 
individual Call-in. 

 
C.15 A CCfA does not provide an additional opportunity for a Cabinet decision to 

be challenged.  A previous Call-in will only be relevant, if the circumstances 
of the Call-in and the CCfA are clearly different.  

 

C.16 The operation of this Call-in procedure will be monitored annually by the 
Monitoring Officer and if necessary, a report submitted to the GAC with 
proposals for review. 

 
  

Page 91 Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 8

D.Participants 
D.1 The nature of a Call-in, the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic 

under review/scrutiny will generally determine who participates in the 
proceedings of the Committee. 

  

D.2 Persons required to attend if summoned 
 

Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, the giving 
of 14 clear days’ notice, (fourteen weekdays i.e. 14 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and 
the day on which the meeting is held) and information being provided as to 
the nature and scope of the overview and scrutiny: 
 

 Council participants 
 

Cabinet members and Council Officers may be required to attend meetings 
of the Committee, to give evidence, make representations and/or answer 
questions (Section 21(13)(a) of the Local Government Act 2000). 

 CSP participants 

Representatives of the CSP, responsible authorities and co-ordinating body 
invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend Committee meetings (Section 
21(13)(b) of the Local Government Act 2000). 
 

D.3 Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc.  
 

Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, members 
of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. may be invited 
(but cannot be compelled) to attend the Committee, to make representations, 
answer questions or give evidence.  

Where the Committee seeks to engage with the third sector (voluntary and 
community groups), it will respect the principles of the Council’s Compact. 

D.4 Expert advisors and assessors  

The Committee may consider the available options for future direction in the 
development of crime and disorder policies and may appoint experts, 
advisors and assessors to assist the Committee in the process. 

D.5 
 

 

 

 

D.5A 
 

Lead Members  

Subject to the rules detailed in section D.7(a) to (c) of this Protocol, Lead 
Members who are members of the Committee may be requested (but cannot 
be compelled) to make representations, answer questions or give evidence 
on their respective portfolios.  

Councillors who are not members of the Committee 
 

The rules detailed in Standing Order 36, will apply to the attendance at 
Committee meetings, of Councillors who are not members of the Committee. 

 
D.6 The overview and scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the 

availability of a participant to attend, when summoned or invited.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly. 
 

Page 92Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 9

D.7 Participation Rules 
 

(a) The nomination of specific Cabinet members and Lead Members as 
participants and any necessary substitutions, will be within the discretion 
of the Cabinet Chairman and, in relation to Officer participants, within 
the discretion of the Director of Housing and Public Protection. 

(b) Subject to paras. (a) and (c) of this section D.7 and section V.6 of this 
Protocol, any Lead Member(s) may attend meetings of the Committee 
and with the consent of the Chairman, make representations, answer 
questions or give evidence on the subject matter of their relevant 
portfolio.  

(c) Lead Members who are members of the Committee cannot be involved 
in the scrutiny process of their relevant portfolio unless they are 
substituted on the Committee and in doing so, the Lead Member’s role 
is limited to making representations, answering questions or giving 
evidence on the subject matter. Once substituted, the Lead Member, as 
an ordinary member of the Committee, cannot vote at the meeting even 
if he/she is able to attend at a later stage of the meeting and can only 
speak with the permission of the Chairman. 

(d) The Director of Housing and Public Protection may restrict the 
attendance of Council Officers to above a certain grade or in accordance 
with other criteria to ensure that junior Officers are not put under undue 
pressure.  This restriction is consistent with the European Convention 
on Human Rights. 

(e) (i) Subject to pars.(i) and (iii) below, the Chairman reserves the right 
(supported by detailed reasoning to the Cabinet Chairman or Director of 
Housing and Public Protection (as appropriate)), to strongly request the 
attendance of a named Cabinet member(s)/Lead Member(s), Council 
Officer(s), representatives of the CSP and/or responsible authorities as 
participants in the proceedings of the Committee, subject to written 
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before 
the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank 
and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held). 

(ii) The CSP’s representative will be its Chairman or Vice-Chairman. 

(iii) The nomination/appointment by the responsible authorities of 
representatives as participants in the overview and scrutiny process, 
and substitutions, will be at the discretion of their governing bodies or 
as detailed in their constitutions. 

(f) Council Officers who are subject to disciplinary proceedings and/or 
investigation will not be called as participants. 

(g) When questioning participants, due regard will be had to the 
Compliance Principles referred to in this Protocol and to paras.(h) and 
(i) below.  Participants may leave the meeting on the conclusion of their 
particular issues. 

Page 93 Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 10 

   
 (h) Participants may decline to answer questions in open session of the 

Committee on the grounds that the answer might disclose information 
that would be exempt or confidential under the access to information 
provisions.  In that event, the Committee may resolve to exclude the 
public and the press in accordance with Standing Orders in order that 
the question may be answered in private session. 

 
 (i) Participants are not obliged to answer any question which they would be 

entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law for example any question 
relating to a participant’s past conduct/actions which could not be 
answered without acknowledging or referring to possible inappropriate 
conduct/actions/inactions. 

 
 (j) To better inform the Committee, participants may be required to provide 

their evidence in writing and may be questioned by the Committee on 
that evidence. 

 
 
 (k) The substance (rather than the detail) of oral evidence and participants' 

responses will be documented by the Committee Co - ordinator and 
circulated to them for comment, before the next meeting of the 
Committee. 

 
 (l)Participants may be asked to explain: 

 (i) what the policies are; 
 

 (ii) the justification and objectives of those policies; 
 

 (iii) the extent to which those objectives may have been met; 
 

 (iv) how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of the 
policy measures and the manner of their implementation. 

 
 (m)Participants may be asked explain and justify; 

  advice they have given prior to decisions being taken; 
 

  decisions they themselves have taken under delegations from the 
Cabinet, CSP etc. 

 
 NB:As far as possible, Council Officers should avoid being drawn into 

discussions on the merits of alternative policies where this is politically 
contentious.  Any comment by Council Officers on the Cabinet's policies 
and actions should always be consistent with the requirement for Officers 
to be politically neutral. 

 

Page 94Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 11 

E. Councillor Calls for 
Action (CCfA) 

 

E.1 Subject to the ‘excluded matters’ rule detailed in section E.2 and the 
restrictions detailed in sections E4, E5, E.7 and E10 of this Protocol, any 
ward Member may refer to the Committee for scrutiny, any crime and 
disorder matter. 

The flowchart at Annex 1 describes the CCfA procedure. 
 

 
E.3 A matter does not fall within a description of an ‘excluded matter’ if it consists 

of an allegation that a function for which the Council is responsible has not 
been discharged at all or that its discharge has failed or is failing on a 
systematic basis, notwithstanding the fact that the allegation specifies or 
refers to an excluded matter (reg.4. the Overview and Scrutiny (Reference 
by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) Order 2012). 

 
E.4 Referral of a genuine, significant and persistent local community concern by 

the local ward Member as a CCfA for scrutiny is a measure of last resort, 
once other approaches for informal resolution have been exhausted.  Local 
ward Members are advised to seek advice from the relevant Director before 
agreeing to champion a CCfA. 

 
E.5 The CCfA may be referred for scrutiny on behalf of a constituent, or on the 

local ward Member’s own initiative, providing the local ward Member has the 
support of the local community and the Member does not have a disclosable 
pecuniary interests or prejudicial interest in the matter.   

 
E.6 The Committee may receive a CCfA via the Cabinet in circumstances where 

the local ward Member has declined to champion the CCfA and the 
constituent has then referred the issue to the Cabinet (section 19(5) of the 
Police and Justice Act 2006).  

E.7 Subject to the draw down rules at section A.2 of this Protocol, the referral of 
a CCfA to the Committee will be limited to one CCfA per meeting.   

 
E.8 The referral of a CCfA to the Committee by a local ward Member will be on 

written notification to Member Services, by no later than noon on the 16th day 
before a Committee meeting, i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and 
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held). 

 
E.9 The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 

attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol will apply.  
 

E.10 The acceptance of a CCfA will be at the discretion of the Committee.  In 
considering whether or not to accept a CCfA, the Committee may have 
regard to any representations made by the local ward Member as to why it 
would be appropriate for the Committee to accept the CCfA. 

 
E.11 If the Committee decides not to accept the CCfA, Member Services will within 

5 days’ of the meeting, formally notify the ward Member of the Committee’s 
decision and the reasons for it.  The Committee’s decision is final.  There is 
no right of appeal. 

 
E.12 The local ward Member may address the Committee (but not vote) on the 

matter raised.   
 

Page 95 Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 12 

E.13 Following consideration of a CCfA, the Committee may report or recommend 
accordingly to the CSP and the responsible authorities (either collectively or 
individually), GAC and/or the Cabinet.  The rules detailed in sections H and 
M of this Protocol, will apply. 
 

E.14 The Committee may submit a copy of its report or recommendations to the 
local ward Member or await the CSP’s and the responsible authorities’ (either 
collectively or individually), GAC’s or the Cabinet’s response before doing 
so.   

 

F. Committee member 
business 

Subject to the rules on draw down detailed in section A.2 of this Protocol, 
any Committee or (sub-committee) member has the legal right [Section 
21A(1) of the Local Government Act 2000] to place any matter relevant to 
the Committee’s functions on the agenda.  This right will be exercised by 
giving written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th 
day before a Committee meeting i.e.16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and 
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).   
 
The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol, will apply.  

 

GH. The duty to have 
regard to reports/ 
recommendations 

G.1 
The CSP, responsible authorities and co-ordinating body may be required by 
the Committee to have regard to the Committee's Overview or Scrutiny 
Report and/or recommendations (Section 9FF(2) of the Local Government 
Act 2000).   

G.2 
Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations have 
been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be re-
addressed fully by the Committee. 

 

H. Co-option 

H.1 
The Committee may recommend to the GAC, the appointment/co-option of 
additional persons to serve on the Committee or its sub-committee, subject 
to the following: 

 
(i) a person co-opted to serve on the Committee/sub-committee will not be 

entitled to vote on any particular matter, unless the Committee so 
determines and subject to the GAC’s permission in advance, on voting 
rights. 

 
(ii) a co-opted person's membership may be limited to the exercise of the 

Committee's/sub-committee’s powers in relation to a particular matter or 
type of matter. 

 
(iii) the Committee will only co-opt an employee, officer or member of the 

responsible authorities comprising the CSP to serve on the 
Committee/sub-committee, providing this person: 

 

Page 96Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 13 

 
(a) is not the chairman or vice chairman of the CSP or the nominated 

representative/member or substitute of the responsible authorities ; 
and 

(b) is not a Cabinet member (or an executive member of Kent County 
Council). 

 
(iv) the membership of a person co-opted to serve on the Committee/sub-

committee, may be withdrawn at any time by the Committee. 

 
(v) [Voting] Co-optees will comply with the Council’s [Member] Code of 

Conduct set out in Part 5 of the Constitution. 

 
(vi) Co-optees will have access to exempt/confidential information 

considered/to be considered by the Committee.  The rules detailed in 
section Q.4 of this Protocol, will apply. 

J.2 Co-optees will count towards establishing a quorum. 
 

  

K. Work programme 

K.1 
The Committee will be responsible for setting its own work programme and 
in doing so, will take into account wishes of Committee members who are 
not members of the largest political group on the Council. 

K.2 
Duplication of activities or major additions to the Committee’s work 
programme will be avoided. 
 

K.3 
The CSP and the responsible authorities will be informed in advance, of 
overview and scrutiny exercises (including their scope).  
  

K.4 
The Committee will receive an annual report on its workings and may make 
recommendations for future work programmes. 
 

 

L. Appointment of 
independent experts, 
advisers/assessors 

L.1 

 

 

 

L.2 

 
 
 
 
 
Subject to available resources and GAC authority, the Committee may invite 
independent experts, advisers and assessors to contribute to the overview 
and scrutiny process undertaken by it, its sub-committees or task groups.  
Independent experts, advisers and assessors will have no voting rights and 
will not count for the purposes of establishing a quorum.  
 
The criteria for selection will be; 
 
(a) candidates must be able to demonstrate to the Chairman an expert 

knowledge of the subject in question; 
(b) candidates will have no contact with the Borough Council, which could 

be seen as prejudicial to their independence; 
(c) candidates will not be employees of the Council, a person/organisation 

contracted to provide services on behalf of the Council or an employee, 
officer or member of the CSP, responsible authorities or co-ordinating 
body. 

 

Page 97 Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 14 

  
L.3 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will be expected to follow the 

principles referred to in the [Member] Code of Conduct, including the 
requirement to declare interests and respecting confidentiality. 
 

L.4 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will receive payment in 
accordance with a standard scale of fees, to be agreed by the Cabinet, plus 
travel and other reasonable/legitimate expenses. 
 

L.5 Independent experts, advisers and assessors may at the Committee’s 
discretion, remain in the meeting room when confidential and/or exempt 
information is being discussed. 
 

L.6 In considering independent experts’, advisers’ and assessors’ 
recommendations, the Committee will have regard to the advice of the 
Council's Statutory Officers (Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) who are legally bound respectively, to report to the GAC 
on inter alia: 

  the corporate approach of the Council; 
 contravention of law and/or Standing Orders, Financial Regulations; 
 unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice; 
 vires and propriety of expenditure; 
 overall integrity of the budget, capital and revenue and the fiduciary duty 

and responsibility of all Members (Section 112 and 114 Reports). 

NB: The GAC retains the ultimate responsibility of censure. 

M. Overview or  
Scrutiny reports  
and/or recommendations 
M.1 All comments, conclusions and recommendations to the CSP, responsible 

authorities, GAC and/or Cabinet (referred to in this part of the Protocol as the 
‘relevant body’ will be accompanied by an Overview or Scrutiny Report 
prepared by the Committee Co-ordinator, in consultation with the appropriate 
Officer and the Committee Chairman under the existing rules for the 
preparation of committee reports. 
 

M.2 The Overview or Scrutiny Report will include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed or scrutinised; 
(b) a summary of the evidence considered; 
(c) a list of the participants involved in the overview and scrutiny exercise; 
(d) any recommendations on the matter reviewed or scrutinised, including 

where applicable, an indication of the costs associated with 
implementing the recommendations; 

(e) a summary of the views of Members dissenting from the majority 
recommendation(s); 

(f)  the mechanism for monitoring progress in implementing the 
recommendation(s). 

 
M.3 All motions (whether passed, rejected, opposed etc.) by the Committee will 

be detailed in the Overview or Scrutiny Report. 
 

M.4 The Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations will be published 
and sent to the link officer of the relevant body. 

Page 98Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 15 

M.5 The CSP, responsible authorities and co-ordinating body are under a legal 
obligation to consider the Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations and respond to the Committee within 28 days (or as soon 
as reasonably possible) of the date of the Overview or Scrutiny Report, 
indicating what (if any) action the body proposes to take (see section H.1 
above).  The same principles shall be applied to Cabinet and GAC.  

Relevant bodies may fully accept, partially accept or reject the Overview or 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations.  If the relevant body partially 
accepts or rejects the Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations, 
the body must detail its reasons. 

M.6 The Committee Chairman, may at the request of the relevant body, attend 
its meeting and present the Overview or Scrutiny Report and answer 
questions. 

M.7 If in disagreement with the decision of the Committee, any Councillor(s) who 
expresses a minority view, may through the Committee Chairman, refer a 
'minority view' report to the relevant body for consideration and provided they 
do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in the 
matter under discussion, the Councillor may be requested to attend the 
body’s meeting and present their views and answer questions.   
 

M.8 If at all possible, Overview or Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations 
should be included on the agenda of the next available meeting of the 
relevant body unless the matter which is the subject of the Overview or 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations is scheduled to be considered by 
the relevant body within a period of four weeks from the date the Committee 
issues the Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations.  In such 
circumstances, the Committee's Overview or Scrutiny 
Report/recommendations will be considered by the relevant body in the 
context of their deliberations on the substantive item on the body’s agenda. 
 

M.9 Only one Overview or Scrutiny Report per meeting of the relevant body may 
be submitted by the Committee for consideration. 
 

M.10 Following receipt of the relevant body’s response, the Committee may, by 
motion, move 'that the matter be referred back to the [named] relevant body' 
either 'for further information' or 'for further consideration' or as the case may 
be, with an instruction that some specified action be taken or that the 
Committee considers that no further action is necessary. 
 

M.11 Overview or Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations to the GAC will be 
copied to the Cabinet Chairman.  The GAC will not consider an Overview or 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations until the Cabinet has had the 
opportunity to comment. 

M.12 Local ward Members and other non - executive Councillors will have the 
opportunity at GAC meetings, to raise issues either through questions, 
motions or through policy and other debates.  
 

  

Page 99 Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 16 

N. Cabinet Key  
Decisions 

Where the Cabinet has decided not to include a particular decision in the 
forward plan, but the Committee believes that it should have been included, 
the Committee may require the Cabinet to make a report on the decision to 
the GAC in accordance with Standing Order 54(9).  The Committee's 
consideration of any such matter will be in public, but subject to the rules on 
confidential and exempt information. 
 

  

P. Monitoring Officer 
reports  

The Committee may consider whether it would be appropriate, following 
receipt of a Monitoring Officer report to the Cabinet (and copied to all 
Members of the Council), to hold a short enquiry into the matter which is the 
subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it and to 
recommend accordingly to the Cabinet. 
 

  

Q. Consideration of  
items at meetings 

 

Q.1 Without prejudice to the rules detailed in Standing Orders on the 
consideration of urgent items, items will not be considered at a meeting of 
the Committee unless included on the agenda for the meeting.  The order 
of business will be as set out in Standing Order 58(10)(a)(i) to and including 
(iii) and the business as otherwise set out in the agenda in accordance with 
Standing Order 58(10)(a)(iv) will be in the order of: 
 

  

  Call – in; 
 

  decisions and/or actions of the CSP and the responsible authorities 
(either collectively or individually); 

 
  the CSP’s annual strategic assessment;  

 
  the CSP’s partnership plan; 

 
  Draw downs; 

 
  CCfA; 

 
  Key Decisions; 

 
  any other local crime and disorder matter related to the 

Council’s/Cabinet’s crime and disorder/community safety functions; 
 

  Officer decisions pursuant to Standing Order 38 (Delegation of Urgent 
and Routine Matters); 

 
  Minority member business; 

 
  Scrutiny Committee member business; 

 
  Monitoring progress of agreed actions; 

 
  Members’ Information Bulletin.  

 

Page 100Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 17 

Q.2 The order of business may be altered by the Committee in accordance with 
the rules detailed in Standing Order 58(10)(b). 
 

Q.3 Cabinet decisions and Officer decisions under Standing Order 38 
(Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters) and under the Scheme of 
Delegations to Officers, cannot be reversed or amended. 
 

Q.4 Voting Committee members have a right of access to exempt or confidential 
information considered by the Cabinet, but only if it is relevant to an issue(s) 
before the Committee (Standing Order 51(4)). 
 

Q.5 In exercising its powers, the Committee must respect, support and not 
compromise the duties and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards and 
Panels of the Council. If a scrutiny investigation reveals potential disciplinary 
and probity issues, the Committee will refer the matter to the Director of 
Housing and Public Public Protection. 
 

Q.6 Litigation proceedings by or against the Council must not be prejudiced by 
any scrutiny investigation.  In the circumstances, it may be necessary to defer 
further consideration of the matter until the proceedings have been 
dispensed with. 
 

  

Q.7 Consultation undertaken by the Committee in accordance with its Terms of 
Reference will not compromise/prejudice consultations undertaken by any 
other Committee/Board of the Council.  
 

  

R. Conduct of  
meetings 

  
 

R.1 Meetings will be open to the public and the press unless confidential and/or 
exempt information is being considered.  The Access to Information 
Procedure Rules detailed in Standing Orders will apply. 
 

R.2 The access to information provisions relating to access to and inspection of 
agenda and connected reports and minutes as detailed in Standing Orders 
will apply. 
 

R.3 Minutes will be drawn up and recorded in accordance with the rules detailed 
in Standing Order 15. 
 

  

S. Task groups/ 
informal Member  
working groups 
 

 

S.1 Task groups (or informal Member working groups) may be appointed at any 
time by the Committee to examine specific issues in detail.  Task groups will 
be time limited and will tend to work more flexibly and informally. 
 

S.2 The Committee may appoint any of its Members to work informally with other 
bodies or authorities etc., particularly in relation to external or cross-authority 
overview and scrutiny matters, where this will contribute to the Committee’s 
functions. 
 

  

Page 101 Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 18 

S.3 Whilst a task group cannot substitute for the Committee or exercise the 
formal powers associated respectively with overview and scrutiny (which is 
the preserve of the Committee and its sub-committees), the task group may 
contribute to or inform the overview or scrutiny process. 
 

S.4 Task groups will be made up of no less than 3 Committee members.  The 
political balance rules need not apply. 
 

S.5 Because of the relative informality of task group meetings, and the evidence 
gathering nature of much of the discussion, chairing the meetings will involve 
different skills from those required by traditional committee meetings.  The 
task group Chairman will need to be sure that all task group members are 
clear about the purpose of the meeting and are given the opportunity to 
pursue a line of questioning – via a number of supplementary questions if 
necessary. 
 

S.6 The task group may obtain information through different media, including 
face-to-face interviews; questionnaires; focus groups; site visits; reports; and 
written submissions from participants.  

 
S.7 Participants will be offered the opportunity to comment on the accuracy of 

the record of their attendance.  
 

S.8 Once the evidence is taken, the Committee Co-ordinator will draft a report 
and recommendations to reflect the preliminary views of the task group.  The 
draft report and recommendations will be agreed by the task group Chairman 
before it is circulated to the Cabinet Chairman and the Director of Housing 
and Public Protection for comment. 
 

S.9 The Committee will consider the task group’s report and/or 
recommendations and any comments from the Cabinet Chairman and/or 
Director of Housing and Public Protection. 
 

S.10 The Committee will refer the task group’s report and/or recommendations to 
the relevant body i.e. CSP, responsible authorities, GAC and/or Cabinet with 
a note of the debate and any changes arising from the debate. 
 
The rules detailed in sections G, H and M of this Protocol will apply. 
 

S.11 The Committee may refer the issue back to the task group for further 
consideration. 
 

  
T. Sub-committees  
T.1 The Committee may appoint sub-committees in accordance with the rules 

detailed in Standing Order 58(1)(4) and may delegate any of its functions to 
its sub-committees. 
 

T.2 Sub-committees may exercise the formal powers associated respectively 
with overview and scrutiny. 
 

  

Page 102Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 19 

U. Regulatory bodies  
U.1 The Committee will not scrutinise individual decisions made by the 

Committees, Boards and Panels entrusted to discharge the Council’s 
regulatory functions (the Regulatory Bodies).  Scrutiny of decisions of 
Regulatory Bodies is clearly not an alternative to normal appeals 
procedures.  However, the Committee may make reports and/or 
recommendations in accordance with section M. of this Protocol. 
 

U.2 Scrutiny of the discharge of a Regulatory Body’s functions will be restricted 
to one per Committee meeting on notice by the Committee Chairman.  The 
rules detailed in section A. of this Protocol will apply.  
 

U.3 Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations have 
been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be re-
addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

  

V. Declarations of  
interest 

 

V.1 Elected Councillors and voting co-optees are subject to the [Member] Code 
of Conduct. 
 

V.2 Representatives from the responsible authorities and other partner 
organisations are subject to their respective professional codes of conduct.  
 

  
V.3 Participants who are not bound by codes of conduct will be subject to the 

Nolan principles of transparency and accountability. 
 

V.4 All participants (including Council Officers) summoned or invited to attend 
Committee meetings, will declare any interests and the nature of the 
interests at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interests become 
apparent to them.  
 

V.5 No Committee members may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which 
they have been directly involved. 
 
The Committee’s policy development and/or review work may draw directly 
from the outputs of its scrutiny functions (scrutiny of Cabinet decisions and/or 
proposed decisions).  It may also involve the consideration of policy themes 
and matters of local concern, which may have potential implications for the 
policies of the Council. In the circumstances, subject to the rules detailed in 
section V.6 of this Protocol, Committee members and Lead Members who 
have been directly involved in policy development, may participate in the 
Committee’s policy development and/or review work.   

V.6 With the exception of Cabinet members who are required to attend the 
Committee to give evidence in accordance with section D of this Protocol, 
any Member at the meeting (not restricted to members of the Committee) 
with a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in a matter, may 
not take part in the discussion or remain in the meeting room or public gallery 
to observe the vote on the matter. 
 

  

Page 103 Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 20 

W. Review of this 
Protocol 

This Protocol will be reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, if 
experience, circumstances and legislation highlight that amendments are 
required. 
 

  

 

Page 104Agenda Item 13



2 July 2021 
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol  

C&DC 21 

           ANNEX 1 
 

COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (CCfA) FLOWCHART 
 
CCfA request – local residents have concerns about significant and persistent problems in their area – they approach the local ward 
Member - local ward Member may also on their initiative, initiate a CCfA and gather support from their local community 

 
 
First level response 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
Second level response 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Third level response 
 
 
 
  
 
 
Fourth level response 
 
  
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
Fifth level response 
 
 
  
 
 

In consultation with relevant Director, local ward Member considers 
whether to agree to champion or reject the CCfA - Log request 

Concern not resolved – as last resort, concern referred to Crime 
and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee   

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee rejects CCFA (see Committee’s Protocol 
for procedure) 

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee accepts CCfA and considers issue in 
accordance with Committee’s Protocol 

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee compiles report and recommendations 
to Cabinet/GAC, CSP etc. (refer to Committee’s 
Protocol) 

Local ward Member notified 
with written reasons 

Cabinet/GAC, CSP etc. consider recommendations 
and respond within 2 months, setting out reasons for 
any inaction 

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee considers and publishes responses to 
scrutiny recommendations 

Feedback to local ward Member  

Before agreeing, Director to 
undertake screening/filter 
checks (section 6 of Guide) 

Refuse to champion  and 
provide constituent/local ward 
Member with written reasons for 
refusal 

 

Agree to champion 

First attempt to resolve the concerns informally in consultation 
with relevant parties e.g. Lead Member, CSP etc. (section 11 of 
Guide) – Log attempt to resolve Concern resolved  

Page 105 Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 106



 
  
Appendix D

1 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE CRIME AND DISORDER 
(OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE AND THE DARTFORD COMMUNITY SAFETY 
PARTNERSHIP 

Introduction 
 
1. The Council has a legal duty under Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to 

carry out all its various functions with regard to the need to prevent crime and disorder and 
reduce re-offending in its area.   

 
2. The Police and Justice Act 2006 and the Local Government and Public Involvement in 

Health Act 2007 grant the Council the power to scrutinise both crime and disorder matters 
through the Dartford Community Safety Partnership (the CSP).  The legislative powers are 
intended to enable the Council’s overview and scrutiny function to hold the CSP and other 
partner organisations to account for their performance, including their work with the Council, 
to meet specific local targets. 

 
3. The Councillor Calls for Action provide a ‘last resort’ mechanism for the Council’s overview 

and scrutiny function to try to resolve persistent local crime and disorder issues of genuine 
community concern, where all efforts by a local ward Councillor to find a solution through 
local action and discussion with the CSP etc, have been unsuccessful. 

 
4. In order for the exercise of overview and scrutiny powers to be effective, it is vital that the 

CSP and other partners and stakeholders are engaged in the process and share a common 
understanding of the Council’s overview and scrutiny aims.  This Memorandum of 
Understanding has therefore been developed to embody that understanding and sets out 
the rights and responsibilities that relate to the parties concerned. 

 
The CSP and main tasks 
 
5.(a) The CSP comprises seven statutory bodies who have a legal duty to work with other 

local agencies and organisations to develop and implement strategies to tackle crime 
and disorder, including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting the local 
environment, as well as the misuse of drugs in their area:  
 
Dartford Borough Council 
Kent Police 
Kent County Council 
Kent Fire and Rescue Service 
Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company  
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Probation Service  

 
(b) The CSP works with numerous other agencies and voluntary groups.  

(c) In order to identify and deliver on the priorities that matter the most to local 
communities, the CSP is required to carry out a number of main tasks: 

 preparing an annual strategic assessment which identifies the crime and 
community safety priorities in the area, through analysis of information provided by 
partner agencies an the community; 

 producing a partnership plan, detailing the approach for addressing priorities; 
 undertaking community consultation and engagement on crime and disorder 

issues; and 
 sharing information among the responsible authorities. 

Page 107 Agenda Item 13



 
  
Appendix D

2 

Aims of overview and scrutiny 
 

 6. To: 
 

(a) involve the responsible authorities, local people and community organisations, in 
overview and scrutiny activity; 

(b) develop a dialogue with the responsible authorities, service providers and other 
stakeholders external to the Council; 

(c) take up issues of concern to local people; 
(d) review whether the CSP’s goals are being achieved; and 
(e) examine what can be done to solve problems and enhance the CSP’s performance and 

achievement. 
 
Designated crime and disorder committee 
 
7. The Council’s designated crime and disorder committee under section 19(1) of the Police 

and Justice Act 2006, is the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee.  The 
Committee is independent of the CSP. 

 
8. There will be at least one ordinary meeting of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and 

Scrutiny) Committee in each municipal year in accordance with the Council’s calendar of 
meetings.  In addition, extraordinary meetings may be called as and when appropriate in 
accordance with the Council’s Procedure Rules detailed in its Standing Orders. 

 
9. The Committee’s Terms of Reference 
 

The overview and scrutiny of: 
(a) decisions and/or actions of the CSP and its partners, but only in so far as they relate 

to crime and disorder; 
(b) the CSP’s annual strategic assessment; 
(c) the CSP’s partnership plan; 
(d) community safety related local improvement targets measured through Local Area 

Agreements, Comprehensive Area Assessment and the Place Based Survey; 
(e) any other local crime and disorder matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s crime and 

disorder/community safety functions; and 
(f) the scrutiny of Councillor Calls for Action (on crime and disorder/community safety 

matters). 
 

Management of the Council’s crime and disorder/community safety functions 
 

10. The Council’s Director of Housing and Public Protection is responsible for the management 
of the Council’s crime and disorder/community safety functions.   

 
Council representatives on the CSP 
 
11. The Leader of the Council, Director of Housing and Public Protection, Head of Housing, 

Enforcement and Regulatory Services Manager, Community Safety Manager and 
Community Safety Officer are the Council’s nominated representatives on the CSP.  

 
CSP, responsible authorities named link officers and representatives  
 

12. The CSP, individual responsible authorities will assign a named link officer to liaise with the 
Council’s Member Services [refer to sections 19-22 of this Memorandum of Understanding], 
to ensure that communication is swift and effective and that requests for information, 
responses to reports and/or recommendations and requests for CSP and responsible 
authorities’ representatives to attend meetings, are dealt with, within the timescales referred 

Page 108Agenda Item 13



 
  
Appendix D

3 

to in the Committee’s Protocol at Appendix A.  Contact details of the named link officers will 
be notified to the Council’s Member Services. 

 
13. If summoned to attend meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, the CSP’s representative will be its Chairman or Vice-Chairman. 
 
14. If summoned to attend meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, the nomination/appointment by the responsible authorities of representatives 
and substitutes as participants in the overview and scrutiny process, will be at the 
discretion of their governing bodies or as detailed in their constitutions.  

 
Underlying principles of crime and disorder overview and scrutiny 

 
15. The following underlying principles of overview and scrutiny will assist in securing 

effective outcomes and adding value: 
 
(a) Collaboration 

 
 community safety and freedom from crime and disorder for the people of the Borough of 

Dartford is dependant upon many factors, including the services provided in partnership 
by/with the CSP.  The CSP will work in partnership with the Crime and Disorder 
(Overview and Scrutiny) Committee to provide objective and effective scrutiny of crime 
and disorder in the Borough of Dartford.  This shared responsibility should be 
acknowledged in any crime and disorder overview and scrutiny activity undertaken; 

 increasingly, services are provided jointly or as a result of partnerships between the 
Council and other public sector organisations or other parties.  Overview and scrutiny 
activities should therefore also reflect shared priorities, find shared solutions and be of 
mutual benefit; 

 while overview and scrutiny should be constructive and challenging, it will only be 
successful if all partners work together considerately, within a climate of mutual respect, 
trust and good faith with an understanding and commitment to the CSP’s and Council’s 
crime and disorder aims and objectives.  

 
(b) Added Value 
 

 it is vital that overview and scrutiny brings something new to reviews/scrutiny of crime and 
disorder functions and does not duplicate the many other forms of performance 
management and inspection that exist for public service providers.  

 overview and scrutiny activities should make a distinct and positive impact and only be 
carried out where objective scrutiny/review by elected Councillors, will help progress to be 
made. 

 overview and scrutiny activities should have a clear purpose.  There should be a focus on 
crime reduction and improving the well-being of those who live and work in the Borough 
of Dartford. 

 the overview and scrutiny process should be proactive in seeking out issues to examine, 
that will add most value. 

 overview and scrutiny should be prepared to examine crime and disorder issues that 
cross service or agency boundaries and make appropriate recommendations to tackle 
such issues, whilst being mindful of potential implications for/on the CSP and/or other 
external organisations. 

 overview and scrutiny should aim to develop feasible recommendations, which provide 
value for money by securing benefits that outweigh the cost of implementation. 

  overview and scrutiny will be focused on improving services and service provision for the 
people of the Borough of Dartford and will concentrate on outputs that are intended to 
help improve community safety and reduce the fear of crime in the Borough.  

 

Page 109 Agenda Item 13



 
  
Appendix D

4 

 
(c) Clarity 

 
Overview and scrutiny of the CSP’s crime and disorder functions: 

 
 should be a transparent process which encourages open and honest discussion; 
 should be well planned and timely; 
 should be of particular issues and time-limited; 
 should focus on strategic priorities and concerns, with a strategic view of performance 

usually aligned to key performance targets. 
 

(d) Knowledge 
 

 overview and scrutiny reports must be evidence-based in order to provide credible 
conclusions and recommendations; 

 although the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee will want to be 
informed, the overview and scrutiny process is not an ‘expert’ review/scrutiny of the 
CSP’s crime and disorder function; 

 the overview and scrutiny process should be impartial, in that it should be driven by the 
evidence, rather than by a particular standpoint. 

 
(e) Accessibility 

 
 it is a fundamental role of the overview and scrutiny process to ensure that there is full 

and equal access to the democratic process, through public involvement and 
engagement; 

 the views and ideas of service users (and non-users), service providers and organisations 
and other agencies with an interest in the subject under review/scrutiny, are all valuable 
in effective scrutiny – overview and scrutiny should involve all stakeholders and take 
account of views of service users and the public, with particular efforts to engage groups 
that are harder to reach; 

 constructive engagement and clear lines of communication should enable a two-way flow 
of information between crime and disorder overview and scrutiny and all those involved, 
including feedback of results. 

 
Providing information to the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee 

 
16. The CSP, responsible authorities and the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, will respect the requirements of the Data Protection Act 2018 and UK GDPR.  
The provision of information to/for overview and scrutiny will be governed by relevant 
legislation and established protocols for the sharing of data. 

 
17. To facilitate the overview and scrutiny process and in accordance with reg.4 of the Local 

Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees)(England) Regulations 2012, requested 
information will be pro-actively provided by the CSP and responsible authorities (acting 
individually or collectively).   

 
Notice of required attendance at committee meetings  
 
18. Forward planning of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee’s annual 

work programme will normally ensure the provision of reasonable notice of requests for 
information/the submission of written reports and/or required attendance at Committee 
meetings, of representatives of the responsible authorities. 

 
19. The CSP and responsible authorities will be informed in advance by the Council’s Member 

Services, of overview and scrutiny exercises (including their scope).   

Page 110Agenda Item 13



 
  
Appendix D

5 

 
20. Dates and times of meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, agendas, minutes and reports, will be circulated by the Council’s Member 
Services, to the named link officer of the CSP and the responsible authorities. 

 
21. Subject to 14 clear days’ notice (i.e.14 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to 

midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and 
information being provided as to the nature and scope of the overview and scrutiny, 
representatives of the CSP and the responsible authorities and/or other organisations 
working with the CSP, may be invited under Section 21(13)(b) of the Local Government Act 
2000 to attend the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee meetings, to 
give evidence and/or answer questions.   

 
22. Representatives of the CSP and the responsible authorities and/or other organisations 

working with the CSP should be willing to engage constructively with overview and scrutiny 
and attend meetings when invited. 

 
Access to information  

 
23. Reports, which are presented to the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 

Committee, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk and circulated 
to the CSP and the responsible authorities’ named link officers, 5 clear days before the 
Committee meeting. 

 
Style and conduct of committee meetings 

 
24. Meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee will be conducted 

in accordance with the principles and procedures set out in the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules and Access to information Procedure Rules of the Council’s Standing 
Orders and in accordance with the Committee’s Protocol at Appendix A.   

 
Reports and recommendations of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee 

 
25. The CSP and responsible authorities and co-ordinating body may be required by the Crime 

and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee to have regard to the Committee’s 
Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations (Section 9FF(2) of the Local 
Government Act 2000). 

 
Monitoring recommendations 

 
26. Agreed actions will form the basis against which performance of the CSP and responsible 

authorities will be measured by the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee.   

 
Local improvement targets 

 
27. The Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee may scrutinise performance 

and delivery of the Kent County Council’s KA2 – LAA crime and disorder/community safety 
local improvement targets.  

 

Page 111 Agenda Item 13

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


 
  
Appendix D

6 

 
Councillor Calls for Action 

 
28. The CSP and responsible authorities (either collectively or individually) will co-operate on 

matters related to Councillor Calls for Action.  
 

Resolving disputes about this Memorandum of Understanding 
 

29. If the CSP and responsible authorities (acting collectively or individually) believe that this 
Memorandum of Understanding is not being adhered to, the issue should be referred to the 
Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee for consideration and decision.  
The Committee’s decision will be final. 

 
Review of this Memorandum of Understanding 

 
30. This Memorandum of Understanding will be reviewed jointly, on an annual basis or more 

frequently, if experience and circumstances highlight that amendments may need to be 
made. 

 
Complaints against the CSP 
 
31. Complaints against the CSP will be dealt with under the CSP’s complaints procedure.  

Complaints relating to CSP activities submitted to the CSP against individual responsible 
authorities will be dealt with by the individual responsible authorities under their respective 
complaints procedure. The response to the complaint will be copied to the chairman of the 
CSP. 

 
Availability of support 

 
32. Further advice or information on any aspect of this Memorandum of Understanding or on 

overview and scrutiny at Dartford Borough Council, is available from Member Services by 
emailing memberservices@dartford.gov.uk or telephoning the Member Services Manager 
on 01322 343430. 

 
 
 

Page 112Agenda Item 13

mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 21 July 2022 at 7.00 pm  
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman) 
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor S H Brown 
Councillor A R Lloyd 
Councillor D J Mote 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow 
Councillor R J Wells 
 

ALSO PRESENT: Peter Dosad, Director of Housing & Public Protection 
Caroline Hicks, Director of Growth & Community 
Tim Sams, Head of Finance 
Alan Twyman, Democratic Services Manager 
 

 
26. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

27. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

28. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE CABINET 
HELD ON 23 JUNE 2022  
 
The Cabinet considered the minutes of its meeting which took place on 23 
June 2022. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 23 June 2022 be 
confirmed as an accurate record.  
 

29. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

30. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 18 JULY 2022  
 
The Cabinet considered the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel 
B which took place on 18th July 2022 and had regard to the Panel’s views 
throughout the meeting. 
 
The Chairman noted that many Members had been unable to attend the 
Advisory Panel meeting and, whilst he recognised the extreme temperature 

Page 113 Agenda Item 14



CABINET 
THURSDAY 21 JULY 2022 

2

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

on the day of the meeting, he stressed the importance of good attendance at 
Advisory Panel meetings to inform the Cabinet decision making process. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel B held on 18th July 
2022 be noted. 
 

31. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES  
 
There were no references from other committees. 
 

32. STONE NEIGHBOURHOOD DEVELOPMENT PLAN  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which provided background to the production 
of the Stone Neighbourhood Development Plan which had been considered 
by an independent Examiner who had recommended modifications which 
were accepted by the Borough Council.  The Stone Neighbourhood Plan was 
then updated by Stone Parish Council.  On 26 May 2022, a referendum of 
eligible electors living in the Neighbourhood Area was held on whether they 
wished the Plan to be used by the Borough Council to help it decide planning 
applications in the area and  89% of those who voted in the referendum 
agreed. 
 
Where a referendum results in a majority Yes vote (i.e. over 50% plus 1), the 
Borough Council must make the Neighbourhood Plan as soon as reasonably 
practicable after the date of the referendum, and, in any event, within 8 weeks 
of the day after the referendum. Once made and adopted, the Stone 
Neighbourhood Plan will become part of the Development Plan for Dartford 
Borough.  This means that it will have the same status as the adopted 
Dartford Local Plan documents (currently the Core Strategy 2011 and the 
Development Policies Plan 2017) and the adopted Kent Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan (currently the Kent Minerals and Waste Plan 2013-30 and the Kent 
Mineral Sites Plan 2013-30).  The Borough Council will determine planning 
applications in accordance with the Development Plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 

The Chairman noted the importance of the Plan and the implications that it 
would have for Stone, and the additional funding that would accrue to the 
Parish Council. The Borough Council would work with Stone Parish Council to 
help it to participate in co-funding important projects in the parish. 

 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the Stone Neighbourhood Plan be made, and form a part of the 

Development Plan for Dartford Borough; and 

2. That the Borough Council determines planning applications in the Stone 
Neighbourhood Area in accordance with the Stone Neighbourhood Plan 
and other parts of the Development Plan, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

Page 114Agenda Item 14



CABINET 
THURSDAY 21 JULY 2022 

 

3

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

 
33. UK SHARED PROSPERITY FUND INVESTMENT PLAN  

 
The Cabinet considered a report which provided an overview of the UK 
Shared Prosperity Fund and the conditional financial allocation of £1M for 
Dartford over three years. The UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) is the 
Government’s domestic replacement for the European Structural and 
Investment Programme (ESIF) and was launched on 13 April 2022, providing 
£2.6 billion of funding for local investment by March 2025. The primary goal 
of the UKSPF is to build pride in place and increase life chances across the 
UK. The scheme was specifically designed to support the Government’s 
Levelling Up commitment through three investment priorities; Communities 
and Place, Supporting Local Business, and People and Skills. The report also 
explained the need to prepare and submit an Investment Plan by 1 August 
2022 and sought delegated authority to be given to the Director of Growth & 
Community to submit the Plan to the UK Shared Prosperity Fund by the 
required deadline. 
 
The Director of Growth & Community confirmed that preparation of the 
Investment Plan was on track and feedback was that the Council’s intended 
uses of the funding were in accordance with the funding criteria. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the UK Shared Prosperity Fund Prospectus and the funds awarded 

to the Council, in the sum of £1m over three years, be noted;  

2. That the establishment of a local partnership group with external 
stakeholders to guide the development of the Investment Plan, be 
endorsed;  

3. That the use of the available £20,000, to undertake initial preparatory 
work for the UKSPF, including developing the local investment plan for 
submission, be approved; 

4. That the use of the UKSPF 4% administration allocation, to support the 
productive delivery and administration of the fund, be approved; and 

5. That the Director of Growth & Community, in consultation with the Leader 
of the Council, be granted delegated authority to administer and deliver the 
UK Shared Prosperity Fund. 

 
34. DRAFT TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION STRATEGY 2022-2024  

 
The Cabinet considered the draft Temporary Accommodation Strategy 2022-
2024 which set out the Council’s strategy for the provision of temporary 
accommodation for eligible homeless households in the Borough. The 
Strategy had been developed following an audit review of the temporary 
accommodation service in December 2021 and looked at the Council’s 
approach to procuring temporary accommodation, now and in the future, the 
challenges in procuring accommodation, and how existing options and 

Page 115 Agenda Item 14



CABINET 
THURSDAY 21 JULY 2022 

4

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

schemes can be maximised to ensure that the service and provision of 
accommodation is future proofed. The Strategy had been consulted with the 
public. 
 
The Director of Housing & Public Protection said that the Strategy brought 
together all aspects of the Council’s approach to dealing with temporary 
accommodation in an aspirational way but that ultimately there were many 
variables in the demand for, and supply of, temporary properties. In response 
to a question he confirmed that it was not possible to accurately quantify how 
many residents of other authorities had been placed in temporary 
accommodation in Dartford as not all authorities complied with the voluntary 
requirement to inform the host authority. He also confirmed that the duty to 
house remained with the original authority. However this did have a knock on 
effect and around 40% of Dartford residents in need of temporary 
accommodation were currently having to be placed outside of Dartford due to 
the lack of suitable properties, with self-contained facilities, being available in 
the Borough. 
 
The Cabinet noted the comments made by the Cabinet Advisory Panel.   

 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the draft Temporary Accommodation Strategy 2022-2024, attached at 
Appendix A to the report, be approved. 
 

35. PLAYGROUND REFURBISHMENT PROGRAMME 2022/23  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which sought agreement to the draft 
playground refurbishment programme 2022/23 and an increase to the 
programme’s capital budget, to facilitate the programme’s implementation. 
The Council owns and maintains 27 playgrounds at various sites across the 
borough. The Council’s last playground refurbishment programme was carried 
out between 2009 and 2011.Since that time equipment at some sites had 
degraded and deteriorated over time and was in need of replacement. In 2019 
the Council made a commitment to improve the play experience of young 
people across the Borough and to refurbish existing playgrounds or deliver 
new facilities where appropriate. A capital budget of £1,000,000 was created 
in 2020/21 for a playground refurbishment programme. Initial scoping and 
planning works were undertaken but the programme could not be progressed, 
as the playground industry effectively had to shut down for two years because 
of Covid-19 and playgrounds had to be closed during lockdowns to help 
prevent the spread of Covid-19.  
 
In late 2021, it became apparent that the programme would be able to restart 
in early 2022. It was agreed that trial works would be undertaken  at two sites 
to develop a blueprint for the wider programme. The Council’s existing 
playground at Queens Gardens was identified for refurbishment and The 
Bridge development was identified as needing an entirely new playground. 
The works at the two sites were successfully completed in April and May 2022 
and it was proposed to build upon this with a programme of works to other 
playgrounds. 

Page 116Agenda Item 14



CABINET 
THURSDAY 21 JULY 2022 

 

5

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

 
The next phase of the playground refurbishment programme, which was 
formulated following lead member site visits and discussions, and analysis of 
equipment condition appraisals would  include the following works: 

 Central Park – complete removal of existing play equipment (with 
refurbishment of the water play area) and replacement with an entirely 
new playground and related facilities – estimate £1,000,000 

 Jessamine Place - refurbishment of existing play equipment – estimate 
£100,000  

 Hesketh Park – refurbishment of existing play equipment – estimate 
£100,000  

 Worcester Park - refurbishment of existing play equipment – estimate 
£100,000  

 Central Park – new outdoor gym equipment – estimate £50,000 
 Worcester Park – new outdoor gym equipment – estimate £50,000 
 Darenth Country Park – removal of remaining play equipment and 

replacement with an entirely new wooden playground – estimate 
£100,000 

The total cost of the programme amounted to £1.5M and the Cabinet was 
being asked to recommend an increase of £514K to the original playground 
refurbishment capital budget (M5335) to the General Assembly of the Council 
to facilitate the implementation of the programme. 

The Chairman said that this was an important project and that the Council had 
made a commitment in 2019 to carry out a comprehensive programme of 
playground works to improve the accessibility and inclusivity of the borough’s 
playgrounds so that they could be enjoyed by all families across the 
community. Whilst this involved spending a considerable amount of money he 
considered that this would be well spent and would deliver an excellent end 
result for residents that he believed would be welcomed and justified. The 
playground at Central Park would be the centrepiece of the programme and 
was also likely to attract people from outside of Dartford to come to the town 
centre. He also welcomed the refurbishment of the playground at Hesketh 
Park, which was particularly anticipated by local residents and park users, and 
the playground at Jessamine Place, which had been heavily supported by 
local ward members.    

 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That for the reasons detailed in the body of the report, the draft 

playground refurbishment programme 2022/23, as detailed in para. 3.7 of 
the report, be approved; and 

2. That the General Assembly of the Council be recommended to approve an 
increase to the playground refurbishment capital budget (M5335), from 
£986,000 to £1,500,000, to facilitate the programme’s implementation. 

 

Page 117 Agenda Item 14



CABINET 
THURSDAY 21 JULY 2022 

6

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

36. REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 - OUTTURN  
 
The Head of Finance introduced a report which informed Members of the 
detailed final pre-audit 2021/22 figures for the General Fund and Housing 
Revenue Accounts, including reasons for significant variances compared to 
the probable outturn. 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance congratulated the Head of Finance 
and his team for their strong management of the Council’s finances amidst all 
the uncertainties of the Covid pandemic. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the 2021/22 outturn for the General Fund and Housing Revenue 
Accounts, together with the reasons for significant variances compared to 
probable outturn detailed in the report, be noted. 
 

37. CAPITAL BUDGET 2021/22 - OUTTURN  
 
The Head of Finance introduced a report which informed the Cabinet of the 
final pre-audit figures for the 2021/22 Capital Programme, the capital 
resources that were used to fund it and those that remain available to fund 
future investment. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the draft outturn for the capital programme for 2021/22, be noted; 

 
2. That the draft outturn position for 2021/22, on capital resources, and 

the balance available to be carried forward into 2022/23, be noted; 
 
3. That the General Assembly of the Council be recommended to carry 

forward the total capital budget into 2022/23, as set out in Appendix C 
to the report; and 

 
4. That the outturn position on the Capital Prudential Indicators, as shown 

in Appendix D to the report, be noted. 
 
 

38. ANNUAL TREASURY REPORT 2021/22  
 
The Head of Finance introduced a report which informed Members of the 
outturn position (subject to audit) of the Council’s investments and borrowing 
for the 2021/2022 financial year and of the outturn position of the Council’s 
treasury indicators. He highlighted the challenging economic situation in the 
wake of Covid recovery and unexpected global events such as the war in 
Ukraine. The Council continued to pay-off the HRA debt incurred when it 
purchased its housing stock and had paid off a further £9.4m during the year, 
in accordance with the debt repayment schedule at fixed, pre-determined 
rates of interest. Investment income had also been higher than expected at 

Page 118Agenda Item 14



CABINET 
THURSDAY 21 JULY 2022 

 

7

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

£2.9m (rather than the £2.65m estimate). One treasury indicator had been 
exceded but was not an issue for concern. 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance commended the Council’s treasury 
management and said that the Council had now repaid more than half of the 
£90m loan that it had taken out ten years ago to acquire the housing stock. 
The Council was benefitting from a fixed schedule of repayments and interest 
rates. The Council’s investments represented a balanced portfolio, with 
around half being cash and half in pooled funds (stocks and shares). 
Previously income from pooled funds had been good but this was now being 
impacted by rising interest rates and the balance of income from investment 
was likely to change as a result.   
  
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That Members note the outturn for the Council’s treasury management 

operations for 2021/2022, as detailed in the report; and 
 
2. That Members note the outturn for the Council’s treasury indicators, as 

detailed in section 3.11 of the report. 
 

39. REVENUE BUDGET 2022/23 MONITORING  
 
The Head of Finance presented a report which updated the Cabinet on 
financial performance against the 2022/23 budget to date for the General 
Fund and Housing Revenue Account. He noted that there continued to be 
pressure on the budget for temporary accommodation and that the position on 
business rates appeared to be worsening, but that it was still early in the 
financial year and that there was still expected to be a business rate re-set at 
some point. 
 
The Chairman noted that the number of drivers applying to renew private hire 
and hackney carriage licences had not yet returned to pre-pandemic levels 
and wondered whether some thought could be given to ways that the Council 
could help to address this. He also asked for officers to look at the operation 
of the Priory Centre car park as Members were receiving reports of 
mismanagement and over-zealous parking enforcement.  
 

RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the monitoring update, for the General Fund and Housing Revenue 

Account, at Appendix A to the report, be noted; and 
 
2. That key general fund income streams, at Appendix B to the report, be 
noted. 
 

40. CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2022/23  
 
The Head of Finance presented an update on the progress to date on the 
schemes in the approved Capital Programme and the latest position on 

Page 119 Agenda Item 14



CABINET 
THURSDAY 21 JULY 2022 

8

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

capital resources. The General Assembly of the Council on 25 July 2022 
would be asked to agree an additional £2.2M budget for the Westgate and 
former Co-Op site following the Cabinet’s recommendation at its meeting on 
26 May 2022 [Min No. 9]. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet notes the progress made to date on the 2022/23 
Capital Programme, and the budget and resources detailed in  
Appendices A and B to the report. 
 

41. ACTION TAKEN UNDER STANDING ORDER 38 - LEASE OF LAND AT 
STONE LODGE  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which detailed delegated action taken under 
Standing Order 38(2)(a) by the Director of Growth & Community, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, relating to the lease of a small area 
of land at Stone Lodge.  The land would be used to deliver improved Open 
Space provision related to the housing development which will be delivered 
on the residual land left following the provision of a range of community 
facilities for leisure, recreation and education. 
 
The Director of Growth & Community provided clarification of the reason for 
leasing the land rather than taking a commuted sum. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet notes the action taken by the Director of Growth & Community, 
in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, under Standing Order 38(2)(a), 
relating to the lease of a small area of land at Stone Lodge to be used to 
deliver improved Open Space provision related to the housing development 
which will be delivered on the residual land left following the provision of a 
range of community facilities for leisure, recreation and education. 
 
 

The meeting closed at 8.04 pm 
 

  
 
 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
CHAIRMAN 

Page 120Agenda Item 14


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	11 Living Wage Foundation and Cost of Living Mid-Year Pay Increase
	12 Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2021-22
	Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2021-22
	Appendix A
	SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22
	Not applicable.
	BACKGROUND PAPERS

	Appendix A - Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2021-22
	SCRUTINY
	COMMITTEE
	Draft Annual Report 2021-22
	WORK PROGRAMME REVIEW 2021-22

	Appendix B - Scrutiny Committee Protocol
	SCRUTINY COMMITTEE PROTOCOL
	Appendix B
	A ‘local government matter’ is defined as a matter which relates to the discharge of any function of the authority, affects all or part of the electoral area for which the Member is elected or any person who lives or works in that area and is not an ‘excluded matter’

	Appendix C Scrutiny Terms of Reference 2022
	[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference]
	Membership: 	Councillors A E D Barham, E H Ben Moussa, J Burrell,
	S P Butterfill, R M Currans, P Cutler, L H K Edie, A Gaskin,
	B Garden, G R Holt , V Oguntope, M B Kelly,
	A J Oakley-Dow, E E Palmer, D J Reynolds, A S Sandhu MBE and Mrs R F Storey.



	13 Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee Annual Report 2021-22
	Crime & Disorder Annual Report to July meeting
	Appendix A
	CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2021-22
	Appendix B: Committee Terms of Reference (May 2022)
	Appendix C: Terms of Reference for the Dartford Community Safety Partnership (January 2021)
	Appendix D: Committee Protocol (July 2021)
	BACKGROUND PAPERS

	Appendix A Draft Annual C&D Report
	crime & disorder (O & S)        Committee
	Draft Annual Report 2021-22 Municipal Year
	CRIME & DISORDER (O&S) COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME

	AppendixB Revised Crime and Disorder Committee Terms of Reference June2021
	[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference]
	Membership: 	Councillors E H Ben Moussa, B Garden, K J Grehan, P Harman, M B Kelly, J A Ozog, E E Palmer and D J Reynolds

	[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference]

	Appendix C Crime and Disorder OS Committee Protoco l2 July 2021
	Appendix D Dartford CSP Memorandum of Understanding April 2021
	MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE AND THE DARTFORD COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP


	14 Reserved Minutes
	Minutes


